Are Housing Prices Reaching its Peak?

- A Study on the housing market in Stockholm



Master's Thesis

Program: M.Sc. in Finance & Strategic Management

Authors: Peter Adamsson & Jacob Lindh

Supervisor: Finn Østrup

Number of pages: 120 (excluding references and appendix)

Number of characters: 260,803 (including spacing)

Hand in date: 1st of June, 2016

Copenhagen Business School 2016

Abstract

During recent years there have been many debates concerning the housing market in Sweden, and many sources claim that there may be a housing bubble. This thesis will be limited to looking at the price development of the housing market in Stockholm, as housing prices in Stockholm have increased at a faster rate than any other city in Sweden, and housing prices are by far the most expensive in the country. The aim of the thesis is twofold. The first aim is to discuss whether the housing market in Stockholm is overvalued. The second aim is to discuss whether the price development of the housing market is sustainable in the long run. By discussing and analyzing fundamental demand and supply factors (that are major driving forces behind housing price developments) the thesis provides an understanding as to why the housing prices in Stockholm have had such high growth rates; and aids in answering the aims. The findings suggest that the housing market has developed into extremely generous conditions, which has allowed for prices to naturally appreciate. Furthermore, there are factors that suggest that the housing market in Stockholm is indeed overvalued as housing prices may have exceeded the value of the underlying fundamentals. The findings also suggest that fundamental factors are likely to change in the future in a way that will contribute to reduced pressure on housing prices. In other words, it is highly unlikely that the housing market can become even more generous, or even remain at its current state, that would allow for further housing price increases. Therefore, the thesis concludes that the price development of the housing market is not sustainable in the long run.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	
1.1 Background	4
1.2 Problem	6
1.3 Chosen Fundamental Factors	7
1.4 Purpose	8
1.5 Research Questions:	8
1.6 For Whom would this Thesis be Interesting?	8
1.7 Limitations	9
1.8 Critique on Literature	9
1.9 Critique on Measures	
1.10 Lack of Data	
1.11 Agenda	
2. Literature Review	
2.1 Housing Market Trends	
2.2 The Nature of Housing	
2.3 Underlying Demand and Supply Factors	
2.3.1 Demand Factors	
2.3.2 Supply Factors	
2.4 Measures for Evaluating Housing	
2.4.1 The User Cost of Housing	
2.4.2 Price-to-Income Ratio	
2.5 The U.S Housing Bubble	
3. The Price Development in Stockholm	
4. Housing Prices and Disposable Income	
5. User Cost of Housing	
5.1 Regulatory Environment Developments	44
5.1.1 The Abolishment of the Yearly State Real Estate Taxation	
5.1.2 Impact of the Tax Change for Owners of Houses	
5.1.3 Impact of the Tax Change for Tenant-Owned Apartments	47
5.1.4 The Increased Capital Gain Tax on Housing Sales	
5.1.5 The Impact of the Capital Gain Tax on a Housing Sale	

5.1.6 The Tax Change Effect on Demand and Supply for Housing	
5.2 Expectations on Future Housing Prices	
5.3 Mortgage Rates	55
5.3.1 The Cost of Capital and Demand for Mortgages	61
5.4 A Simplified User Cost of Housing Model	61
6. Credit Market Developments	65
6.1 The Development of the Swedish Mortgage Market	65
6.1.1 Introducing a New Maximum Loan-to-Value Ratio	66
6.1.2 Factors That May Contribute to the Rising Mortgage Debts	67
6.1.3 The Features of Swedish Mortgage Contracts	68
6.1.4 The Intention to Implement Amortization Requirements on New Mortgage Loans	s69
6.1.5 The Effect of the Amortization Requirement for a Potential Housing Buyer	70
6.1.6 The Effect of the Amortization Requirement on the Housing Market	71
6.2 Household Debt and Disposable Income	72
7. Demographics	76
8. The Supply Side of Housing	83
8.1 The Rental Markets	84
8.1.1 The First-Hand Rental Market	84
8.1.2 The Second-Hand Rental Market	86
8.2 The Market for Supply of New Housing	90
8.2.1 The Construction Industry and it's Building Capacity	92
8.2.2 The Regulatory Environment for Housing Construction	92
8.2.3 Production Costs	93
8.3 The Supply within Stockholm's Existing Housing Stock	97
9. Summaries and Conclusions	101
9.1 Summaries	101
9.1.1 The Price Development in Stockholm	101
9.1.2 Housing Prices and Disposable Income	102
9.1.3 Regulatory Environment Developments	102
9.1.4 Expectations on Future Housing Prices	103
9.1.5 Mortgage Rates	104
9.1.6 A Simplified User Cost of Housing Model	105
9.1.7 Credit Market Developments	105

9.1.8 Demographics	107
9.1.9 The Supply Side of Housing	
9.2 Is the Market Overvalued and/or Sustainable in the Long Run?	110
9.2.1 Discussing the Fundamental Factors	111
9.2.2 Indicative Measures of Housing Prices	116
10. Conclusion	118
References	120
Appendix 1	
Appendix 2	

1. Introduction

In December 2007 a recession began, which ultimately led to the most dangerous global financial crisis since the great depression. The general consensus is that the primary cause of the financial crisis was a result of the bursting of the housing bubble in the U.S, leading to a credit crisis, which spread across the world (Holt, 2009). Since then there has been much debate concerning housing bubbles, and what can be done to mitigate future housing bubble bursts. Unfortunately there is still no exact science to detect housing bubbles, and it is generally difficult to discern whether housing prices are based on fundamental factors (and are fairly priced), or that other means have caused housing prices to inflate beyond their fundamental value; and thereby determine whether a housing boom will turn into a bust (Burnside, Eichenbaum, & Rebelo, 2011).

The housing market is considered to be an essential sector of the economy. It is a vital component of the economic growth of a country, and the consumption of housing and related expenses are major drivers of aggregate demand (Bezemer, 2013). In fact, in each economy, the biggest asset market is the market for housing and land (Bezemer, 2013). As mortgage lending constitutes a large part of banks portfolios, the value of housing assets is considered critical for financial market stability (Bezemer, 2013). A well-functioning housing market can induce labor mobility, wealth accumulation, mitigate macroeconomic volatility, and help economies adjust to adverse shocks. Even if a housing bust does not have a large impact on the financial stability, it can still lead to recessions and generate more unemployment than normal recessions (Bezemer, 2013). In short, a stable housing market is essential for the well-being of a country's economy.

1.1 Background

The Swedish housing prices have been rising during a long period and are currently rising more rapidly than ever. The housing prices reached bottom in early 1995 due to the Swedish bank and property crisis (Frisell & Yazdi, 2010). Since then, the housing prices in Sweden have experienced significantly increasing price appreciation. While many other countries saw their housing markets fall

dramatically during the financial crisis in 2008 (for instance Denmark, Ireland, Spain, United States), the Swedish housing prices dropped only slightly before continuing upwards with great speed.

The price increases have generally been larger in the bigger cities such as Stockholm, Göteborg and Malmö. These prices have increased at an alarmingly high rate the past years, which has led to much debate in newspapers and other forums. The debates are about housing prices and the concerns for a housing bubble, and debates are today hotter than ever (April 2016), where new newspaper articles are reported frequently. Since the banking crisis in Sweden, the housing prices in Stockholm have consistently increased at a faster rate than any other city in Sweden (Ekonomifakta, 2015). Therefore, if there is an eventual house bubble that goes bust in Sweden, Stockholm is likely to be hit the hardest.

Swedish institutions and authorities have conducted and ordered reports with the concern of high and rapidly rising housing prices in focus. The National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2010) argued already in 2010 that Sweden is experiencing a housing bubble. The report points to the large increase in the prices of housing combined with large and growing household debt. On an international basis, The Economist suggested in 2010 that the Swedish housing prices were overpriced by 41.5% ("Floor to ceiling", 2010, Oct. 21). A year later, in 2011, prices started to drop slightly. This dip in prices was only temporary, and housing prices has increased significantly since then.

Finanspolitiska Rådet (The Swedish Fiscal Policy Council) invited Peter Birch Sørensen, at the University of Copenhagen, to conduct a report on the recent trends and risks in the Swedish housing market. His report was published in March 2013 and he concludes that the Swedish housing prices may be slightly overvalued (Sørensen, 2013). In December 2013, Robert Shiller, who foresaw the housing bubble in USA, was in Stockholm to collect his Nobel memorial prize in Economics, and warned that the Swedish housing prices have disconnected from their fair value. He commented the Swedish housing market in the following way: "I think there has been a change in public thinking that is driving a temporary increase in home prices", "the change in thinking of housing as an investment" and "they think there is more value here than it really is" ("Robert Shiller Warns", 2013, Dec. 9).

The discussion about a potential housing bubble has continued along with increasing housing prices and increasing household debt. On the 23rd of September 2014, the vice director of *Sveriges Riksbank* (the Swedish Central Bank) Karolina Ekholm, warned that households may be driven to indebt

themselves too largely, related to the high prices of housing. Ekholm says: "I think that, as the prices are in the center of Stockholm for instance, I believe that there are households in certain segments that may be driven to indebt themselves pretty hard", "I think that it is worse in the larger cities", and "It is important to do something in order to dampen this development" ("Riksbanken varnar", 2014, Sep. 23). Furthermore, in August 2014, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) conducted a report that the accelerating housing prices in combination with high and increasing private debt contribute to rising concern for the financial stability in Sweden (International Monetary Fund, 2014).

Even though there are many sources claiming that the housing market in Stockholm is in fact a housing bubble, there are other sources that claim this is not so. Instead, they argue that the constant increase of price is supported by fundamental factors and is thus at a fair price. The former vice director of the Swedish Central Bank, Lars E.O Svensson, said in November 2012: "All information and analysis indicates that the housing prices are supported by fundamentals. It is an extreme pressure on the housing prices in Stockholm, little new construction, people move in, many want to live in the center and so forth", and "Then it will be understood that it is people with sufficient financial resources that can afford to buy. It is not so that people buy housing that they cannot afford to live in" ("Stockholms husägare", 2012, Nov. 14).

In February 2010, the Swedish Central Bank requested a report that would evaluate the risks of the Swedish housing market (Swedish Central Bank, 2011). The conclusion of the report was that the high housing prices to a large degree could be explained by fundamental factors, that is to say, factors that can explain the price increase of housing. However, the report highlights that one should be careful with these kinds of judgments.

1.2 Problem

It has been several years since the first warnings concerning a housing bubble in Sweden (and Stockholm), and despite this the housing prices have continued to increase at a remarkable rate, and are today at an all-time high. Stockholm is the region within Sweden where housing prices have increased the most (and prices in nominal amounts are the highest). As housing prices have continued to increase, the debates concerning a housing bubble have become more and more common. Given

these current hot debates, we find the topic very interesting to address. However, due to the large amount of research done on whether or not Stockholm's housing market is a bubble (as shown, there are parties arguing for both sides), this thesis will not primarily attempt to answer this question as we do not believe we can contribute to new valuable insights in the matter. Instead, we intend to provide an understanding of why the housing market in Stockholm has developed to what it is today, and eventually discuss whether there is reason to believe whether the housing market may have deviated from its fundamental value.

In order to shed light on the development on Stockholm's housing prices, we intend to discuss *fundamental factors* that impact the supply and demand side for housing. In order to determine which factors are "fundamental" drivers of the housing market, and thereby choosing the factors to discuss, we will make use of secondary sources (previous publications) that have consistently argued for which factors are the most fundamental. These fundamental factors are deemed "fundamental" in that it can be applied to all housing markets around the world. In Section 2 we will provide a literature review which is the benchmark for choosing the fundamental factors that will be analyzed throughout the thesis.

1.3 Chosen Fundamental Factors

The fundamental factors we intend to analyze that are underlying to the price development of housing in Stockholm are:

- Housing prices in relation to households' disposable income
- User costs of housing
 - Development of property tax regulations
 - Expectations of future housing prices
 - Mortgage rate development including tax deductibility on interest.
- The development of the credit market and household debt
 - Household debt in relation to households' disposable income
- Demographics
- Supply of housing

- The rental market
- New construction of housing
- Existing housing stock

We have chosen these factors largely based on the literature review that will be provided in Section 2. Also, through own investigation of the housing market in Stockholm we have deemed that these are the most essential. We do not claim that these are the only factors that drive the housing prices, but limitations have been made to restrict the scope for this thesis.

1.4 Purpose

The purpose of this thesis is to shed light on the dynamics of the housing market in Stockholm, and to analyze driving forces behind the price development (i.e. analyze fundamental factors that impact the demand and supply side of housing and thus drive the price development of the housing market in Stockholm). Furthermore we intend to discuss the current situation in Stockholm as a consequence of the fundamental factors, and why the situation may be precarious.

<u>1.5 Research Questions:</u>

To further develop the purpose of this thesis, we will attempt to answer two research questions:

- 1. Is the housing market in Stockholm overvalued?
- 2. Is the price development of the housing market in Stockholm sustainable in the long run?

1.6 For Whom would this Thesis be Interesting?

We hope that this thesis is of interest to a variety of individuals, regulators, banks and institutions. Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004) have argued that an understanding of how housing prices behave is of crucial importance to central banks as their role is to not only maintain price stability, but also to strive for financial stability. Furthermore, as banks are providing financing to housing buyers that continually buy homes for higher prices, banks may find this thesis interesting. Above all, we believe

that individuals that are interested in purchasing a home in Stockholm may find this thesis valuable, as well as those that are interested in the Swedish (and in particular Stockholm) housing market in general.

1.7 Limitations

The thesis has various limitations that need to be reflected. The study is limited to Stockholm (inner and outer regions) in Sweden, where the housing prices have increased significantly over the last two decades. The housing market will be investigating both houses and tenant-owned apartments. The timespan of housing prices that we will investigate is between year 1986-present. Furthermore, we will primarily be looking at the market from potential buyers and homeowner's perspectives, and therefore there will be less focus on the effects of the housing market for banks and credit institutions. Consequently, when we refer to "homeowners" throughout the thesis we refer to them as either an owner of a house or an apartment. When referring to the "housing market" we include both houses and apartments.

Data is scarce on the micro-level, and we are not able to acquire numbers to make statistical regressions. However, since there already are numerous studies both arguing for and against a housing bubble, we do not find any additional value by making a similar study using regressions. Also, any error in numbers (or lack of) that are used can alter the results vastly. What we are aiming for is to create an *understanding* for anybody reading this thesis by discussing the factors, so that vast knowledge about economic terms and statistics is not required for the reader.

The current housing market is a *combination* of several factors and it is therefore difficult to determine to what extent *each* factor affects the housing market as a whole. We can determine that a certain factor affects "more" or "less", but not give it any concrete answer to its effect in term of ratings or numbers.

<u>1.8 Critique on Literature</u>

A majority of the literature on housing booms has been written about the U.S market, and may therefore be bias toward U.S market characteristics. Although factors that are considered "fundamental" are similar across all countries, some factors may be more or less local and have different varieties of impact depending on the country's situation. There have been several studies made for the Swedish housing market as well; however these studies are on a national level, and thereby use aggregate data for the entire country. They do not cover data across different regions of Sweden, and do therefore not account for eventual differences across regions within the country.

Analyzing fundamental factors is not entirely straight forward as various factors that potentially affect the housing price development may be left out, as they may not be considered as "fundamental". An apparent issue with a quantitative analysis is that the offered results depend on the factors that have been used in the model, and thereby miss other potentially important factor. This raises the question of how to analyze a housing market based on fundamentals. It has historically been proven difficult to point out the sufficient set of fundamentals behind a real housing development, and to what extent changes in fundamentals can explain housing prices; especially since any housing market is local in character. For instance, Case (1986) analyzed the housing price development in Boston (U.S), and found that (based on the fundamental factors that had been quantitatively analyzed) the real housing prices should have increased by 15% between years 1983 to 1988. In reality, prices increased by 140% during this period.

<u>1.9 Critique on Measures</u>

Aggregated data of debt levels is limited in its ability to generate definite conclusions, and data of debt on individual level does not exist. We believe that it is more important to know how big part of the households that have "too much debt". Moreover, average disposable income level does not say much. We are reluctant to the use of aggregated data as some people may be extremely rich while others may lack financial resources. For instance, using an average of monthly income, without accounting for potential wealth or lack of wealth people have may make results deviate from reality. Those few percentages that have very high levels of income will skew average levels upward. Therefore, in some cases we believe making use of median values gives a more realistic picture.

1.10 Lack of Data

Data for price development of apartments is not available before 2005. There is no data on individuals' wealth after 2007 when the wealth taxation was abolished. Mortgage rates are not available for from all financial institutions that provide mortgage loans for the timespan that we wish to investigate, so we will make use of the mortgage loans from one of the largest banks in Sweden. We recognize that the mortgage rates from other financial institutions may differ slightly. Furthermore, there is only aggregated data on debt. Aggregated data of debt is not very useful as debt varies among individuals. Also, it is difficult to find data specific to Stockholm as most data is made on a national level.

The homeowners may have differences in wealth and amounts of debt that may impact how likely they are to be affected by ups and downs in the housing market. A significant drawback is that there is no data available of households' assets. Such information would be of benefit when one studies the housing market in Stockholm and provide the study with additional aspects.

In some cases, data is lacking for the timespan that we wish to investigate (may only be available for a limited number of years). To fill in these gaps, we will sometimes have to make certain assumptions to account for the missing data. Naturally, we will base these assumptions on rational and logical reasoning.

<u>1.11 Agenda</u>

Section 2 will provide a literature review on previous studies that have been done across several housing markets. Thereby, factors that are fundamental drivers for housing market developments will be discussed. This becomes the foundation for the fundamental factors that we discuss throughout the thesis. Finally a broad overview will be provided for the literature concerning the housing bubble that burst in the United States (that later instigated the global financial crisis).

Section 3 will discuss the development of housing prices in Stockholm, in comparison to Sweden, since 1986. Inflation-adjusted prices for both apartments and houses will be provided. The data will

show tremendous growth of real housing prices the last 20 years. The data on the price development of housing prices becomes the foundation for analyzing our fundamental factors throughout the thesis.

Section 4 will discuss how the housing prices have moved in relation to disposable income in Stockholm. This provides an "affordability" measure of the households' wealth in relation to housing prices. It also serves as an indicator as to whether housing prices are fairly priced or too high (too low).

Section 5 will discuss three fundamental factors in detail that are components of the user cost of housing for a homeowner (See Section 2.4.1 for a definition of user cost of housing). These factors are: Regulatory environment (taxes), Expectations on future housing prices, and Mortgage rates. At the end of the section we will combine the three factors mentioned to illustrate a simplified user cost model.

Section 6 will discuss the development of the Credit Market in Sweden. This will provide an overall picture of how the credit market is constructed (borrowing practices and regulations, and mortgage contract regulations) and how borrowing has developed over time. We will also be looking at the development of mortgage debt in relation to disposable income.

Section 7 will discuss the impact the demographic has had in Stockholm. We will show the population growth over time, as well as define the different categories of the demographic that contribute to the population growth. Different categories may have different impact on the aggregate demand of housing.

Section 8 will discuss the supply side of the housing markets. We will separate the supply market into three distinct categories: The rental market, the market for new supply (construction), and the supply within the existing housing stock.

Section 9 will consist of summaries of sections 3-8, which will provide a broad summary of the fundamental factors that have been discussed throughout the thesis. Thereafter we will analyze the factors and discuss potential future scenarios that may occur (changes in the fundamental factors)

Section 10 will conclude the thesis by answering the two primary research questions.

12

2. Literature Review

The literature review will provide an overview of the nature of the housing market and discuss which factors are "fundamental" in contributing to the demand and supply of the housing market, which ultimately sets the housing prices. The literature review will be divided into different sections. The first section will discuss the trend of housing markets and show that housing prices moves in long cycles of booms and busts. The second section will classify the nature and characteristic of housing. The third section will dive into previous literature about demand and supply factors that are considered fundamental drivers for housing markets. The fourth section will introduce measures for evaluating housing prices which determine whether prices are fair or overvalued (undervalued). The fifth and final section will briefly review literature done on the housing bubble in the United States and the reasons for its collapse.

2.1 Housing Market Trends

Housing markets have, in all international markets, had a long-term increasing trend of housing prices over the last 40 years. According to Englund (2011), the main underlying reasons for this seem to be related to urbanization, population growth, and increasing income levels. Across country studies, a more densely populated area have had housing prices increased at a faster pace than sparsely populated areas. Therefore, Englund (2011) argues that the availability of land as a component of housing prices has tremendous effect.

Although the long-term price trend has been increasing, housing markets move in long-term cycles as there have consistently been booms (crests) and busts (troughs) (Englund, 2011). Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) identify boom and bust phases in the housing market for 18 industrialized countries between years 1971-2007. The study clearly illustrates that real housing prices in all these countries have experienced boom and bust periods. The study was published in 2009 and showed that Swedish housing prices were in a boom from 1997 to 2007 that lasted for 11 years. According to Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) were the housing prices in Sweden above the overall trend by 67% in 2009.

Due to the cyclicality of the housing prices have booms historically been followed by busts. Furthermore, Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) find that there is a strong correlation between the magnitude of a boom and the following busts. In other words, the higher and longer the real prices of housing have increased, the larger is the subsequent fall.

2.2 The Nature of Housing

Owning a home is like owning an asset in various ways, as home ownership can generate income or losses in terms of capital gains or capital losses (Englund, 2011). Accordingly, the price of housing can be seen as the asset price (Goodhart & Hofmann, 2008). In this regard, the price of the asset can be determined by the expected returns on the asset and the discount rate (Englund, 2011). At the same time, an owner of a home may choose to rent the home to a renter. Thus, the renter pays rent to the owner for the right to live in the home. As a renter, the home is therefore a consumer good instead of an asset, since they only pay for the right to live in the home without owning the asset. So, it is important to distinguish that the costs for the service of housing (rental market) and the price of the asset itself (ownership), into two separate markets (Englund, 2011).

The price of the asset may increase if one expects a higher return on the asset or due to a lowered discount rate (Goodhart & Hofmann, 2008). In housing markets where the housing prices have increased rapidly, the expected return on the asset may be particularly important for the price determination as argued by Case (1986), and Case & Shiller (2003). With regards to discount rate, a lower discount rate increases the asset price (Goodhart & Hofmann, 2008). In other words, the price the market is willing to pay depends on the rate of return that a homebuyer requires on her investment (or the cost of funding the home investment) (Englund, 2011). These costs are the capital costs as well as costs to operate or maintain the home - also known as the user cost of housing. We will look closer at user cost of housing in Section: 2.4.1 of the literature review.

When housing prices increase, the current homeowners perceive increased wealth as their assets increase in value. Increases in assets such as housing are also shown to increase the collateral value homeowners have. According to the life-cycle model of household consumption, can the increased asset prices thus lead to more borrowing and increased consumption (Goodhart & Hofmann, 2008).

This may occur because of increased perceived wealth but also due to improved collateral values. When the housing prices increase, the higher housing prices may not only encourage current homeowners to consume and borrow more but higher housing prices also facilitate them to do so as they improve their capacity of borrowing through improved collateral values (Goodhart & Hofmann, 2008).

Despite increasing housing prices, some authors have shown that increasing asset prices can boost the demand for the assets further. The increased demand for the asset has in general been suggested to be largely driven by the expectations on further asset price increases. Shiller (2008) has pointed to various potential explanations of this, mostly pointing to psychological factors that impact people in terms of speculation and herd behavior. Because of future expectations being a significant determinant of the asset price, the market cannot reach a natural equilibrium; as higher prices do not naturally indicate a lowering of demand, but instead is dependent on the future price development. Therefore, it is difficult to determine the fair value of a home (Bezemer, 2013). Booms and busts in housing markets is a natural consequence of the future expectations that Shiller (2008) pointed out. During good times, when future prices are expected to increase, people are more willing to buy which accelerates the boom. During bad times, when future prices are expected to decrease, people become less willing to buy which accelerates the bust (Bezemer, 2013).

2.3 Underlying Demand and Supply Factors

As in any other market are housing prices determined by the interaction of demand and supply (Case, 1986). Some factors impact the demand for housing and other factors impact the supply of housing. We will be reviewing the literature of underlying fundamental factors that impact the demand and supply for housing within a country separately.

2.3.1 Demand Factors

The demand for housing depends on a number of factors. In general is demand for housing dependent on the number of potential buyers and their willingness (and ability) to pay. In this regard, it is important to think of housing demanders in two ways, as consumers of housing services and as investors looking for a good return on their investment (Case, 1986). With regards to the price development of housing in various countries, Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004) point out a number of factors that influence the demand for housing within a country in the long run. In their multi-cross country study, these longer-term factors for demand are growth in households' real disposable income, changes in demographics, permanent changes in the features of the tax system related to home ownership, and the level of mortgage rates. As we review in depth in the following sections, these factors are commonly pointed out in the literature as having an impact on demand and are frequently used when economists analyze housing prices and their development. Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004) also point out that the prevailing conditions in a country's credit market for housing purchases influences the demand for housing and the price level. Housing, in terms of an apartment or a house is usually the largest asset households buy. Therefore, housing buyers usually need to obtain a mortgage loan in order to buy housing. As a consequence, the demand for housing within a country can depend significantly on the availability of credit, the cost of credit and the flexibility of credit (Tsatsaronis & Zhu, 2004). These credit-related factors can drive fluctuations in housing demand and thus play a key role for the development in the housing prices. In addition, Case & Shiller (2003) has argued that high expectations on future housing prices can increase the demand for housing substantially. These abovementioned factors are commonly re-occurring in the literature as factors that have an impact on the demand for housing. We will now review the abovementioned fundamental factors that drive demand in more detail.

Interest and Mortgage rates

A number of OECD countries have experienced a low interest rate environment that has concurred with rapid increases in housing prices (Sá, Towbin, & Wieladek, 2011). Some authors have argued that an expansionary monetary policy with a consequential low interest rate environment is to blame for a subsequent housing boom (see for instance Hume & Sentence (2009); and Taylor (2009)). Such an expansionary monetary policy with lower policy rates by central banks has been suggested to be an important factor for the creation of asset price booms with rapidly increasing real housing prices. For instance, Goodhart & Hofmann (2008) suggest that there is evidence of a link between monetary variables and asset prices, particularly in times of asset price booms. For a review of the importance of monetary policies in relation to asset prices, see for instance Gerdesmeier, Reimers, & Roffia (2009);

Bordo & Jeanne (2002); and Borio & Lowe (2002), who look at the relationship between asset price booms and busts and their relation with monetary policies.

In a cross-country study, Sá et al. (2011) find that monetary policies that cut the policy interest rates can have a significant and positive effect on real housing prices. Their findings suggest that such monetary policies have relatively larger effects on real housing prices in countries where the country's banking sector is highly competitive and less regulated. Similar to Calza, Monacelli, & Stracca (2009) and Assenmacher-Wesche & Gerlach (2009), Sá et al. (2011) conclude that monetary policy effects have relatively larger effects on the housing prices in countries where the mortgage market is more developed. In this regard, the effects of a repo rate cut should be reflected in relatively higher housing prices in more developed mortgage markets than in less developed mortgage markets. In general, the literature seems to suggest that the central banks have an important impact on asset prices (such as housing) as they set the country's policy rate. The policy rate generally influences the mortgage rates, and through its influence on the mortgage rate it may have substantial effect on the housing prices.

A number of studies indicate that the interest rate on mortgages, the mortgage rate, may be one of the most important factors for the housing prices. Standard theory claims that lower interest rates should increase the value of housing and other long-lived assets (Kuttner, 2012). In this regard, the interest rate is one of the economic fundamentals underlying housing prices (Kuttner, 2012). The costs homeowners and potential housing buyers face for their housing depends significantly on the interest rates on the housing mortgages since most homeowner and housing buyers use mortgages to finance a housing purchase (Englund, 2011). The mortgage rate hence determines the cost for mortgage loans and is therefore important for the amount one can borrow, but also is willing to borrow. A decreasing mortgage rate increases the value of the discounted future user costs and improves households' debt capacity, which increases the demand for mortgages and subsequently housing (Sá et al., 2011). Put in other words, a lower mortgage rate makes credit cheaper and increases the demand for mortgages and housing which can fuel the housing prices.

Studies also show that low mortgage rates may induce households to borrow more money than they otherwise would. According to Sá et al. (2011) are households in highly developed mortgage markets able to use a larger fraction of the housing as collateral, which generally can result in a higher

leverage for a household and thus amplify the effect a decreasing mortgage rate has on housing prices in such mortgage markets.

Property Taxes

Many economists have analyzed taxation in relation to housing prices as taxes and the tax system can have significant implications for the housing price development. Common tax related aspects in the literature for the housing market are the yearly real estate taxation, the capital gain taxation and the tax deductibility of interest payments. Other taxes found in the literature that are suggested to impact a housing price development have been suggested to be changing wealth and income taxation. Svensson (2013) looked at the effects on housing prices that changing wealth and income taxation have along with permanent changes in the effective property tax, the capital gain tax and the tax deductibility on mortgage interest payments. In general, van den Noord (2005) finds that a change to a more advantageous tax treatment of home ownership can increase the housing price volatility.

Higher yearly real estate taxation relative to smaller yearly real estate taxation imply that it becomes less affordable to own housing, *ceteris paribus*. In contrast, decreasing yearly real estate taxation implies that there are stronger incentives to buy and invest in housing (van den Noord, 2005). A decreased yearly real estate tax on housing is reflected in a lower user cost of capital, which generally boosts the demand for housing, but may also affect how much households can afford to pay for housing. Crowe, Dell'Ariccia, Igan, & Rabanal (2011) have suggested that a change to higher property taxation can help limiting rapid housing price increases.

Taxes related to housing are usually collected, as capital gains on housing sales are usually taxed. The relation between the capital gain tax and its influence on housing price growth is however not obvious. Fuest, Huber, & Nielsen (2004) has expressed the view that higher transaction taxes and capital gain taxes on real estate may reduce large swings in housing prices by reducing the incentives of short-term speculation. In contrast, Englund (1986) suggest that higher capital gain taxes on housing may instead be counterproductive to the purpose of stabilizing housing prices, as larger capital gain taxes may make homeowners more reluctant to sell their housing and thus create "lock-in" effects for existing homeowners. With such "lock-in" effects, the homeowners become more reluctant to sell, and the supply of existing housing diminishes which consequently can boost housing prices.

The arguments put forth by Englund (1986) is in line with the recent research provided by Aregger, Brown, & Rossi (2013) who find support for the existence of lock-in effects in the Swiss housing market due to capital gain taxation. The empirical relationship between the level of capital gain taxes and housing prices is ambiguous which Crowe et al. (2011) also recognizes.

Interest payments on mortgage loans are commonly tax deductible to a certain degree. Gervais & Pandey (2008) suggest that many households would repay more mortgage debt if the mortgage interest were no longer tax deductible. In this regard, the ability to deduct interest payments may incentivize households to carry more debt than they otherwise would and therefore be able to pay larger amounts for housing. Crowe et al. (2011) have for instance argued that tax deductibility of mortgage interest payments encourages leveraged housing purchases, and that a reduction of the deductibility could reduce housing prices.

Expectations on Future Housing Prices

What happens in a housing market also depends on the behavior and attitudes of many participants (Case, Shiller, & Thompson, 2012). In this regard can the expectations people have on the future housing prices be of significant importance for the housing prices and the housing price development. Surveys conducted by Case & Shiller (1988, 2003) based on recent housing buyers' expectations show that the expectations on future housing prices appear to be extrapolative. That is, when the housing prices have increased in recent years, housing buyers tend to expect that the previous price development will continue. The surveys conducted by Case & Shiller (1988, 2003) also indicate that many recent housing buyers in booming housing markets expect the housing price development to continue at what may be referred to as "unrealistically high growth rates". Such (overly) optimistic expectations among many recent housing buyers seem to be particularly apparent in rapidly booming housing markets (Case & Shiller, 1988, 2003).

Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) stress the importance of the duration of a boom and suggest that people have a larger tendency to expect rising housing prices in housing markets that have experienced increasing real housing prices during a long period of time. The authors imply that increasing real housing prices above the historical trend for many years may encourage homeowners, potential home buyers and the lenders of mortgages to expect the price development as stable and driven by

fundamentals. Similarly, in relation to housing markets where housing prices have increased during a long time, Case & Shiller (2003) argue that the demand for housing can increase due to outspread speculative behavior where housing buyers generally have high expectations of future housing price increases and capital gains. These are some reasons why (overly) optimistic expectations are strongly correlated with the mentioning of "bubbles". The standard definitions of "bubbles" usually stress that a bubble exists when the asset price, in this case the housing price, differs from the fundamental value as a consequence of overly optimistic expectations on future price or capital gains (see for instance the definition of an asset bubble by Stiglitz (1990, p.13)).

Unrealistic (or overly optimistic) expectations on future appreciation rates in the housing market can induce housing buyers to pay more for the housing than they normally would consider in expectation of future price increases or capital gains (Case & Shiller, 2003). According to Case & Shiller (2003) is such an investment motive an essential feature of what drives a housing bubble but also distracts attention from how much one actually pays for the housing service. High expectations may also form a state of panic in which for instance first-time homebuyers feel the need to buy now as they will not be able to afford a home later. Case & Shiller's (2003) bubble theory suggests in general that the subsequent optimism (or panic) for future higher housing prices drive up the housing prices, which reinforces the belief that the housing prices will continue up and encourage housing buyers and investors to bid up the housing prices even further. This phenomenon is precarious, as extrapolative expectations have a tendency of becoming self-fulfilling, which can exacerbate the deviation of housing prices from the underlying fundamentals (Englund, 2011). In essence, high expectations will largely impact the demand if people believe that prices are unlikely to fall, and there is therefore little perceived risk with investing in a home. Furthermore, Holt (2009) says that "irrational exuberance" played a key role in inflating the U.S housing bubble. Shiller (n.d.) defines "irrational exuberance" as "a heightened state of speculative fervor". Holt (2009) argues that all participants in the U.S market "acted on the assumption that home prices would continue to rise".

A widespread optimism of higher future housing prices can also attract additional buyers and speculators with investment motives and expectations of high capital gains. Speculation in the housing market occurs when investors intend to purchase land or real estate in anticipation that there will be a profitable opportunity in the future (Malpezzi & Wachter, 2002). Furthermore, speculation is more

likely to occur when housing markets have experienced long price increases, as expectations on future increase in price is extrapolative. Malpezzi & Wachter (2002) state that speculation can contribute to boom and bust cycles in housing markets. When prices are rising, and are expected to do so in the future, speculators enter the market. This increases demand and reduces supply, contributing to a boom. When prices fall, and are expected to decrease in the future, speculators leave the market. This decreases demand and increases supply, contributing to a bust. Furthermore, the authors claim that the effects of speculation are mostly observed when supply is inelastic.

When the investment motive weakens due to declining expectations of future housing prices, the phenomenon is turned around due to the nature of how extrapolative expectations seem to be formed. A change in public thinking about future housing prices can hence further reduce the housing prices as speculators and investors leave the market while housing buyers become aware that the housing prices can indeed fall (Case, Shiller, & Thompson, 2012).

<u>Income</u>

The importance of income in relation to housing prices is commonly considered in the literature. In this regard, economists frequently analyze the development and the level of real disposable income, the income after taxes. The development in real disposable income has in combination with other factors been used in various studies that intend to analyze the development in housing prices and their sustainability (see for instance Case (1986); Case & Shiller (2003); McCarty & Peach (2004); Coleman, Lacour-Little, & Vandell (2008); and Kennedy & Andersen (1994)). Case & Shiller (2003) and McCarty & Peach (2004) find that growth in real disposable income, in combination with declining real interest rates, can explain a significant part of the rising housing prices on a national level in U.S until 2003, but not thereafter. Similarly, a study on the Swedish housing prices conducted by Frisell & Yazdi (2010) argues that higher disposable income and lower real interest rate from the end of the 1990s until 2010 could explain close to 90% of the price increase that occurred in the Swedish housing market.

The importance of growth in real disposable income and declining interest rates have moreover been shown in cross- and multi-country analyses and have historically been suggested to drive real housing prices (see for instance Kennedy & Andersen (1994), Englund & Ioannides (1997) and Kasparova &

White (2001)). However, the impact the development of real disposable income has on housing prices is indeed ambiguous. Gallin (2003) studied the long-term relationship between housing prices and income on the U.S housing market. He questioned the common view in the housing literature that housing prices are cointegrated with income posed by Abraham & Hendershott (1996); Capozza, Hendershott, Mack, & Mayer (2002); and Meen (2002). According to their view are housing prices and income are suggested to be linked in a long run relationship, and if the housing prices increase more rapidly than household income, the housing prices either need to stagnate or fall. Otherwise, the housing prices would be out of line with the fundamental income. This view is based on the assumption that housing prices and fundamentals are cointegrated (Gallin, 2003). Gallin (2003) finds little evidence for the suggestion that housing prices are tied to the level of income.

The importance of income for housing prices must however be seen in relation to other factors (Case & Shiller, 2003). Case & Shiller (2003) argue that the development in income must be considered in relation to other fundamentals and the housing prices themselves. While it is unclear how and to what degree household income affects housing prices on an aggregate level without taking other factors into account, Gyourko, Mayer, & Sinai (2006) suggest that increasing numbers of households that experience income growth in the right tail of the income distribution can push up housing prices relatively more in highly desirable cities in the US. They note however that these cities also experience supply constraints.

Demographics

Authors claim that demographic factors can affect the aggregated demand of housing (see for instance Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004), Englund (2011), and Sørensen (2013)). Proterba (1991) suggests that demographic factors in terms of the number of households and their characteristics affect the demand for housing and that these demographic factors therefore should affect the housing prices. Proterba (1991) notes, based on the US housing market, that most individuals increase their consumption of housing between the ages of 20-34; and argues therefore that the share of the population within that age group is important to determine the housing demand. Similarly, Englund (2011) implies that a growing population requires more housing units and that housing demand changes with age. Sørensen (2013) and Englund (2011) suggest that people usually move to larger housing when they establish

families with children but typically downsize as they get older. As a consequence of the different stages in the life cycle may therefore a larger portion of younger people relative to older, increase the demand for housing units (Sørensen, 2013). However, as Englund (2011) indicates, the international empirical studies find it hard to recognize a steady relationship between the age structure and housing prices.

In general, a growing population (or a growing number of households) will increase the demand for housing units, but the demographical change within the population may also impact the demand for housing units. The view of Protebra (1991) suggests that housing prices will increase as the aggregated demand for housing units (due to changes in demographics) increases faster than the supply of housing units. With regards to this, a number of studies indicate that rising housing prices also tend to decrease the home ownership rate among young individuals (see for instance Haurin, Hendershott, & Kim (1993) and Ermisch (1999). Even though demographic factors can help to explain real housing prices, Proterba (1991) stresses that the empirical issue is to determine the impact demography has on the housing price variations. Sørensen (2013) suggests that housing prices may however not need to change much if the changes in demographics are predictable. Based on the predictable need of housing units can the construction industry according to him adjust the supply of housing units in time without creating an excessive demand.

<u>Credit Market</u>

A close relationship between the development of housing prices and credit supply has been well established by Borio, Kennedy, & Prowse (1994), and the Bank for International Settlements (2001). Increasing housing prices can on one hand drive up the demand for mortgages as the housing buyers needs to finance higher housing prices with larger mortgages. On the other hand, increased availability of credit can increase the demand for mortgages, which then may spur housing prices to rise. A close relationship between increased mortgage lending and increases in the housing prices have caused some to argue that rising housing prices may be driven by credit. For instance, Adelino, Schoar, & Severino (2012) find that easier supply of credit leads to higher housing prices; while Mian & Sufi (2009) stress that there is a positive relationship between the credit supply and the real housing

prices. According to Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) is a mortgage market deregulation and credit growth strongly associated with a housing boom stage.

Petursdottir (2015) studies the effects changing credit conditions have on real housing prices. According to her findings do the credit conditions in a country affect the housing affordability among households and therefore the housing prices. She focuses on changes in two credit variables - the mortgage rates and the Loan-to-value (LTV) ratio, as both these affect housing affordability. She argues that the mortgage rates are important because they affect the costs of borrowing a mortgage loan, whereas the size of the LTV ratio is important as it affects the amount housing buyers need to pay in down payment for the housing. A higher LTV ratio makes it easier for housing buyers to conduct a down payment and take on more debt, which may be especially important for housing buyers with lower incomes and savings. Petursdottir's (2015) findings suggest that a surge in the LTV ratio has a positive effect on the real housing prices and lower mortgage rates push up the real housing prices. Petursdottir (2015) simulated changes of the credit conditions simultaneously for the LTV ratio and the mortgage rate to a higher level of the LTV ratio and a lower mortgage rate; she finds that one can expect large price increases in the real housing prices. The overall conclusion is that changes in the credit conditions can have large impacts on the housing price development. Petursdottir (2015) also argues that the mortgage rate may not be the most effective tool in order to dampen a housing boom. Instead, Petursdottir (2015) points to regulatory approaches that directly impact the credit availability. These include regulating the LTV ratio and the lending standards as these have a potential to prevent a large unsustainable housing price development.

Pavlov & Wachter (2011) show that aggressive lending instruments like interest only loans, negative amortization loans and loans with low or zero equity can impact housing buyers and increase housing prices temporarily. According to Pavlov & Wachter (2011), some housing buyers can find it attractive to use these lending instruments, as they otherwise may be credit constrained. When reviewing the Danish housing boom in the 2000s, Sørensen (2013) suggests that low yearly cash flow expenses may have been attractive for new housing buyers and important for the rising prices. According to Sørensen (2013), new housing buyers can be willing to pay a higher price for the housing if the cash flows the first years are low with the use of an interest-only loan (amortization-free loan). Sørensen (2013) suggested two reasons to why housing buyers may find lower yearly cash flow expenses

attractive. First, the lower cash flow expenses that interest-only loans or mortgage loans with low amortizations imply may be attractive to some credit constrained housing buyers. Second, housing buyers may not realize, or care, that lower amortizations today will increase total mortgage payments in the future.

Others also suggests that cash flows are important to housing buyers as potential housing buyers commonly have a monthly budget for the housing expenses they can afford. For example, Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004) argue that that the nominal amount of monthly payments homeowners conduct for the home ownership seems to be highly relevant for the "purchase decision and therefore the housing prices". For instance, in their article "What drives housing price dynamics: Cross-country evidence" Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004, p. 74) write:

"A surprising result is that household income has a very small explanatory power over house price movements. Its contribution over the long horizon is less than 10% of total housing price variability. This sharp contrast with the role of interest suggests that purchasing decisions are more sensitive to the nominal amount of monthly payments than to the size of the loan in relation to household income".

The housing prices are also important to the banks that lend out money for housing purchases. When banks provide housing buyers with credit in terms of mortgages, the housing can be used as collateral for the loan (Geanakoplos, 2010). While housing prices are rising, the banks' collateral seems to improve as the perceived value of the housing increases. As many authors have pointed out, a declining interest environment typically increases the demand for housing (Tsatsaronis & Zhu, 2004), while low interest rates can drive a housing boom further as banks may take on more risks (Alessi & Detken, 2009; and Borio & Zhu, 2008). However, if housing prices fall, the fall leads to worse balance sheets for the households and the banks (Kiyotake & Moore, 1997). This is because falling housing prices reduces the collateral value of housing and thus decreases the assets of the households' debt and should thus increase the related market price of risk (Lustig & Van Nieuwerburgh, 2004; and Geanakoplos 2010). The market pricing of risk may be an important aspect for housing buyers that borrow money as it reflects their own financing costs in terms of mortgage

rates (Geanakoplos, 2010). Even if the pricing of risk is beyond the scope of this thesis, it is important to bring up this aspect as the behavior of banks and their lending also impact how housing buyers can behave. For instance, Pavlov & Wachter (2006) argue that banks may underprice the risk of mortgage default in "good times" when lending out, in search for short-term profit. The underpricing of risks in mortgages (the mortgage rate) may have a large impact on how housing buyers behave and thereby the housing prices (Pavlov & Wachter, 2006). For instance, aggressive lending instruments are considered to have increased the housing prices in the U.S market, and are widely acknowledged to have been a major factor for the booming housing market in the U.S before the global financial crisis (Holt, 2009).

2.3.2 Supply Factors

Surprisingly few economists study the supply side of housing but rather focus on the demand side. Even though the dynamics of housing prices are often studied through the demand factors, the supply side has important implications for the dynamics of housing prices (Paciorek, 2013). The supply of housing can generally be divided into rentals and owned housing. According to Muellbauer (2012) can both the rental market and the market for owned housing impact the housing prices since rental housing can function as a substitute for owned housing. In this regard, the functioning of the rental market directly affects the market for owned housing as people may prefer to rent instead of owning or own instead of renting. With regards to the market for owned housing, Proterba (1991) argues that the market for owned housing markets, a market for new housing construction and a market within the existing housing stock.

Case (1986) notes that only a small proportion of the total housing stock is for sale at a specific point in time, and that these sales sets the price on the entire housing market as real estate agents tend to value housing based on previous sales. The sales price of the existing housing stock is according to this view important for builder's decision to build. Consistent with the "Tobin's Q" model of investment should the supply of new housing increase as long as the cost of construction are relatively less than existing housing prices (Shiller, 2008). Tobin's Q is measured by taking the market values of a completed build (the price at which the housing unit is sold on the market), divided by the construction costs (which in this case is the cost to build) (National Board of Housing, Planning and Building, 2015b). According to this view will builders continue to build until the gap between housing prices and construction costs is cut (Shiller, 2008).

A number of factors are generally pointed out to impact the housing supply. Tsatsaronis & Zhu (2004) suggest that the long-term factors that influence the supply of housing are the cost of land, the availability of land and construction costs. As Shiller (2008) notes, the supply of new housing is however dependent on the builders' decision to build and these builders face costs for construction labor, materials and land. The supply of new housing can however be negatively impacted by different supply constraints. Factors that may constrain the supply of new housing in the short run can be longer planning and construction phases, as well as slow land planning schemes (Tsatsaronis & Zhu, 2004). Glaeser, Gyourko, & Saks (2005) focus on supply constraints and argue that local development regulations can cause housing prices to increase substantially. These arguments are in line with Malpezzi (1999a, 1999b) and Malpezzi & Maclennan (2001), who show that regulatory constraints can assist explaining housing price dynamics as it affects supply negatively. Furthermore, numerous types of land development regulations may make it difficult for new housing supply to respond to increasing housing demand. Mayer & Somerville (2000) find that more regulation results in fewer construction permits and that the supply of new housing in more regulated housing markets thus is less responsive to higher housing prices. For instance, Høj (2011) refers to a study made on the Dutch housing market, which estimates that the restrictive land use policies in the Dutch housing market can increase the housing prices by around 30%. Based on the U.S housing market, Glaeser, Gottlieb & Gyourko (2010) find that the housing prices increased more in cities where there were more restrictions on new housing supply and where it remained difficult to build relative to other cities.

Shiller (2008) argues that demand shocks cause housing prices to temporarily be disproportionate due to the time it takes to construct new housing, as an imbalance between demand and supply will cause the price to change immediately. According to Shiller (2008) have history shown that housing buyers usually fail to understand that supply will ultimately tend to catch up with price increases. He suggests that this failure may be related to a uniqueness bias that people imagine that the city in which they live is unusually attractive and that the attractiveness of the city increases. According to this view, housing prices may temporarily increase more than if new housing units could be built rapidly. In accordance with the authors above, this view suggests that housing markets with heavy regulations on new

constructions may be particularly sensitive to demand shocks. If, however, the supply catches up with demand due to new housing supply, the housing prices should slow down (Shiller, 2008). According to Englund (2011), a substantial increase in housing prices may be an effect of new supply not being able to meet demand. In other words, supply may be regarded as inelastic in the short run in response to increasing housing prices.

2.4 Measures for Evaluating Housing

As we mentioned in section 2.2, due to the nature of the housing market it is difficult to determine a fair price on housing. There are various ways to assess the misalignments in the prices, or in other words, the over or under-valuation of housing in comparison to its fundamental factors (Browne, Conefrey, & Kennedy, 2013). Economists have developed models using supply and demand factors in attempt to compute the fundamental price. However, these models are proven to have certain disadvantages. For example, the price elasticities of demand and supply may change over time, thereby making the relationships of different factors (such as interest rates and income) unstable. In addition, there may be structural changes in the economy which are difficult to capture (Browne et al., 2013). Therefore, these models have been complemented by other approaches such as affordability indicators (measures). We will now discuss two of these measures.

2.4.1 The User Cost of Housing

In section 2.2 we mentioned that there are costs of capital to operate and maintain a home, which are also known as the user cost of housing. Proterba (1984) developed these costs of capital into a user cost framework that accounts for different factors that in general affect the economy of homeowners, and would affect the economy of potential home buyers. In order to understand the user cost framework, one can think of the user cost as the total costs per year for owning housing (Himmelberg, Mayer, & Sinai, 2005). The annual cost of home ownership has been suggested to include six components that take both the costs and benefits of home ownership into account (Hendershott & Slemrod, 1983; and Proterba, 1984). According to this framework, the first component is the opportunity cost of home ownership. The second component is the yearly property tax that homeowners pay for the housing. The third component is the mortgage interest rate that homeowners pay on their mortgages, accounted for tax deductibility on the interest payments. The fourth

component is "maintenance costs" as a fraction of the housing value. The fifth term is the expected capital gain or loss of the owned home during the year. Finally, the sixth component reflects a risk premium in order to compensate homeowners for the assumed higher risk of owning compared to renting (Himmelberg et al., 2005).

The intention of the user cost of housing framework is to compare the costs of ownership of housing to the costs for rental of an equivalent home. With the framework, one can in theory calculate whether it is more favorable to rent rather than to own, or own than rent. In other words, the purpose of the user cost of capital framework is to determine whether the user costs of housing are "too high" or "too low", compared to the costs of rental (Himmelberg et al., 2005). Simply put, if the user cost of housing is lower (higher) than the rental equivalent, it is more favorable (unfavorable) to own than to rent. This framework suggests that equilibrium in the housing market is when the annual costs of owning a home do not exceed the annual cost of renting (Himmelberg et al., 2005). Furthermore, Himmelberg et al. (2005) argues that unreasonably high expectations on future capital gains within this framework can lead to a housing bubble, as buyers perceive their user costs to be lower than it actually is, and are therefore willing to pay "too much" to purchase a home today.

For example, a study was made on Irish housing prices between the 1980s to 2012 (Browne et al., 2013). The results showed that during the period of the late 1990s until 2008 (when housing prices appreciated the most) user costs of housing was negative for the entire time span, before the Irish housing market crashed simultaneously with the financial crisis.

2.4.2 Price-to-Income Ratio

Another measure that is commonly used to assess whether housing prices are "correctly priced" or "too high" is the price-to-income ratio, as this ratio provides a measure of local housing costs relative to the local ability to pay (Englund, 2011; and Himmelberg et al., 2005). The income measure used is the average disposable income per capita, where disposable income is defined as the gross income from which direct taxes have been deducted. An increasing trend of housing prices that outpace the increase in disposable income may suggest that the housing prices are becoming "too high" (Himmelberg et al., 2005).

Englund (2011) claims that one should see a close relationship between housing prices and disposable income since income is a major component of housing consumption, and since supply is constrained by the scarcity of land. Girouard, Kennedy, van den Noord, & André (2006) surveyed several studies on this relationship and find that implied income elasticities are centered around unity, meaning that a one percent increase in income would generate a one percent increase in housing prices given a fixed supply.

<u>2.5 The U.S Housing Bubble</u>

The rapid real price development in the U.S housing market during the late 90s and early 2000s, and the dramatic drop in housing prices in year 2006 that ultimately lead to the global financial crisis, have attracted much attention in the literature and can therefore provide a good overview of different aspects. The U.S housing prices increased by 74% in real terms between years 2000 to 2006 according to the Case-Shiller/Standard and Poor's price index. The large fall in US housing prices that occurred thereafter (the price index dropped by a third) has caused many notable economists to indeed argue that there was a bubble in the housing market (see for instance Glaeser et al. (2010), and Geanakoplos (2010)).

In 2003, Case & Shiller (2003) started to question the rapidly rising housing prices in the U.S. Case & Shiller (2003) quantitatively analyzed the rapid price development in various states based on some of the "fundamentals": income per capita, population, employment, unemployment, and the average mortgage interest rates. They found that the trend of rising housing prices could partially be explained by rising income and falling mortgage rates. Despite this, Case & Shiller (2003) argued that it seemed apparent that the U.S housing market was facing a "housing bubble". According to Case & Shiller (2003, p. 299-300) can one think of a "housing bubble" in the following way:

"... a situation in which excessive public expectations of future price increases cause prices to be temporarily elevated. During a house price bubble, homebuyers think that a home that they normally consider too expensive for them is now an acceptable purchase because they will be compensated by significant further price increases. They will not need to save as much as they otherwise might, because they expect the increased value of their home to do the saving for them. First-time buyers may also worry during a housing bubble that if they do not buy now, they will not be able to afford a home later. Furthermore, the expectation of large price increases may have a strong impact on demand if people think that home prices are very unlikely to fall, and certainly not likely to fall for long, so that there is little perceived risk associated with an investment in a home. If expectations of rapid and steady future price increases are important motivating factors for buyers, then home prices are inherently unstable. Prices cannot go up rapidly forever, and when people perceive that prices have stopped going up, this support for their acceptance of high home prices could break down. Prices could then fall as a result of diminished demand: the bubble bursts".

Case & Shiller (2003) based this conclusion on a questionnaire which indicated that recent housing buyers had high expectations of future housing prices, and that the recent housing buyers generally had a strong investment motive in housing. According to their study, recent housing buyers expected the housing prices to increase rapidly in the future. In some cities, the average expected price increase was as high as 13 to 15 percent per year (Case & Shiller, 2003). The conclusion that the housing market in the U.S appeared to be in a bubble was however questioned by Quigley (2003), Himmelberg et al., (2005), and Smith & Smith (2006). Himmelberg et al., (2005) argued that it was impossible to definitely say whether there was a bubble or not in the U.S housing market.

Himmelberg et al. (2005) indicate that the low interest rate between 2001 and 2005 can explain the rapid increase in the U.S housing prices in various areas. In contrast, Glaeser et al. (2010) find that a one percent decrease in the interest rate in the U.S can, at most, explain an increase in the housing prices of 10%. They argue that the interest rate alone cannot explain the whole price development as the real interest rate fell by 1.3 percentage points between 2001 and 2006. The work of Glaeser et al. (2010) does however indicate that a decreased interest rate can increase housing prices relatively more in cities where the supply of housing is limited.

Others have focused on credit related aspects when analyzing the housing price development in the U.S. Justiniano, Primiceri, & Tambalotti (2015) for instance argue that the housing price development in the U.S primarily was a consequence of increased credit supply to housing buyers. They use a model of household borrowing in order to analyze the drivers of what they call the boom and bust in credit and housing prices. Their findings provide some empirical facts that they argue characterized

the U.S housing boom. They find that the rapid rise in housing prices (the real home prices increased by around 40 to 70% between years 2000 to 2006), co-occur with rising household debts and decreasing real mortgage rates (the real mortgage rate had fluctuated around 5% during the 90s but decreased to around 2 to 3%) as the housing prices increased.

Geanakoplos (2010) reviews the rise and fall in the US housing prices and argues that the rise and fall in housing prices were a consequence of the so-called "leverage cycle". In his view, the housing prices increased due to expansion of leverage. Based on data on the U.S housing market, Geanakoplos (2010) shows that rising housing prices and declining down payments are related. On the way up, housing prices rise as new housing buyers can buy housing with less and less down payment but with higher and higher leverage. According to Geanakoplos (2010) are housing prices central to the leverage cycle due to the nature of housing as an asset. When a housing buyer intends to buy a house, the potential borrower has a hard time obtaining a loan if the lender cannot be convinced that the loan will be safe. The borrower must therefore offer some type of collateral that can work as a guarantee for the loan (Geanakoplos, 2010). The view of Geanakoplos (2010) is that with greater leverage, asset prices increase which in turn increases the value of collateral, which can push up prices further. This process can be fed-back, fueling further price increases. However, prices cannot go up forever as there is a limit on how much leverage can increase and the number of new housing buyers that can enter the market (Geanakoplos, 2010). In the end of the U.S housing boom, the required down payment for housing buyers had fallen to only 3.2 percent (this is an LTV ratio of 96.8 percent) while the housing prices peaked. The high LTV ratio for new housing buyers, providing only 3.2% of the housing purchase in down payment, implied that lenders started to question the reliability of the mortgage borrowers and the risks associated with the lending. As Geanakoplos (2010) shows, the required down payment rose rapidly to 15.9 percent (an LTV ratio of 84.1 percent) in order to deal with the riskiness and falling housing prices. Raised down payment requirement implies that new potential housing buyers need to bring in more money than the previous buyer. As a consequence, when a larger down payment is needed, it is harder for the marginal buyer to enter the housing market, which starts to close them out (Geanakoplos, 2010). Once new potential housing buyers find it harder and harder to enter the market, the housing prices start to drop. This is when the "leverage cycle" starts to turn around. The previous availability of easy and cheap credit diminishes, and the tighter credit can thus

further diminish the ability of potential housing buyers to obtain mortgage loans. In this regard, Geanakoplos (2010) stresses the importance of collateral in a housing market. Since housing commonly are bought with the use of collateral on housing, a decrease in housing prices decreases the value of the collateral. As a consequence, falling housing prices can cause housing prices to decline further due to decreasing collateral.

When lenders raise the mortgage rates (as lending becomes riskier), some homeowners find it harder to service their mortgages. Homeowners with high degree of leverage in the U.S experienced problems in the housing market when things started to change (Geanakoplos, 2010). As many homeowners in the U.S had bought housing with a high leverage (high LTV ratio), once the housing prices started to fall, millions of homeowners found themselves with larger debts on their housing than the value of their housing (Geanakoplos, 2010). In addition, homeowners started to have problems to refinance their mortgages, and many found it more favorable to "walk away" from the house than to keep it. Without getting into detail about the US housing market and the various flaws in incentives during the housing boom, when households become heavily indebted and face problems servicing their mortgages and/or have incentives to walk away from the housing, the number of housing units for sale can increase substantially as many homeowners want to sell at the same time, causing further price falls.

As the review of the literature on the US housing market shows, there are different ideas of factors that drove and impacted the price development of housing on a national and local basis. It is also important to note that the housing price development were different in different areas. The review provides an understanding of factors that can impact rapidly increasing housing prices. Moreover, the review reflects that housing prices can change rapidly. The review touches upon the impact difficulties to service mortgage loans and reduced housing prices can have for housing buyers with large leverage. Perhaps most importantly, it provides an understanding of how housing prices can move in cycles of booms and bust patterns.

3. The Price Development in Stockholm

The section focuses on the price development in the housing market in Stockholm since 1986. This timespan also includes the Swedish banking crisis between years 1990-1993. The housing market in Stockholm contains both houses and tenant-owned apartment and as we will see, the price development in these has been somewhat different. This section will be the foundation of the thesis, as the subsequent sections will refer to the price development.

Housing price indexes are useful in order to grasp the price development in housing, but there is no standard methodology for constructing housing price indexes (Kuttner, 2012). An index can either be adjusted for the inflation or include the inflation. An index adjusted for inflation shows the real price development which better reflects the change in purchasing power of a potential buyer over time. To underline the significant price development in the housing market we provide a 30 year long time series of how the real house prices have developed in Stockholm and Sweden (graph 1). This time series does however not include the price development in tenant-owned apartments. When we mention *apartments* throughout this chapter, we are only referring to tenant-owned apartments that have been purchased, excluding those available for rent, as apartments for rent do not contribute to the price index. Apartments make up a large part of the total housing in Stockholm but indexes of the price development in apartments are only available since 2005. We provide an index that shows the real price development of apartments and houses in Stockholm and Sweden in the same time series with the starting year 2005 (graph 2). Note that the separation of houses and apartments in the index is not of major importance since we provide the index to show the general price development in the housing market rather than individual differences in the price development between houses and apartments. Furthermore, the intention of this thesis is not to handle the price development in houses and tenant-owned apartments separately, but rather to obtain a picture of how the housing prices have increased over time.




Source: Ekonomifakta; and own calculations.

Graph 1 shows the real (inflation-adjusted) price development of houses in Sweden and Stockholm between years 1986-2015, indexed at year 1986.

Sweden and Stockholm experienced falling house prices on a nationwide basis in the early 90s during the Swedish banking crisis. Since then the real house prices have trended upwards with only small and quite temporary price drops. We see that the real house prices have increased more in Stockholm than the rest of Sweden according to the index. Since the mid-90s until today, the real house prices in Stockholm have increased by around 330% whereas the real house prices in Sweden have increased by around 200%. The real house prices in Stockholm started to advance more than the rest of Sweden in the late 90s and have since continued to widen the gap. During the global financial crisis around year 2008 did the real house prices in Stockholm, for the first time since the early 90s, experience a period of falling prices. However, the falling prices recovered rapidly and were just a few years later back to even higher levels than prior the crisis. Since the financial crisis in 2008 has the rate of growth taken off in both Sweden and Stockholm, but the real price increase in Stockholm has been larger than the rest of Sweden.

Numerous studies show that housing prices move in cycles and that there is a tendency for housing prices to revert to the long-term trend (Englund, 2011). Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) stated that the booming Swedish housing prices that started in 1997 and ended in 2008 stands out as the longest boom out of the 18 developed countries. The remarkable point is however not that the boom turned into a bust when the financial crisis hit, but that the price development was able to recover quickly, only to increase further. This, during a time when most countries suffered severe falls in housing prices (Agnello & Schuknecht, 2009).





Source: Ekonomifakta; and own calculations

Graph 2 shows the yearly growth rate for houses in Sweden and Stockholm based on the real price development index between years 1987-2015. The values are calculated using percentage change of the corresponding month from the previous year. A positive value (>0) indicates that prices have increased since the previous year, and a negative value (<0) indicates that prices have decreased since the previous year.

By providing annual growth rates, graph 2 better illustrates the sensitivity and movement of house prices in Stockholm (red line) in comparison to Sweden (blue line). There are two interesting points deducted from the data. First, notice that the crests of houses in Stockholm are generally higher than

for houses in Sweden, and troughs are lower. This suggests that the market for houses in Stockholm is more sensitive to macroeconomic factors than for Sweden. In good times, prices in Stockholm increases at a quicker rate, and in bad times the prices fall at a quicker rate. For instance, in 2000-2001 Stockholm witnessed remarkable growth of house prices at above 20% in one year, whereas prices for Sweden only grew by 10%. The second point is that in 2008, the prices for houses in Sweden witnessed its first negative growth rate since 1997. As mentioned, Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) marked this as the end of the boom, as the article was published in 2009 when the house prices were falling. We assume that the authors expected house prices to decrease further, marking the end of the boom cycle. However, the negative growth rate only lasted for approximately 1.5 years before increasing again. Similarly there was a small period in 2011-2012 where prices were decreasing, but this was also short-lived. Therefore we argue that 2008 was never the end of the boom, but only temporary drops in prices. Instead it can be claimed that the boom of house prices has been ongoing from 1997 until today, an astonishing 18 years.

Until now, we have only been looking at the price development for houses in Stockholm and in Sweden. But as we know, the housing market also consists of other housing units - the most significant is tenant-owned apartments which constitute a large portion of the housing market.



Graph 3. Real price development for houses and apartments

Source: Valueguard; and own calculations

Graph 3 is a "quality adjusted" price index which takes into consideration that there are different types of housing units sold each month. The index is based on the previous months sales – provide by realtors reported sales. The values provided from Valueguard are originally in nominal amounts. We have adjusted the values for inflation (from Worldwide Inflation Data) to show the real price development. Values are given for houses and apartments in Stockholm and Sweden, between years 2005-2015, indexed at year 2005.

Valueguard's price index for houses (red and blue line) follows the same trends as the index from Ekonomifakta, which is to be expected. The trend is increasing with brief decreases in prices between 2007-2009 and 2011-2012, and houses in Stockholm have increased at a slightly faster rate. Apartments for both Stockholm and Sweden follow each other very closely, and have increased at a much faster rate than for houses since 2005. On the other hand, when prices are decreasing, apartment prices seem to decrease at a faster rate than for houses. For instance, we can see in graph 3 that apartments fell at a faster rate during mid-2007 to 2009. This suggests that apartments are even more sensitive to macroeconomic factors than houses.

We find it interesting that apartment prices have risen at close to identical rates in Stockholm and Sweden, but the house prices have increased faster in Stockholm than Sweden. Though we acknowledge this phenomenon, there may be many factors that contribute to this discrepancy between house price movements and apartment prices movements, which is not the focus of this thesis. Also, one must realize that even though the apartment prices increase at a similar rate in Stockholm and Sweden, nominal prices differ. Apartments are more expensive in Stockholm than other parts of Sweden, so even though the rate of increase is the same, the nominal prices in Stockholm are more expensive. For example, imagine two apartments: one valued at 500,000 SEK, located in a small town in Sweden, and one at 1 million SEK, located in Stockholm. Both increase 100% over a given time span. The first will then be valued at 1 million, whereas the other will be valued at 2 million SEK. The second has increased by 500,000 SEK more in nominal amounts than the first. If one were to provide an index for both apartments and houses together, the index for Stockholm will still be higher than for Sweden (the difference being the price development of houses). Unfortunately there is no index

available for both apartments and houses in Stockholm. The difference between the indexes (Stockholm versus Sweden) is difficult to determine, as the weights of houses versus apartments is unknown.

To conclude, housing prices in Sweden, and especially in Stockholm, has had an impressive growth the past 20 years. When comparing apartments to houses, apartments have grown at a faster rate than houses. The effect of the financial crisis in 2008 only seemed to affect Sweden briefly, whereas other countries suffered vast plummets in housing prices. Sweden's housing prices were on the rise just 1.5 years later. Since 2012, housing prices have increased at an exponential rate, hitting new records every month, and the prices in Stockholm are now at an all-time high. Although Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) claim that 2008 was the end of the boom in Swedish housing prices, we argue that the boom has continued until the present day.

4. Housing Prices and Disposable Income

The section will be looking at disposable income in comparison to house price development for both Stockholm and Sweden. By comparing the disposable income of households with the price development of houses, it provides an affordability measure for households (the ability to pay for housing purchases and household operating costs).

As we showed in the literature review in Section 2, several studies indicate that there is a relationship between housing prices and disposable income. Girouard et al. (2006) claim that this relationship is around unity, based on a survey of several studies. Englund (2011) provided a graph to show the relationship between housing prices and disposable income in Sweden.



Graph 4. Disposable income and house prices

Note. Four-quarter moving average of disposable income (from National Accounts).

Source: Englund, 2011, p. 60.

Graph 4 shows the relationship between average real disposable income and real house prices in Sweden between years 1970-2010, indexed at year 1970.

The graph shows that over the long term, real average disposable income has increased at a faster rate than real house prices. The real income in terms of real house prices was approximately 30% higher in

2010 than in 1970. However, notice that the relationship does not correlate closely. Englund (2011) suggests that a partial reason for this is that consumption of housing is more permanent in comparison to other goods. Since 1995, house prices have increased at a faster rate than disposable income.

However, we argue that looking at the average disposable income per capita does not say much of the actual affordability of a single household, as it does not take a family's size into consideration. Imagine two separate households with identical yearly disposable income. One household consists only of two grown adults, whereas the other household consists of two adults and four children. The household without children will generally have more money after necessary consumptions have been made (food and other necessities). A measure that takes this into consideration is the "Equalized disposable income", which is a more accurate indicator of a household's affordability (Stockholms stad, 2012). Each household is given a number of "consumption units" per household is based on the number of persons per household - the first grown adult is given a unit of 1.00, and the remaining persons are given a smaller unit after a fixed scale (see scale in **Appendix 1**). The total disposable income of the household is then divided by the number of consumption units.



Graph 5. Equalized disposable income

Source: Statistics Sweden; and own calculations

Graph 5 shows the equalized disposable income per year, in median values, for households with at least one adult above 20 years of age, given in 2013 year prices. The values are given for both Sweden and Stockholm between years 1991-2013. There is no available data before 1991 or after 2013.

During the period 1991-1994 there was a close to constant decline in equalized disposable income in Sweden and in Stockholm. Interestingly, Englund's (2011) data does not show this decline (graph 4), during a time when Sweden was experiencing a banking crisis. Perhaps this suggests that equalized disposable income might be a better indicator to show a household's real economic affordability than average real disposable income. Notice that the lines move closely and are more or less parallel to one another, and that equalized disposable income in Stockholm has been consistently higher than for Sweden throughout the time span. On average, the equalized disposable income in Stockholm has been approximately 12% higher than for Sweden since 1991. This suggests that residents in Stockholm can afford more expensive housing, which may partially explains why housing prices in Stockholm are higher than for Sweden as a whole. Since 1991, the real equalized disposable income has grown approximately 43% for both Stockholm and Sweden.



Graph 6. Equalized disposable income and house prices

Source: Ekonomifakta; Statistics Sweden; and own calculations

Graph 6 shows the relationship between real equalized disposable income and real house prices for both Sweden and Stockholm, for years 1991-2015, indexed at year 1991. Data for equalized disposable income for years 2014-2015 is not available, so we have made an estimate for these years based on the considerably consistent trend since 1995 (red dotted line).

The trend in graph 6 shows that since 1991, house prices have increased at a faster rate than for equalized disposable income. House prices for Stockholm and Sweden are respectively 83% and 45.8% higher than equalized disposable income in 2015, in comparison to 1991. During the banking crisis between years 1991-1994, housing prices fell at a quicker rate than the disposable income. Notice that housing prices in Stockholm fell faster than for Sweden, as did the equalized disposable income for Stockholm in comparison to Sweden, if only ever so slightly. Since approximately 1995 housing prices started to increase again, simultaneously with the equalized disposable income. During the period 2001-2005 disposable income flattened out for Stockholm, and was fairly constant, whereas disposable income for Sweden continued to increase. During this time we also witness the only period where the rate of housing prices was increasing at a *slower* rate than for Sweden.

So, this data suggests that there is a real relationship between housing prices and equalized disposable income; however it is not close to unity. Housing prices have increased at a much faster pace than equalized disposable income, so households' affordability has decreased significantly over time. Notice that only house prices are used in the graph, excluding apartment prices. This is because apartment prices are only available since 2005. However, recall that the apartment prices have increased at a faster rate than house prices, so since 2005, the price development for apartments have been even faster than for house prices, and thereby widened the gap between housing prices and equalized disposable income further. Also notice the volatile trend in housing prices in comparison to the stable trend in equalized disposable income exists, it can only explain a small part of the housing price behavior.

5. User Cost of Housing

This section will be looking closer at three fundamental factors, which are considered to be essential components of the user cost of housing framework (Review Section: 2.4.1).

The **first factor** we discuss is the development regarding housing taxation (regulatory environment). We first review how the yearly taxation has changed and what this means to existing homeowners and potential home buyers in Stockholm. We then analyze how the capital gain taxation has changed and how it may impact the housing market in Stockholm. We show that tax regulations have had major impact on homeowners' cash flow.

The **second factor** we discuss is expectations of the future housing prices. Expectations on future housing prices (and thereby expectations on future capital gains) can be a significant factor that may affect both current homeowners and potential home buyers. By discussing expectations we hope to provide an understanding as to how the expectations of the future housing prices actually have a real effect on the development of the housing market.

The third factor we discuss is the development in the mortgage rates since 1985 until today. We discuss how the mortgage rate development impacts the cost of capital among existing mortgage borrowers and potential mortgage borrowers. We then look further into the development of choosing fixed rates or variable rates over time, and what implication this has on mortgage borrowers. In addition, this section discusses the link between lower cost of capital through declining mortgage rates and rising housing prices.

At the end of the chapter we will construct a simplified version of the user cost model consisting of these three components.

5.1 Regulatory Environment Developments

The Swedish housing market has in recent years gone through a number of changes in the tax system. In 2008, the yearly taxation on housing was abolished and a local fee with a maximum tax cap was implemented (Frisell & Yazdi, 2010). To cover for the tax losses from the abolishment of the yearly taxation on housing, the capital gain tax for sales of housing was increased from 20% to 22% (Frisell & Yazdi, 2010). These changes have reasonably affected the housing market dynamics for homeowners.

5.1.1 The Abolishment of the Yearly State Real Estate Taxation

Prior to 2008, the states real estate tax for apartments and houses were based on the assessed value that should correspond to 75% of the market value. Homeowners were then taxed every year based on the assessed value of the housing. The tax amounted to 1% of the assessed value for houses and to 0.4% of the assessed value for tenant-owned apartments (Stenkula, 2014). In 2008, this yearly property tax was removed and replaced by a lower municipal property fee with a maximum cap (Frisell & Yazdi, 2010; and Stenkula, 2014). For house owners, the fee has a limit of maximum 6,000 SEK per year but is not more than 0.75% of the assessed value of the house. For tenant-owned apartments, the cap is set at 1,200 SEK per apartment each year but not more than 0.75% of the assessed value (Swedish Tax Agency, 2012). Since the maximum cap levels are different for houses and apartments, we provide examples of how the changed taxation impacts the tax costs for homeowners of houses and apartments respectively.

5.1.2 Impact of the Tax Change for Owners of Houses

Prior to the change in 2008, a house owner with a market value of 1 million SEK for the house would have to pay (0.75 * 1,000,000) * 0.01 = 7,500 SEK in yearly taxes. With the new taxation, the yearly tax for a house with a market value of 1,000,000 is (0.75 * 1,000,000) * 0.0075 = 5,625 per year. The difference is not large for houses that have an assessed market value of 1 million SEK. However, the prices of houses in Stockholm are much more expensive than this. Prices around 10 million SEK for houses in Stockholm are not uncommon, and using 10 million SEK in an example provides another and more realistic picture of how the tax regulation can impact the house owners (for example, the average prices of houses in Bromma (a region within Stockholm) are even higher, at around 14 million SEK). With the old real estate tax system, a house with an assessed value of 10 million SEK, the tax is (0.75 * 10,000,000) * 0.01 = 75,000 SEK per year. With the current tax system, a house with an assessed value of 10 million SEK only pays the cap amount of 6,000 SEK per year.

difference in terms of tax costs in the previous tax system and the current tax system seems to be highly significant for houses in Stockholm. Moreover, the benefit of the changed taxation increases gradually the larger the assessed value of the house is. The change to the current tax system allows house owners, that have an assessed value of 10 million SEK, to have (75,000 - 6,000) = 69,000 SEK extra cash per year. Although, the example is on the higher end, it indicates that house owners in Stockholm in general have increased their cash flow significantly with the introduction of the yearly taxation cap.



Graph 7. Real estate tax for houses

Source: Own calculations

Graph 7 shows the yearly real estate taxation for houses in Stockholm, comparing the old system versus the new system of taxation, given different market values of house. The orange dotted lines represent net extra cash of the two examples previously used, of 1 million and 10 million SEK market value houses.

From the graph we can see that the higher the assessed value of a house, the more the householder has benefited from the tax reformation. The amounts are quite substantial.

5.1.3 Impact of the Tax Change for Tenant-Owned Apartments

Because the association of tenant-owned apartments owns the apartments, the tenant owner pays the tax via its monthly fees. Prior to the change, an owner of an apartment with an assessed market value of 1 million SEK would have to pay (0.75 * 1,000,000) * 0.004 = 3,000 in tax per year. With the "local fee", after 2008, the same owner has to pay the lower 1,200 SEK per year due to the tax cap. A market value of 1 million SEK for an apartment in Stockholm is however not common. When the local fee was introduced 2008, the average price for a tenant-owned apartment in greater Stockholm was around 1,874,000 SEK (Statistics Sweden, 2015). With a market value of 1,874,000 SEK, the previous state real estate tax per year would be (1,874,000 * 0.75) * 0.004 = 5,622 SEK. In 2014, the average price for a tenant-owned apartment in greater tax per year would be $(2,723,000 \times 0.75) * 0.004 = 8,169$ SEK, for an average tenant-owned apartment in Stockholm. In central Stockholm some of the more luxurious apartments in central Stockholm are in the tens of millions, and thereby the net extra cash due to the tax reformation can be substantial for apartment owners as well.



Graph 8. Real estate tax for apartments

Source: Own calculations

Graph 8 shows the yearly real estate taxation for apartments in Stockholm, comparing the old system versus the new system of taxation, given different market values of apartments. The orange dotted lines represent net extra cash of the three examples previously used, of 1 million, 1,874,000 million and 2,723,000 million SEK market value apartments.

The graph is similar to that of houses as the higher the market value of apartment, the more the householder has benefitted from the tax reformation. However, the amounts are not quite as substantial as for houses. For example, the net extra cash per year for a 10 million SEK house is 69,000 SEK per year, whereas the net extra cash per year for a 10 million SEK apartment is 28,800 SEK.

5.1.4 The Increased Capital Gain Tax on Housing Sales

The relation between the capital gain tax and its influence on housing price growth may not appear obvious. Fuest et al. (2004) has expressed the view that higher transaction taxes and capital gain taxes on real estate may reduce large swings in housing prices by reducing the incentives of short-term speculation. However, Englund (1986) and Aregger et al. (2013) find that higher capital gain taxes on housing may instead be counterproductive to the purpose of stabilizing housing prices, as larger capital gain taxes may make homeowners more reluctant to sell their housing and thus create "lock-in" effects for existing home-owners. With such "lock-in" effects, the homeowners become more reluctant to sell and the supply of existing housing diminishes which consequently can fuel housing prices. In 2008, when the yearly taxation was abolished and the lower "local fee" was introduced, the tax on capital gains on housing increased from 20% to 22% (Frisell & Yazdi, 2010). In order to understand the implications of the higher capital gain tax we provide an example of how the capital gain taxation impacts a housing sale.

5.1.5 The Impact of the Capital Gain Tax on a Housing Sale

Households that bought their house in Stockholm 20 years ago for 2.5 million SEK would today enjoy a 300% increase in real value (inflation-adjusted), and would be able to sell it for 10 million SEK today. The capital gain is: (10,000,000 - 2,500,000) = 7,500,000 SEK. The capital gain is however taxed after the deduction for transaction costs in terms of a real estate agent. The fee to the real estate agent in Stockholm is commonly around a few percentages (~2-4% is considered normal) of the sales

amount, or a fixed payment that may be negotiable. The fees vary as they depend largely on the real estate agency firm and location (Blom Westergren, 2014, Oct. 14). To illustrate the impact of a housing sale with the current capital gain tax, we use a conservative measure of 2% of the sales amount as the fee to the real estate agent which becomes (2% * 10,000,000) = 200,000 SEK.

7,500,000 - 200,000 = 7,300,000 is the capital gain after deduction for the real estate agent fee. This capital gain of 7,300,000 is taxed at 22%: 7,300,000 * 0.22= 1,606,000 must be paid in capital gain taxes for the housing sale. At the old capital gain tax rate of 20% this would amount to 1,460,000, a difference of 146,000 SEK. Until 2007, the whole tax on the capital gain could be postponed on the condition that the new housing was more expensive than the sold housing (Swedish Tax Agency, 2012). In 2008, the amount possible to postpone was limited to 1,600,000 SEK but then changed to 1,450,000 SEK in 2010 with a yearly interest of 0.5% on the postponed amount (Swedish Tax Agency, 2012). Due to the fixed interest of 0.5% on the postponed amount and the current low interest rate combined with the interest deductibility of 30%, it is today generally acknowledged that it is favorable to pay the capital gain tax immediately instead of postponing it (Crofts, 2014, Apr. 7). Thus, the additional 2% in capital gains tax (in this case 146,000), combined with not being able to gain anything by postponing the amount to another household, may make the homeowners more reluctant to sell, which contributes to the "lock-in" effect.

5.1.6 The Tax Change Effect on Demand and Supply for Housing

The changes on the features of the tax system seem to have had a substantial impact on the housing market in Stockholm. The new taxation systems result in lower taxes for homeowners than the old taxation system did. The difference is particularly large for higher assessed values of housing. Because housing in Stockholm in general already had higher market values than other parts of Sweden when the maximum cap was introduced, the maximum cap has lowered the recurring tax costs for homeowners in Stockholm in particular. The reduced recurring tax costs improve homeowners' cash flows and make it more affordable to own housing in Stockholm. This change has effectively decreased the user cost of capital for housing, which increases the incentives to own a home. When homeowners find it more affordable to stay in the current housing due to the lower yearly taxation costs, it becomes easier to keep the housing, which should lower the supply of the existing housing

stock further. Lower recurrent taxation should furthermore have contributed to increased demand for more expensive housing within Stockholm, since more expensive housing is not taxed harder than low valued housing. While the maximum cap should increase demand for more expensive housing within Stockholm it should also lower the supply of more expensive housing. An increased demand combined with a simultaneous decrease in supply push the housing prices upwards.

What furthermore seems to contribute to the price dynamic is the increased capital gain tax. The higher capital gain tax makes it more expensive to move compared to before, which should contribute to relatively lower supply. The supply of highly valued housing may be particularly reduced due to the progressive tax savings that the current tax cap result in, compared with the previous taxation. Moreover, the increased capital gain tax, combined with the price development, affects the nominal amounts that sellers of housing will have available for new housing purchases and hence "how much housing" they can buy for that amount in the same market. When less money become available for new housing purchases after a housing sale, due to the increased capital gain tax, the homeowners should become more reluctant to sell their existing home. Homeowners may be particularly reluctant to sell if they would have to buy in the same market as they sell. Due to the price development in the housing market, the longer time a household in Stockholm has owned the home, the larger the capital gains tax becomes in nominal amounts. Hence, homeowners that have owned the housing for a longer time may be particularly reluctant to sell the housing if they might as well are able to keep the housing, which the significantly lower yearly tax has facilitated.

5.2 Expectations on Future Housing Prices

Expectations on future housing prices (and thereby capital gains) is one of the most essential components in the user cost framework (Browne et al., 2013). Given that expectations on an increase in capital gain is high (i.e. a high proportion of people that believe an increase in housing prices is very likely), it will have a significant impact on user costs and price development. High expectations on capital gains can even generate negative user costs. That is, the expected capital gain exceeds the total funding costs of housing, essentially making housing consumption *free*, and the owner can expect a capital gain on top (Englund, 2011). This allows for homeowners to have very expensive housing costs as long as the expected capital gain will cover these costs; making owning a home a

favorable investment. Recall that overly optimistic expectations on housing prices have been one of the key components for the cause of the housing bubble inflation in the U.S. Since expectations is such an important component of user costs, we will attempt to look closer into the expectations of housing prices in Stockholm, and what effects this may have.

Case & Shiller (2003) did a thorough investigation on expectations on the housing market in the U.S. and found a fallacy in the interpretation of closing prices. When closing prices are higher than asking prices, this may cause "panic buying and prices become irrelevant" (Case & Shiller, 2003, p. 327). Buyers are willing to purchase homes at a very expensive price only to enter the market before it is too late. Looking into the housing market in Stockholm, we found that on average the closing prices for 2015 are approximately 15% above asking prices (this is based on an average of randomly selected housing units recently sold in Stockholm County in 2015, from the site Hemnet.se. So, perhaps Stockholm is experiencing a similar phenomenon. Furthermore, Case & Shiller (2003) asked whether people believe that markets are driven by psychology. Their results found that: "... people generally do not believe that markets are driven primarily by psychology, even in a booming real estate market" and "... most homeowners do not perceive themselves to be in a bubble even at the height of a bubble" (Case & Shiller, 2003, p. 327). It seems householders believe that their high expectations are warranted and based on fundamentals, which only exacerbates the possibility of a housing bubble as they are not aware of the bubble. It is merely hypothesis, but this may very well be the case for Stockholm as well since there seems to be hubris of buying now, as closing prices are consistently above asking prices due to bidding wars.

To illustrate what the expectations are on future housing prices are in Stockholm we make use of the *Boprisindikator*, which can directly be translated as a "housing price indicator". The indicator measures the difference of how many households expect the housing prices to increase the coming month in relation to households that believe prices will decrease.



Graph 9. Housing price indicator

Source: Mynewsdesk

Graph 9 shows the housing price indicator in Sweden, 2003-2016. Values are given in percent. A value of 0 means that an equal number of households believe housing prices will go up during the next month in relation to households that believe housing prices will go down. All positive values (>0) mean a higher portion of households believe prices will go up, and vice versa.



Graph 10. Housing price indicator in Stockholm and Sweden

Source: Mynewsdesk; and own calculations

Definitions as in graph 9.

Note that graph 9 is a housing price indicator for Sweden and data is available since 2003. For expectations in Stockholm we have only been able to obtain data since January 2013, shown in graph 10. The housing price indicator in graph 9 shows that expectations on future housing prices are correlated with the recent trend of housing prices. For instance, during the financial crisis, housing prices were falling, and thus there is a big fall in the future price expectations. Similarly, housing prices decreased during a brief time in 2011, which was, once again, followed by a fall in expectations.

In February 2015, the housing price indicator portrayed a new record in both Sweden (66%) and Stockholm (76%). Since February 2015, expectations have been quite steady for Sweden until September 2015, where it hit a new all-time high at 72%, and Stockholm has remained steady at around 75%. The expectations in Sweden and Stockholm fell during September 2015 to February 2016. This was during a time when there have been many debates and discussions in media about the housing prices in Sweden, where many warn that we may be in a housing bubble. There are also many suggestions regarding new regulations that need to be put into place to prevent further increases in prices. We believe this has most likely caught the attention of homeowners and potential buyers, which can explain the decrease in during this time period. Even though the debates of bubbles are still ongoing, the initial shock from the mentioning of a bubble seems to have subsided, which may explain why expectations are again on the rise.

During the past three years the expectations have been approximately 11% higher in Stockholm than Sweden. Given that the housing prices have increased at a quicker rate in Stockholm than the rest of Sweden (where nominal prices are much higher), and that expectations are extrapolative (i.e. inhabitants in Stockholm will look at previous housing prices in Stockholm only), we will draw the assumption that expectations have been steadily higher (during times of price appreciation) in Stockholm than in Sweden since 2003. Perhaps high expectations in Stockholm have been formed from stubborn belief in order to justify expensive purchase of housing. For instance: "Prices *must* go up, otherwise this will not be a sound investment". It is unfortunate that there is no data for Stockholm

in comparison to Sweden during negative values of expectations (for instance between years 2008-2009). However, we know from reviewing the price development that Stockholm prices tend to fall faster than for Sweden during depreciations. If expectations are truly extrapolative we would then expect expectations to be even lower in Stockholm than in Sweden.

By determining whether expectations are higher or lower than previous years, we can deduce the potential impact this has on demand. Prior to 2013, expectations have been quite volatile, with significant dips in 2008 and 2011. Since 2013 to 2015 expectations have been steadily high, hitting all-time highs in 2015. This suggests that demand for housing has been higher in the few recent years compared to previous years, as more people expect they will realize capital gains if they were to purchase now rather than in the future. Perhaps this has contributed to the astonishing rate of increasing housing prices since 2013, and especially so during 2015 in Stockholm.

It is also possible that expectations on housing prices have an impact on supply. This is mainly due to the capital gains tax of 22% in Sweden (review Section: 5.1.4). Under the assumption that expectations of increasing prices are high, this gives incentives for homeowners to not sell their home. It is a better option to keep their home, believing that they will receive an increasing capital gain in the future than to sell now (and paying a tax of 22%). Vice versa is also true - if a homeowner expects prices to fall then their best option is to sell now and reap their maximum capital gain.

Until now we have only discussed how expectations impact homeowners, or potential homebuyers who buy with the intention of living in the home. However, with high expectations also comes the risk of speculation. There are many sources claiming that speculation occurs in Stockholm. KTH professor Stellan Lundström claims that the past few years of price surges in Stockholm can largely be attributed to speculation (Spängs & Lucas, 2015, Oct. 14). Speculators buy housing units that are under construction, never having the intention to move in, but to sell as soon as the construction is complete. They speculate that they will be able to sell the completed unit at a more expensive price. Even more concerning is that the construction company JM believes that two thirds of all new apartments are bought due to speculation, without the intention of moving in (Wilderäng, 2015, May. 23). Financial analyst Peter Malmqvist mentions there is "hysteria" in the housing market in Stockholm which has caused further speculation, and investors even own double households (Spängs

& Lucas, 2015, Oct. 14). Malmqvist further claims that due to speculation, a drastic fall in housing prices is inevitable in the near future. *Sverige's Radio* describe a new phenomenon in Stockholm – speculators purchase apartments with the intention of renting out second-hand, in order to make a profit (Burgerfeldt, 2015, Feb. 4). The effect of this intense speculation is a tightening of supply, and increase in demand. It is difficult to determine to what extent this has contributed to appreciating prices, but all sources claim it has had a substantial effect.

To sum up, the data from the housing price indicator for expectations in Stockholm cannot determine whether expectations are unreasonable. On the other hand, it does seem that expectations move in parallel with the housing prices in the market. These are however short-term expectations. From 2013-2015 expectations have been at some instances at record levels, and housing prices have been moving in relation to this. Expectations did decrease quite drastically during September 2015 to February 2016. This was probably due to uncertainty in the market as there have been warnings of a bubble, and house prices were showing signs of stagnating. This uncertainty seems to have been short-lived. The signs that *do* indicate that expectations may be unreasonable are: Closing prices that are 15% above asking prices, there seems to be hubris for buying, and the vast amount of speculation that occurs in Stockholm.

5.3 Mortgage Rates

The capital costs homeowners and potential housing buyers face depends significantly on the interest rates on the housing mortgages since most homeowners and housing buyers use mortgages to finance a housing purchase (Englund, 2011). Mortgage rates determine the costs for a mortgage loan and thus directly affect housing buyers that can obtain credit in terms of mortgage loans. Collective studies have consistently shown that mortgage rate is one of the major driving factors of housing price developments, and is an essential part in the user cost of housing framework.

Graph 11. Nominal mortgage rates



Source: Swedbank; and own calculations

Graph 11 shows the current nominal mortgage rates provided by Swedbank, one of the big four banks in Sweden, between years 1985-2015. Swedbank is the only bank with available mortgage rates spanning 30 years back, which is why this data has been chosen. We believe it to be a sufficient proxy for collective mortgage rates as the major banks have had historically similar rates. Values are given for 3 month variable rate, 2 year fixed, and 5 year fixed mortgage rates. Note that these rates were the official current rates for the corresponding time periods; whereas the realized mortgage rates (the rates at which borrowers actually received their mortgage loans) may have differed slightly, depending on individual factors (e.g. value of house, size of the loan, income). For instance, the current official mortgage rate for 3 months variable rate and 5 year fixed is 1.97% and 2.35%, but the current realized average mortgage rate is 1.51% and 2.05% respectively. I.e. we estimate an error margin of approximately +-0.5%.

During the Swedish banking crisis (1990-1994) mortgage rates were very volatile and at a high level, where the 3 month variable rate was on average *higher* than the 2 year and 5 year fixed rates. In late

1992, the 3 month variable rate peaked (very briefly) at 24%. Following 1995, mortgage rates gradually decreased until mid-2005, when they started rising again. As the global financial crisis hit in 2008, we see that mortgage rates decreased rapidly; arguably a strategy to mitigate the effect of the crisis. This was followed by a slight increase from the beginning of 2010 until mid-2012, and has since then decreased to record low levels. The 3 month variable rate is today similar to its lowest point in the beginning of 2010, whereas the 2 year and 5 year fixed rate has never been lower.

Literature claims that the key component to measure the user cost of housing is the real after-tax interest rate, which reflects the real capital costs of financing a home (Englund, 2011). To adjust nominal mortgage rates to real after-tax mortgage rates one must include *expected* inflation and tax deductibility on interest.





Source: Englund, 2011, p. 57; and own calculations

Graph 12 shows the real after-tax mortgage rate between years 1985-2015. Values are given for 3 month variable rate, 2 year fixed, and 5 year fixed mortgage rates. According to Englund (2011) real after-tax mortgage rate is defined as $m(1-t) - \pi$, where m is the nominal mortgage rate, t is the tax

rate applicable for interest deductions and π is the expected inflation. In 1990-1991 there was a tax reformation in Sweden, adjusting the tax deductibility from 50% to 30% (Government Offices of Sweden, 1997:98:1). The data has therefore assumed a flat tax deductibility of 50% before January 1992, and 30% after. In late 1992 the Swedish Central Bank was forced to change the fixed exchange rate to a floating rate (Swedish Central Bank, 1993). Simultaneously they set an inflation target around 2%. Englund (2011) has also anchored the expected inflation rate at approximately 2% after 1992, so we have done the same. Prior to 1992 there was no official inflation target, so we will be using Englund's (2011) expected inflation rate based on survey data for years 1985-1992. During this time expected inflation rate was around 5-7%. These numbers are estimates which may contribute to an error margin.

Notice the significant difference between graph 11 and graph 12 during the years 1985-1992. The reason is the high expected inflation rate and a tax deductibility of 50%. The real after-tax interest rate was therefore close to zero, and even negative in 1989. This may explain the room for increasing housing prices until 1990 (before the banking crisis), despite the high nominal mortgage rates. After the tax reformation in 1991, expected inflation decreased quickly, and at the same time interest deductibility was changed to 30%. The result was a huge increase in real after-tax interest rates in early 1992 to 1993. During this time Sweden experienced a decrease in housing prices. Although, it is difficult to conclude whether the decrease in housing prices was an effect of rising real rates, or the effect of the Swedish banking crisis. Following 1994, there has been a gradual decrease of real after-tax rate, and during this time housing prices have consistently increased.

Today the real after-tax rates are negative. Since the 1990s, this has only occurred once before, which was briefly in 2010. However, this was only for the shorter maturities, the longer maturities are today lower than they were in 2010. One must go back to the 1980s (prior to the banking crisis) to witness negative real after-tax rates for longer maturities (during this time the tax effect on interest deductibility was 50% instead of 30%, and expected inflation was high, which drove real after-tax rates down). The negative real after-tax interest rate today is a consequence of the historically low nominal rates, rather than an effect of tax deductibility and inflation.

There are two points during the last 20 years when real after-tax rates have increased: 2006-2008 and 2011-2012. Similarly, there have been two points when housing prices have decreased - 2008-2009 and 2011-2012. As nominal interest rates have reached the lowest level of all time, and the real after-tax is for longer maturities are negative for the first time in 25 years, housing prices have risen in a vast pace to record high levels that has never before been witnessed. Given the data, there seems to be an undeniable correlation between decreasing real after-tax rate and increasing housing prices.

Since the Swedish banking crisis, which ended in 1994, the 3 month variable real rate has always been lower than the fixed rates, so households that have chosen variable rates have faced lower borrowing costs for the past 20 years. Therefore we find it interesting to look at the trend of household mortgages that have chosen shorter maturities over long maturities.



Graph 13. Mortgage loans divided into different maturities

Source: Swedish Central Bank, 2015, p. 36

Graph 13 shows all mortgage loans for all homeowners in Sweden, divided into portions of binding periods (maturities) between years 1996-2015. The portions are given for variable rates, 1-5 year fixed rates, and >5 year fixed rate. Data is unavailable before 1996.

In 1996, we can see that a large portion (~20%) chose binding periods of over 5 years (graph 13). At the same time those that chose variable rates was very low (~8%). This is not surprising, as Sweden had recently experienced a banking crisis, and nominal rates as well as inflation had been extremely volatile (at one point variable rate was higher than the 5 year fixed rate, and inflation fluctuated between 4-11%). Since then the trend has been consistent, showing that mortgage borrowers have gone from longer maturities to shorter maturities. In year 2000-2002 there was a small peak of the portion choosing variable rates. Most likely this is a combination of gaining confidence in the banks, as well as decreasing mortgage rates, as variable rates had then been consistently lower than fixed for several years. Until 2008, the portion of variable rates was fairly constant, and after the financial crisis hit, there is another sudden jump between years 2009-2010. One reason may be that the mortgage rates were lowered significantly during this time, where variable rates became significantly lower than the fixed rates. In 2011, mortgage rates once again increased, where variable increased at a faster rate than fixed, which may explain the decrease in the proportion of mortgage loans with variable rates.

Today, the portion of variable rates is very high, where approximately 60% of all mortgage loans in Sweden have very short binding periods. For new mortgage loans, the portion of variable rates is 76% (Swedish Central Bank, 2015). As we showed previously, homeowners that have chosen variable rates over fixed rates during the past 20 years have faced lower borrowing costs, and as a result, more homeowners have chosen shorter maturities. So, the data suggests a strong negative correlation between mortgage rates and maturities (lower mortgage rates result in more borrowers choosing variable rates, and vice versa). As mortgage rates are now at an all-time low, there is a large portion of homeowners with mortgage loans (especially new mortgage borrowers) that are sensitive to mortgage rate fluctuations as more homeowners have chosen variable rates. This suggests that recent homebuyers are willing to take on additional risk, in the form of being vulnerable to mortgage rate fluctuations, to cheaply finance their home purchases, during times of low mortgage rates. Thus, recent home buyers are able to "afford" more expensive housing due to low variable rates. But we have seen that when interest rates rise (in combination with falling housing prices), the tendency is to move towards longer binding periods, perhaps to protect oneself from further increase in interest rates, making the mortgage rate payments even more expensive in the short run during increasing mortgage rates.

5.3.1 The Cost of Capital and Demand for Mortgages

The costs for mortgages make up a significant part of the total costs mortgage borrowers have, and thus have a major impact on their cost of capital. The decreasing mortgage rates have made it cheaper to take out new mortgages and as a result, the cost of capital for new loans is at a historically low level. With declining real mortgage rates, existing mortgage borrowers that rely on variable mortgage rates lower their mortgage payments. Existing mortgage borrowers that rely on longer fixed rates may also be able to refinance their mortgage loan cheaper when it is time for refinancing. With a declining mortgage rate environment, potential mortgage borrowers can persistently obtain cheaper cost of capital than previous homebuyers. The lower borrowing costs should increase the demand for mortgages, but also increase potential mortgage borrowers' willingness and ability to take on larger mortgages. An increased demand of mortgage loans naturally leads to increased demand of housing (as more people can afford mortgage payments on a home), contributing to the increasing of housing prices.

Since the housing price development is dependent on recent sales, it is important to note that new housing buyers continuously have been able to obtain cheaper financing than the previous housing buyers. Hence, it is important to see the link that the lowest borrowing costs and the highest housing prices occur at the same time. Finally, it seems highly unlikely that the mortgage rates can fall much lower than they currently are because banks will then take on too much risk in relation to the mortgage loans.

5.4 A Simplified User Cost of Housing Model

By combining the three components of real estate taxation, expectations on future housing prices, and mortgage rates, we are able to provide an estimate of the user cost of housing over time. However, this is only a simplified version of the real user cost as we have not taken all factors of what constitutes the real user cost into account. When calculating the model, costs are given a positive notation (user cost increases), and gains are given a negative notation (user cost decreases) (Gallin, 2003). Gallin (2003) did a simplified version of user cost by only using mortgage rates and expected capital gain. To estimate expected capital gains, the author used the average growth rate of the house price index over

the last three years. Therefore, we will similarly use the three year average real growth in the house price index for Stockholm and Sweden. For mortgage rates we will make use of the 5 year fixed real after-tax rate which has taken interest deductions and expected inflations into account, to reflect the real cost of mortgage payments. We will also include real estate taxes, for which before 2008 we use a fixed unit of 0.75% (assessed value of a house is 75% of the market value, and the property tax was 1% of the assessed value). After 2008, the municipal property tax is so small that it is more or less negligible, so we give it a zero value.

In our user cost formula, the user cost depends on the price of housing, *P*; the nominal mortgage rate, *m*; the tax rate applicable for interest deductions, *t*; property tax, 0.75%; expected inflation, π ; and expected capital gain, *CG*.

$$UC = P[(m(1-t) - \pi) + 0.75\% - CG]$$



Graph 14. User cost of housing

Source: Own calculations.

Graph 14 shows the (simplified) user cost of houses in Stockholm and Sweden between years 1990-2015, and for apartments between years 2009-2015. The user cost values are given in percent for any value of P (price of housing).

The user cost impact of mortgage rates has assumed a loan of 100% of the value of the housing, but there are requirements for equity investments in order to attain a loan (LTV ratio of 85%). Thus, there is an opportunity cost of equity that is missing in the user cost model, which is the opportunity cost of saving the invested money in a bank. However, the impact of the missing opportunity cost of saving is rather small as interest rates (rate for saving) and mortgage rate follows closely. The difference is that savings are not tax deducted.

The period between years 1992-1998 showed positive user costs in Stockholm, with a peak of 19% in 1994. Since 1998, user cost of houses in Stockholm has been negative for the entire span until 2015, only reaching values of close to zero at two occasions, in 2004 and 2014. For apartments, user cost has been negative during 2009-2015, except for being briefly positive in 2011. It is unfortunate that we do not have a longer time series for apartments to illustrate its user costs. Although, the small time span that we do show have a user cost even lower than that of houses. This is due to higher capital gains between years 2005-2015 for apartments than for houses, which has generated a higher estimated expected capital gain and thereby a lower user cost.



Graph 15. User cost of housing divided into components

Source: Own calculations.

Graph 15 illustrates the user cost divided into its respective components for both Sweden and Stockholm, showing the weight of each factors and its effect on user cost, years 1990-2015.

Graph 15 gives us a better overview of the impact of the different factors on the user cost of housing. It becomes clear that expected capital gain is the factor that has the most substantial impact on user cost. This is not surprising given the price development over the last 20 years. Although real after-tax rate has been declining (purple line), it has little effect in comparison to expected capital gains (red, blue, and green lines). Property tax has had a very small impact (orange line).

As we know, the user cost framework is intended to compare the costs for rental of housing to ownership of housing, in order to determine whether it is more favorable to rent or favorable to own. Although we do not provide figures for the cost of rentals, the costs for renting is always positive since the renter pays a monthly fee for the right to live in the home, without reaping any benefits of capital gains. Since user cost of housing for ownership has been negative since 1997, and renting has a positive cost, we conclude that it has been more favorable to own than rent for almost 20 years in Stockholm.

6. Credit Market Developments

As credit is an important factor for the housing prices, the development of the mortgage market is important for the availability and terms to obtain credit. It is therefore important to review how the Swedish mortgage market has changed over time and how this may have affected the growth in mortgage related credit, and the impact it may have on the housing prices in the current market. In this section we review the credit market development in the following parts: (1) How the Swedish mortgage market has developed and the growing mortgage debt in relation to GDP. (2) The intention to slow down the mortgage related credit growth by introducing a maximum LTV ratio. (3) Factors that may contribute to rising mortgage debt (4) The features of Swedish mortgage contracts (5) The intention to implement amortization requirements on new mortgage loans (6) How the amortization requirement would affect a potential housing buyer (7) How the housing market in Stockholm was affected by the suggested amortization requirement in March 2015. In a separate section we review the development of mortgage debt in relation to disposable income in Stockholm.

6.1 The Development of the Swedish Mortgage Market

The Swedish credit market was strictly regulated until the mid-80s (Englund, 2015). The deregulation meant that mortgage loans that earlier had been scarce became available as the banks themselves could decide to whom and for what purposes they wanted to lend (Swedish Central Bank, 2014). This led to an intensified competition between banks and credit institutes in Sweden to provide mortgages, which narrowed the margin between the lenders' funding costs and the mortgage rates (i.e. mortgage rates decreased) (Englund, 2015). Mortgage borrowers had generally been required to amortize their mortgages during a certain time period. However, in the early 2000s, amortization-free mortgage loans and lower down payments became available (Swedish Central Bank, 2014). In general, lower down payments and amortization-free mortgage loans meant that more people became less credit constrained. As a consequence of the new conditions for mortgage loans, more households were able to take out larger mortgage loans for housing purchases.



Chart 1. Household debt in relation to Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

Chart 1 shows mortgage debt, and other household debt, in relation to GDP in Sweden from 1975-2012.

As we can see from the chart above, the mortgage debts in relation to GDP in Sweden started to increase significantly in the early 2000s, which seems to be related to the introduction of amortization-free loans and rising housing prices.

6.1.1 Introducing a New Maximum Loan-to-Value Ratio

To reduce the development in the mortgage related credit growth and prevent unsound lending practices, the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority, *Finansinspektionen* (from now on FI), introduced a mortgage ceiling on the 1st of October 2010 (Finansinspektionen, 2012). The mortgage ceiling stated that new loan collateralized by a home may not exceed 85 per cent of the market value of the home. The intention of the mortgage ceiling was to hinder banks to lend out for the whole purchase amount and to reduce the increasing loan-to-value (LTV) ratios (Finansinspektionen, 2012). In an interview with the newspaper *Telegraph* in 2014, the former head of the FI, Martin Andersson says: "We introduced a cap on 85% LTV on mortgages in 2010 because we saw that banks were lending out with very high LTV ratios – almost up to 100% for new mortgages in some cases" (Chan,

Source: Swedish Central Bank, 2014, p. 10

2014, Jun. 21). Following the introduction of the 85% LTV ceiling, a somewhat slower increase in mortgage debt in relation to the GDP can be seen in the chart 1. However, despite the introduction of the mortgage ceiling with the LTV ratio of 85% for new mortgage loans has the Swedish mortgage debts continued to increase.

6.1.2 Factors That May Contribute to the Rising Mortgage Debts

There are reasonably many factors that contribute to the expansion of mortgage debts after 2010. Due to the declining mortgage rates, the demand for housing mortgages has increased. At the same time the housing prices continued to increase, which generally implies that a larger mortgage loan is required. Another contributing reason for the continued increasing mortgage lending may be that the LTV ratio of 85% introduced in 2010 only appears to be a general guideline for banks' lending practices. For instance can the down payment be covered with the use of Blanco-loans, a loan without security or collateral (Finansinspektionen, 2015). In addition, the LTV ratio of 85% may be relatively high which has allowed housing buyers to purchase housing for large amounts but only conducting a down payment of 15%. According to the International Monetary Fund (2014) is the mortgage ceiling of 85% in Sweden relatively high in comparison to other countries where LTV ratios of around 75% are prevailing.

Another contributing reason for the growth in mortgage debt in relation to GDP may be that households can take out additional mortgages on their housing if the housing prices in general increase due to improved perceived collateral. The National Board for Housing, Building and Planning (2010) has for instance argued that Swedish households have used the increasing housing prices as a "cash machine" through negative amortization loans. When the housing prices have increased, homeowners have been able to obtain a revaluation of the housing. With a higher valuation, due to the rising housing prices, can homeowners take out additional mortgages with the housing as collateral and thereby increase their mortgage debts.

While it is worth noting that mortgage borrowers today often do amortize, the amortization pace in Sweden is extremely low on an aggregate level and not yet strictly regulated. According to a study conducted by Winstrand & Ölster (2014) at the Swedish Central Bank, 24 percent of homeowners with mortgage debts in Sweden increased their debts between July 2012 and July 2013, while 16

percent had unchanged mortgage debts during the period. Winstrand & Olster (2014) show that 60 percent decreased their mortgage debts with a pace that would require on average 99 years for them to become debt free. Similar studies, based on samples of mortgage borrowers from the eight largest mortgage providers in Sweden, indicate that those that amortize on their bottom loans require an amortization time of more than 140 years (Finansinspektionen, 2013). While comprehensive data on the amortization pace at micro-level is unobtainable, it is commonly considered that the amortization culture in Sweden needs considerable improvement (Bränström, & Hellekant, 2014, Oct. 7). This may be a major driver behind the mortgage debt development on an aggregate level in Sweden, and for the relatively high indebtedness among some homeowners (especially in Stockholm) (Section 6.2 reviews Stockholm's household debt in more detail). To curb the bad amortization culture has FI for some time intended to implement amortization requirements on new mortgage loans. In order to understand why FI intends to implement amortization requirements on new mortgage loans, and why amortization requirements may be important to housing buyers and the housing prices, we will first review the features of Swedish mortgage contracts.

6.1.3 The Features of Swedish Mortgage Contracts

In the current market, households that intend to purchase a house or apartment in general need to have 15% of the purchase amount for the down payment. As a result, households can normally borrow 85% of the purchase price of the housing by taking out a housing mortgage (Hull, 2015). In this regard has there been a tightening of credit since 2010, due to the introduction of the LTV ceiling. Hull (2015) reviews the characteristics of Swedish mortgage loans in detail. The Swedish mortgage contract typically entails two components, a bottom loan and a top loan. The bottom loan is the larger share of the mortgage and usually accounts for around 70% of the property's value. The top loan on the other hand constitutes the additional mortgage loan that borrowers take out to cover the difference between the value of the housing, the bottom loan and the down payment (Hull, 2015). The top loan needs to be fully amortized over some pre-specified time. At the origination of the mortgage contract, borrowers are given a grace period on the bottom loan, which allow them to defer amortizations forever (Hull, 2015). As a result, the Swedish-style mortgage borrower to amortize until a pre-specified LTV threshold is reached and can voluntarily amortize thereafter. As Hull (2015) points out,

Swedish households can hence avoid amortizing completely after the threshold is reached. In addition, Swedish households may refinance in order to extract equity up to the LTV threshold without triggering required amortizations. As a result, Hull (2015) resembles the current structure of a Swedish mortgage loans to an interest only mortgage loan with temporary amortizations at the origination, and voluntary amortizations thereafter on the bottom loan. As the value of the housing (or the purchase price) typically make up the collateral value for the bottom loan, bottom loans typically bears a lower interest rate than the top loan (Hull, 2015). In this regard it can be attractive for borrowers to demand a revaluation of the housing to improve the collateral. In a housing market where the housing prices increase rapidly, the higher perceived housing value may induce homeowners to ask for a revaluation of the housing to claim a larger collateral value against the mortgage loan, in order to lower the interest rates on the mortgage loan. A revaluation of the housing, that indicates a higher value of the housing, can thus lower the interest rates on the mortgage loan but may also affect the LTV threshold that impacts the amortization requirement on the top loan, as households only need to amortize down to a 70% LTV ratio (Hull, 2015). In this regard it is possible to claim a revaluation of the housing to the point where amortizations no longer need to be conducted as a consequence of the rising housing prices.

6.1.4 The Intention to Implement Amortization Requirements on New Mortgage Loans

On the 11th of March 2015, FI issued a press release that would affect future mortgage borrowers and hence potential housing buyers. The press release called "Amortization requirement for new mortgage loans", was intended to be implemented on the 1st of August 2015 ("Amortization requirement", 2015, Mar. 11) According to FI's suggestions would the amortization requirement imply that all new mortgage loans obtained on the 1st of August 2015 and thereafter need to be amortized down to a 50% loan to value ratio. The annual amortization pace needs to be a minimum of 2% on the entire mortgage loans with LTV ratios above 70%, until the 70% LTV ratio is reached. Thereafter, the annual amortization is suggested to be 1% on the entire mortgage loan until the LTV ratio is lowered to 50% ("Amortization requirement", 2015, Mar. 11). FI's press release also suggested that the market value of the housing forms the basis to the LTV calculation but that a revaluation of the housing as collateral only can be conducted every 5 years.

According to FI was the intention with the amortization requirement to increase housing buyer's resistance against disturbances, and lower the risks of the Swedish economy being affected negatively if something unpredicted happens in Sweden or around the world ("Amortization requirement", 2015, 11 Mar.). The suggested amortization requirement was however withdrawn on the 23th of April 2015 due to uncertainties about the legal position. The legal position and the details of the suggested amortization requirement was still not clear as of the beginning of 2016 and remained uncertain until the 20th of April 2016, when FI revealed that the amortization requirement indeed will be implemented on the 1st of June 2016 ("Amortization requirement", 2016, Apr. 20)

6.1.5 The Effect of the Amortization Requirement for a Potential Housing Buyer

The amortization requirement will impact new housing buyers in various ways. One important aspect of the suggested amortization requirement may be that revaluation of the housing only can occur every five years. In this regard, new housing buyers cannot claim a revaluation after a housing price increase and thereby not improve their collateral against the mortgage loan. Housing buyers would have to wait five years for a revaluation to claim improved collateral. Such a hinder impacts new homeowners' ability to claim improved collateral if they expect that the housing prices will continue up, in contrast to how current homeowners can request a revaluation at any given time to improve their mortgage terms. As Hull (2015) points out, the amortization requirement impacts how much debt a household can accumulate but also that it impacts a households' liquidity due to the changes in the monthly amortization payments. In the current housing market with the mortgage rates so low, the proposed amortization requirement would have relatively severe cash flow effects on new housing buyers.

When an amortization requirement eventually is imposed, as it will be on the 1st of June 2016, new housing buyers will be forced to conduct yearly amortizations of 2% per year until the LTV ratio reaches 70%, and 1% thereafter until the LTV reaches 50%. The increased yearly cash outflows that comes with the amortization requirement indicate that new housing buyers will be less willing, and able, to bid up the housing prices after the 1st of June 2016; as they need to service higher amortization payments during a longer time period in contrast to the current conditions were amortizations can be temporary and may be voluntary after a period. With housing prices in
Stockholm as high as today, substantially higher cash outflows during a considerably longer time period indicate that it will become harder to purchase housing at the current price level as the housing related expenses will increase.

6.1.6 The Effect of the Amortization Requirement on the Housing Market

FI's press release regarding the amortization requirements on the 11th of March 2015 seems to have had implications for the housing price development in Stockholm. Real estate agents witnessed an extremely hot housing market in Stockholm during the period when people thought that the new regulations, in terms of an amortization requirement, would be implemented ("Fortsatt prisrally", 2015, Oct. 27; and "Kommentar till", 2015, Apr. 16). People wanted to buy housing before the new regulation would be implemented and extreme bidding wars became normal. The ideas put forth by Sørensen (2013) suggests that amortizations, or rather the ability to avoid the amortization requirements by buying housing before the implementation of the amortization requirement, may have had an important impact on the housing price development by pushing the housing prices upwards during 2015. The bidding wars that have continued throughout 2015 seem to imply that new homeowners value the ability to have slower amortizations than 2% per year, and those new housing buyers are willing to bid up the housing prices further to get their hands on a house or apartment before the new amortization requirement is implemented. Therefore, it is likely that the debate about the amortization requirement have fueled an already hot housing market further.

The intense bidding wars that followed the press release indicates that housing buyers may have been willing to pay more for the housing in order to avoid the forced pace of amortization suggested by FI's amortization requirement. Another possibility for the rising housing prices may have been that the ability to take large mortgage loans would diminish if one would have to conduct amortizations for a long period of time. Although the amortization requirement was put on hold, it reasonably affected the housing market due to the uncertainty of when such an amortization requirement would be implemented for new mortgage borrowers in the future. How the amortization requirement will impact the housing market and the housing prices when implemented is still to be seen, but we find it reasonable to expect that the changing credit conditions, that the amortization requirements imply,

should have a reducing effect on credit demand for new housing buyers, and therefore a dampening effect on the housing prices.

6.2 Household Debt and Disposable Income

As we have reviewed, household debt has been increasing in correlation to increasing house prices in Sweden for a long time. However, by taking large amounts of household debt in the form of mortgage loans to purchase a home, households become exposed to various risks. The primary risk for a household is the mortgage rate, since fluctuations of the mortgage rate directly affects their monthly payments (Finansinspektionen, 2015). Therefore, the higher the mortgage loan is in relation to disposable income, the more sensitive the household becomes to an increase in mortgage rates. Because of this, a common measure to analyze households' vulnerability due to an increase in mortgage rates is the *debt ratio* (Finansinspektionen, 2015). This measurement is the relationship between household debt and disposable income (income after taxes are deducted, plus other welfare benefits). For example, a household with loans of 2 million SEK, and a yearly disposable income of 500,000 SEK, has a debt ratio of 400%. So, the higher the debt ratio, the more sensitive a household becomes to fluctuations in mortgage rates, as a larger portion of their disposable income must be used to service the required rates on the mortgage loan (Finansinspektionen, 2015).





Source: Swedish Central Bank, 2015, p. 10

Graph 16 shows the trend for all households' debt ratio in Sweden between years 1970-2014.

The graph shows a drastic decline in the debt ratio between years 1990-1995, during the Swedish banking crisis. Since then the debt ratio has increased at a vast pace, and is now at an all-time high of approximately 170%. This is debt ratio is high in comparison with other countries. However, this graph also includes households that do not have mortgage debt, but other debt that require interest rate payments. For households that *have* mortgage debts the debt ratio is 315% in Sweden (Swedish Central Bank, 2015). The debt ratio trend can mostly be attributed to the significantly increasing trend in housing prices the past two decades (and thereby mortgage debt), which has increased at a quicker rate than disposable income (Review Section 4).

The debt ratio for households with new mortgage loans is much higher. The debt ratio for new mortgage loans in Sweden was, in 2014, 366%. In Stockholm, the debt ratio for new loans is the highest in the country, with an astonishing 482% in 2014 (Swedish Bankers' Association, 2015). The reason for this is that the market value of housing in Stockholm is the highest in Sweden, and buyers are therefore required to take larger mortgage loans (to finance their purchase) in relation to their disposable income. Among the new mortgage borrowers, the younger households (homeowners under 30 years of age) have the highest LTV and debt ratios. This suggests that the homeowners that are exposed to the most risk, are the most recent home buyers, and even more so for young buyers.

Another measurement of household vulnerability is the *interest ratio*, which is a similar tool to debt ratio (Finansinspektionen, 2015). Instead of measuring household debt to disposable income, the monthly interest payment in relation to disposable income is used. Today the interest ratios are quite low, at 3% with a debt ratio of approximately 180% for Sweden. This means that only 3% of a household's disposable income is used for interest payments. The low interest ratio is a cause of the now historically low interest rates. However, Finansinspektionen (2015) claim that interest rates will increase to more normal rates in the future, which will affect the interest ratios. They tested a stressed scenario where interest rates increased to 8%, and given a debt ratio of 180%; the average interest ratio would increase to 10%. This is under the assumption that households have a variable rate, which is the case in Sweden as there has been an increasing trend of households choosing variable rates over

fixed rates (review Section: 5.3). But the debt ratios for new mortgage loans in Stockholm are at 482%, which is 2.67 times higher than 180%. This would make the interest ratio for recent homebuyers in Stockholm at 26.7% (given that mortgage rates increase to 8%); i.e. 26.7% of their disposable income is used for mortgage payments alone. The Swedish Central Bank (2015) provided an example of a household with 600% debt ratio (which is not uncommon in Stockholm), a mortgage loan of approximately 2 million SEK, a disposable income of 30,000 SEK per month. With today's mortgage rates, the household would have a monthly mortgage rate payment of 2,500 SEK per month after interest rate deductions. A stressed scenario with a mortgage rate of 8% would become 10,000 SEK per month after interest rate deductions, with an interest ratio of 35%.

It is clear that homeowners that have recently purchased their home in Stockholm are vulnerable to mortgage rate fluctuations. If the stressed scenario were to occur, it could lead to financial instability within the economy. For households with a high debt ratio, an increase in the mortgage rates affects them greatly, and paying the required mortgage rates could become problematic. Also, households with a high LTV ratio are sensitive to a fall in housing prices. They risk a situation where their mortgage debt becomes higher than the value of their home in case the housing prices would fall. This could generate higher risk for banks and credit institutions that have provided mortgage loans, as the collateral asset does not cover the outstanding mortgage debt. As the mortgage loans become riskier, a consequence could be an even further increase in mortgage rates. More households would default on mortgage payments and result in credit losses for the financial institutes. A vicious cycle could potentially occur as lending becomes constrained and mortgage rates increase; and with constrained and expensive lending, housing prices would start to plummet.

The economy, on a macro-level, would also become affected of the scenario above. It has been shown that households with high debt ratio would reduce their consumption on other goods if mortgage rate payments become problematic. The Swedish Central Bank (2015) analyzed the consequences of an increasing interest ratio during the Swedish banking crisis between years 1989-1993. The interest ratios increased to 10% during the time, and other consumption decreased drastically. An interest ratio of 10% is not unlikely in Stockholm, with a debt ratio of 482% on new mortgage loans. In fact, a normalized mortgage rate of around 6% (non-stressed scenario) would lead to an interest ratio of far above 10% in Stockholm. A decrease in consumption in the economy can lead to a recession, and

evidence from previous recessions show that a high amount of debt would only exacerbate a recession. International studies also indicate that an interest ratio of 10% increases the risk of a financial crisis (Swedish Central Bank, 2015).

In conclusion, the high debt ratios in Stockholm are concerning. Households are vulnerable to an increase in mortgage rates. Even an increase of mortgage rates to a normalized level of around 6% would make the average interest ratios higher than during the Swedish banking crisis. Loans will become riskier for financial institutions, and consumption within the economy will subside as a consequence.

7. Demographics

This section will be reviewing the effect of demographics on the housing market in Stockholm. More specifically, we will be looking at population growth, age structure of the population, as well as different categories of individuals that populate Stockholm. By doing this we will discuss the effects on aggregate demand of housing in Stockholm.

Stockholm is Sweden's capital - the cultural, medial, political, and economic center of Sweden. These aspects may have contributed to the popularity of Stockholm, making it the largest city in Sweden. The county of Stockholm has expanded consistently throughout decades, in both population and size (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a).



Source: Statistics Sweden; and own calculations



The population growth has been positive every year for the past 30 years, with an average of approximately 21,000 people per year between this time span. Following a small dip in the growth rate around year 2000-2004, the population growth trend has been substantially high the past decade. One must go back as far as the 1960s to find similar population growth rates in Stockholm. The vast

population growth rate in Stockholm is primarily due to immigration (from abroad) and high birth rates. Only ~5% of the population growth is due to urbanization (migration from smaller regions to cities) (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a).





Source: Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a, p. 15.

Graph 19 the growth of newly constructed housing units (smaller houses and apartments) each year, relative to the population each year, indexed at year 1990.

From the graph above we can see that population has increased at a faster pace than housing units in Stockholm. The gap seems be increasing steadily, and after year 2010 there is a decline in the growth rate of new supply; i.e. there is a decreasing trend in construction of new housing. Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014b) shows that in 2014 there was a shortage of 122,000 homes in regards to the population. During the period 2009-2012 the population grew of approximately 146,000 people, whereas during this period only 32,000 new homes were built. Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014b) claims that construction of housing needs to increase by a factor of four times to satisfy the increase in population. Given this gap in aggregate demand versus new supply, we can expect the population growth to significantly impact housing prices upwards (we will review supply of new construction in more detail in Section: 8.2.1). However, before we can draw this definite conclusion we need to look at the age structure and the categories of individuals that contribute to the population

growth, as they may have different financial situations. After all, it is partly their ability to receive financing that will determine their purchasing power of housing, and thereby their aggregate effects on the housing demand.



Graph 20. Population growth in Stockholm, divided into categories

Source: Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a, p. 11.

Graph 20 shows the net migration to Stockholm between years 2000-2013, divided into three categories: net birth rate (light-green), net urbanization (orange), and net foreign immigration (dark-green).

Net birth rate within Stockholm accounts for approximately 46% during this time span, and foreign migration accounts for approximately 43%. Though realistically, the number for foreign immigration is much higher. A large part of foreign immigrations are refugee immigrants who are seeking asylum, and due to the process of how asylum is approved and registered, the population statistics is not entirely true. Not until refugees receive official permit for asylum in Sweden are they included in the statistics (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a). Therefore, there are many foreign immigrants who are not included in the statistics. Unfortunately, we do not know the proportion of refugees relative to foreign immigrants who travel to Sweden under normal circumstances from the given data. Having this data would allow us to better determine the purchasing power of immigrants (who

contribute to a large portion of immigration to Stockholm), and thereby deduce their effect on aggregate demand of housing.

The absolute majority of people moving to Stockholm from other parts of Sweden are in the range of 20-29 years old (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a). After the age of 33 more people actually move out of Stockholm than in to Stockholm. Sørensen (2013) argues that people of different age structures influence the housing demand as they have different preferences in choosing housing units. Most people tend to move from smaller to larger homes until their 40s, when they establish families (and thus include more family members). Later in life they tend to move from larger to smaller homes. Therefore, a larger share of younger individuals relative to older people may raise the aggregate demand for housing for any given level of incomes, user costs and rents (Sørensen, 2013). Given that people moving to Stockholm are primarily between 21-29, one could assume that this contributes to an increase in housing prices as the aggregate demand increases. However, Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014a) argues that this age group has limited financial resources. People between the ages 21-29 are most likely financially constrained, given that a large portion within this age group that move to Stockholm are recent graduates of higher level studies, and therefore have limited experience (and accumulated income) in the working market. This leaves them with the choice to either rent apartments second hand, or continue living at home. In fact, it is common nowadays that individual's in their 20s live at home due to the difficulties of purchasing housing in Stockholm (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a). Considering that young people are financially constrained, and that they only amount to ~5% of Stockholm's population growth, this demographic is unlikely to significantly impact the housing market. The more significant portion (~43%) of immigrants to Stockholm is foreigners who largely consist of refugees. They too should be financially constrained as they have difficulties in establishing themselves in the working market, and probably have limited wealth due to war conditions in their home country (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014).

Let us clarify what we mean by financial constraints with an example. The average price for an apartment in the county of Stockholm was approximately 2.7 million SEK in 2014 (Statistics Sweden, 2015). To purchase this through a loan, they will need to meet the minimum requirement of 15% of the loan from their own pockets, as well as having a stable income. This would require the younger people and foreigners to put up 405,000 SEK of their own money to purchase an apartment. It is

unlikely that they have accumulated enough cash to meet the loan-to-value requirement of such apartments. Therefore, they are more prone to looking for housing in the outer regions of Stockholm, where prices are much lower, or look toward the rental market. As such, the demographic of younger people and foreign immigrants will primarily have an effect on aggregate demand for housing in the *outer* regions of Stockholm.

The expected *future* population growth trend could also have some impact on the present value of housing units. If we expect that population will continue to grow, then we can speculate that the aggregate demand for housing units will continue to increase and thereby have an increasing effect on the present value of housing. In other words, the future trend in population growth may affect peoples' assumptions of whether the housing prices will continue to increase.





Source: Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a, p.13.

Graph 21 shows a prognosis on the expected future population growth trend in Stockholm. The graph illustrates a high case and low case scenario.

The prognosis shows that the high population growth rate that has been witnessed in Stockholm during the past 10-20 years is expected to grow in a similar pace in several decades to come. The structure is expected to be similar too, i.e. the proportions of net birth rate, net urbanization, and net

foreign immigration will remain constant. There is one high case (orange dotted line) and one low case scenario (green dotted line) presented. The variations in these scenarios are primarily attributed to the number of refugees. Notice that this prognosis was done in 2014, and now in 2015-2016 we are witnessing the largest refugee crisis in Europe since World War II ("Enlighet krävs", 2015, Aug. 24). In 2015 there have been 112,000 refugees seeking asylum in Sweden. In October 2015 alone, the number was 39,000 ("Aktuell Statistik", n.d.). Stockholm is the city that has received most refugees in the country in 2015.

It is difficult to determine how the population increase due to refugees will impact the housing market in Stockholm. Naturally, demand for housing will go up as the population increases, but the financial availability for refugees seem to be somewhat constrained. They are not able to purchase homes at market prices in Stockholm and should therefore not contribute to an overall price increase on housing. On the other hand it may affect supply. Recently, there are great difficulties in being able to provide living accommodations in Sweden ("Flyktingströmmen ökar", 2015, Oct. 22). Arguably, the municipality of Stockholm will perhaps become forced to occupy households in the existing housing stock and future stock (newly constructed) in Stockholm (that is owned by the municipality) in order to provide accommodation for refugees. This in turn would result in less supply available in the market for potential homebuyers, thus reducing overall supply of housing. Will this potential decrease in supply have an effect on the overall housing market, driving prices upwards? It is not unlikely.

The construction of new homes has not been able to satisfy the increasing demand, where the gap has been consistently increasing since 2010 (graph 19). And now, with the refugee crisis, the gap between supply and increasing demand will increase further. If the trend in new construction continues at a similar rate as to previous years, the supply has no chance to meet the consistently increasing aggregate demand, and thus, *ceteris paribus*, housing prices will continue to increase.

In conclusion, a large portion of the population growth is a demographic that is financially constrained. These include younger people and foreign immigrants (and refugees). The result is a propensity to seeking housing alternatives in the outer regions of Stockholm (where households are cheaper), or living at home, or with friends and relatives. Given that the trend of net population growth continues upwards (and is expected to increase for decades to come) we can expect the

aggregate demand for housing to increase indefinitely (for both inner and outer regions of Stockholm). The construction of new housing is not growing at a similar rate as population growth. Therefore, the supply of new housing cannot meet the increase in aggregate demand. All in all, a large part of what contributes to the population growth in Stockholm seems to have the most significant effect on housing prices primarily in the *outer* regions of Stockholm, as many are financially constrained and therefore seek cheaper residency. Therefore we suggest that the effect of the increasing population on aggregate demand of housing is not as great as the numbers would suggest, since a large portion is not able to enter the housing market due to financial constraints.

8. The Supply Side of Housing

In this section we review the supply of housing in Stockholm. We start with a discussion of the importance of analyzing the supply side of housing. We then review the rental markets, divided into first-hand and second-hand rentals. We continue with a review of the market for supply of new housing, and will discuss various reasons as to why new construction is having difficulties in keeping up with the high aggregate demand for housing. Finally we look into the supply of housing within the already existing housing stock, by showing a trend of housing units for sale, as well as a discussion concerning mobility amongst current homeowners.

The dynamics of housing prices are often studied through demand side factors, even though the supply side has important implications for the dynamics of housing prices (Paciorek, 2013). For instance, real estate agents in Stockholm have argued that the low supply of housing in Stockholm may be one of the most important factors for the increasing housing prices ("Mäklarinsikt 2016:1", 2016). Therefore, we will review the different kinds of housing supply in Stockholm. The supply of housing in Stockholm can be categorized into the rental market and the market for owned housing. According to Muellbauer (2012), both the rental market and the market for owned housing impact the housing prices. Since rental apartments can function as a substitute for an owned home, the functioning of the rental market directly affects the market for owned housing can be seen as two different housing markets, a market for new housing construction and a market within the existing housing stock.

Due to the high demand for housing and the increase in housing prices over the years in Stockholm, advocates of well-functioning markets would expect the supply of new housing construction to respond to the price development (Shiller, 2008). However, as we will see, the new housing supply has been relatively low over time, and Englund (2011) argues that it is essential to understand why the supply of new housing in Sweden has been so modest despite intense price increases. According to Englund (2011) can a substantial increase in housing prices be an effect of new supply not being able to meet the demand. In other words supply is generally regarded inelastic in the short run in response

to increasing housing prices. We therefore analyze the market for new supply of housing in Stockholm and look at factors that may explain why the supply of new housing has been low and inelastic in Stockholm despite rising housing prices. The total supply of owned housing in Stockholm is however not only generated by the supply of new housing. The supply of owned housing is also impacted by the supply of housing within the existing housing stock. It is thus essential to review the supply of housing within the existing housing stock.

8.1 The Rental Markets

The rental market in Stockholm can be divided into two kinds of rentals, first-hand contracts and second-hand contracts. We will first look at the first-hand contract market in Stockholm and thereafter turn to the second-hand market. A common way to determine the right price for owned housing is to compare the costs for the owned housing with the costs of rental housing (Englund, 2011). We provide an example of second-hand rent versus buying a similar sized tenant-owned apartment in the same area of Stockholm.

8.1.1 The First-Hand Rental Market

The rents for first-hand contracts in Sweden are regulated by rent control. This means that the rents for first-hand contract apartments do not increase as a result from higher demand in the housing market but is instead negotiated between landlords and tenant representatives. The negotiation usually results in significantly lower rents than market rents. The low rents set by the rent control has been suggested as one of the reasons for the housing shortage in Stockholm as it may allow households to stay in unnecessary large housing (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014a)

We provide a view of the rents in the first-hand contract rental market, even though rent levels for first-hand contracts in Stockholm are difficult to obtain. One needs to bear in mind that rents differ due to various characteristics of the housing. In the following, we have average rents for one-room and two-room first hand rentals that were put out for second-hand rent on the Internet site *Blocket.se* (Jacobsson, 2015 Jul. 10). These provide a picture of the rent levels for first-hand rentals.

The average rent for a one-room apartment was 5,824 SEK while the average rent for a two-room apartment was 9,708 SEK as of the 10th of July 2015. These rents are significantly lower than the average rents tenant-owners charge for their one and two room apartments, 8,247 SEK and 12,051 SEK, respectively when renting out in second-hand (Jacobsson, 2015 Jul. 10).

The rental market for first-hand contracts in Stockholm has gone through a fundamental shift in the recent years, where tenants of first-hand rental apartments have been allowed to buy the rental apartments from public housing and private rental companies, to convert them into tenant-owned apartments. 112,000 first-hand rental apartments in Stockholm were converted into tenant-owned apartments between the year 2000 and 2011 (Swedish Central Bank, 2014). In order to convert the rentals, the tenants create an association that buys the property and each tenant becomes a tenant-owner of the apartment. The association owns the building and the tenant-owner owns the right to live in the apartment and pays a monthly fee to the association, instead of paying rents to the landlord. This fee should cover the tenant-owned apartments' share of the association's costs for interest, amortization and operating and maintenance costs ("Tenant-Owned", n.d.).

The benefits of converting a rental contract to a tenant-owned apartment have been large for those who have converted. First, the prices of the rental apartments that have been converted have usually been far lower than if the apartments had been sold in the open market ("Ombildning.nu", n.d.). For instance, a six-room apartment in the central Stockholm owned by the municipal public housing company *Svenska Bostäder* allowed the tenant to buy the rental apartment for 3 Million SEK in 2009, and only a month later the same apartment was put out for sale for around 9.5 million SEK with an expected sales price of above 10 million SEK (Berglund, 2010, Mar. 29). Second, the monthly fees can be kept lower than normal rents. Third, the tenant owner can deduct interest payments against taxable income. Moreover, the tenant owner has possibilities to renovate the apartment and the converted tenant-owned apartments can be sold in the open market to market prices. Rental contracts are severely limited in these aspects and it is usually impossible to sign away rental contracts from public housing ("Ombildning.nu", n.d.).

This shift from first-hand rental apartments to tenant-owned apartments has dried up the market for first-hand rentals in Stockholm and the proportion of rental apartments have decreased substantially.

When the number of available rental apartments decrease, the time for those waiting in line for rental apartments inevitably increases. The estimated waiting time for a first-hand contract rental apartment in Stockholm varies due to the location, size of housing, and the level of rent. For first-hand rental apartments in the city of Stockholm, the estimated waiting time is around 13 years. The waiting time in local suburban areas is estimated to 10 years while further away from the city is estimated to 8 years ("Hur lång tid", n.d.). According to the municipal rental department in Stockholm, the average waiting time for rental apartments in 2014 in the whole county was 7.7 years (Hellekant, 2015, Aug. 26). As of September 2013, more than 400,000 persons were waiting in line for a first-hand rental apartment in Stockholm, and as of 2015 close to 500,000 persons were in the municipal waiting line (Gustavsson, 2015, Aug. 19).

Since housing is a basic and urgent need, one cannot wait until one receives a first-hand rental contract. The long waiting lines have created a black market for first-hand rental contracts. The black market for rental contracts in Stockholm had a turnover of at least 1,200 million SEK in 2006 (Fastighetsägarna, 2006). According to Leijonhufvud (2014, Feb. 21), are the prices for first-hand rental contracts in the black market around 200,000 SEK per room for apartments in the center of Stockholm. However, there are several persons revealing that there are contracts that have been sold for over a million SEK on the black market even though it is illegal.

Consequently, with a significant waiting time and widespread black market for first-hand rental contracts, it is difficult to argue that the first-hand rental apartment's work as a substitute for owned apartments. As a result of the bad-functioning first-hand rental market, people needing housing in Stockholm that are unable to wait for a first-hand rental contract, and do not want to be involved in the black market, are forced to either rent in the second-hand market or buy in the open market.

8.1.2 The Second-Hand Rental Market

The second-hand market is composed of apartments and houses that are rented out by the owner for a limited time. By reviewing ads for second-hand rentals on the Internet site *Blocket.se*, we see that the market is characterized by relatively short-term contracts and the contract periods usually vary between some months to a year. In some cases there exists a possibility of extending the contract another year. Hence, from the renters' perspective, the second-hand market is less secure than having

a first-hand contract or owning a home as one may be forced to move out with relatively short notice. In February 2013, the government changed the rules for second-hand rentals, which loosened the previously restricted market rents for second-hand renting (Fastighetsägarna, 2013). The new rules allow homeowners to basically charge whatever the second-hand renter is willing to pay in rent, without allowing the renter the possibility to claim back the "overprice" as earlier regulation allowed. It became harder for associations of tenant-owned apartments to refuse homeowners that wanted to rent out their apartments second-hand. Furthermore, before the new regulations were implemented, a report was conducted by Finnochiaro, Nilsson, Nyberg, & Soultanaeva (2011), who stated that the private market for rental (second-hand market) was underdeveloped, which had limited the speculation opportunities.

From the renter's perspective, there is a risk that a large demand for housing pushes up the rents for second-hand rentals over time. The renter thus risks paying larger rents each month than an owned home potentially would cost each month. The second-hand rents in Stockholm have increased significantly in recent years as a consequence of the changes. In July 2015, the second-hand rents had increased by on average 40% since the new changes in the second hand market on the 1th of February 2013 (Jacobsson, 2015, Jul.10).

We will provide an example where we look at the costs of owning an apartment with the minimum down payment and compare it to the costs of renting an equally sized apartment on the Internet site *Blocket.se* (a site that is used as a tool to find second-hand rental apartments). The location is an important factor for pricing individual apartments and thus we try to find apartments in the same area. A complete comparison is however impossible as the price of apartments often is a combination of various factors like the fee to the association, the exact location and the size of the apartment. These factors are not observable for second-hand rentals since the second hand rent is a single fixed sum to the owner.

Example from *Blocket.se*: A furnished and renovated 1-room apartment on Kungsholmen (24 square meters) is rented out for 11,000 SEK per month (July 2015).

An overview from *Hemnet.se* (the site where almost all housing for sale in Sweden is advertised), we can find the sales for similar-sized apartments in Kungsholmen in July 2015:

Apartment for sale: 1-room apartment on Kungsholmen of 23 square meters with a monthly fee of 910 SEK sold for 3,050,000 SEK the 16th of July 2015. It was put out for sale for 2,195,000 SEK, and saw a price increase of 39% making the square meter price 132,609 SEK.

Assumptions: to calculate the monthly costs of Apartment 1, we assume a 15% down payment of the purchase price with Blanco-loan at 3%, no amortizations, a property tax of 1,200 SEK per year, and a 2% yearly interest rate of the remaining mortgage loan and the monthly fee of 910 SEK (See **Appendix 2** for calculations). The monthly cost of owning apartment 1 is 4,835 SEK. The cost of renting second-hand is 11,000 SEK.

Given the assumptions, the buyer can even amortize the difference between the rent of 11,000 per month and the monthly cost of 4,835. If the buyer amortizes the difference, 6,165 per month (11,000 - 4,835), the buyer still ends up with the same monthly cost as if he or she were to rent second-hand. This would yield a yearly amortization of around 73,500 SEK. With a yearly amortization of 73,500 SEK, 3,050,000 SEK are amortized in around 41 years. However, due to accumulated amortizations, the remaining loan that needs to be amortized decreases over time. This effectively reduces the interest that needs to be paid as the loan becomes smaller. This in turn may allow for increasing amortizations. This example is however sensitive to changes in the interest rates over time.

In the example we see that it would be cheaper each month to buy the apartment instead of renting, given that the assumptions hold. This also supports our simplified user cost model (Section 5.4), where we showed that user costs for owning are lower than renting. Also, this example does not include the hefty capital gains that homeowners can expect at the current appreciating housing price rates. However, we do not claim that this example justifies the current housing prices. Rather the example should illustrate that given the rents of second-hand rentals, buyers may justify buying housing if they can lower their monthly costs compared with renting in the second-hand market. In the prevailing interest rate environment, the monthly costs can be lower than compared to renting in the second-hand market, even if the buyer becomes heavily indebted.

As we have shown in Section: 6 concerning credit market developments, the debt levels in Sweden and particularly in Stockholm have increased substantially. The increase in debt people take on may indicate that people do not seem to have a problem of becoming indebted by owning. Furthermore, by purchasing, the housing buyer avoids having short-term contracts and the risk of having to move out with short notice. However, as housing prices have increased to historically high levels, buying housing may not be an alternative for credit constrained individuals. Credit constraint individuals may hence be forced to rent in the second-hand market. While credit-constrained individuals may be left to the second-hand rental market, others that are not credit-constrained may take advantage of the current market situation and own more apartments with the purpose of renting out in the second-hand market. For instance, the real estate agent Erik Olsson has reflected on this and says: "This can be seen Copenhagen and London, to name a few. The rules for what can be charged in rent have changed, and it has become more profitable to rent out second-hand. So we will now see purchases through speculation where all of a sudden more people own several apartments" (Burgerfeldt, 2015, Feb. 4).

The ability to charge market rent may also incentivize people to keep their housing with the purpose of renting out, instead of selling. According to *Svenska Dagbladet*, a man who put out his apartment for 15,000 SEK per month said: "I want to rent out so I can move home to my mom during the autumn and make some money" (Delling, 2013, Oct. 2). Another says that she was surprised that around 30 persons wanted to pay 12,000 SEK for her one-room apartment in the central Stockholm. "I would not have paid it myself to live in a one-room apartment in the central Stockholm, the rent covers my costs by far" (Delling, 2013, Oct. 2). The new rules that allow the owner to charge "market rents" in the second-hand market, may hence not only contribute to lower number of housing units for sale but may also increase the demand for housing as a result of individuals buying housing solely to rent them out.

To conclude, the first-hand rental market is underdeveloped and it proves to be very difficult to obtain first-hand rental contracts. Because of this individuals are either forced to: a) rent in the black market, b) rent second-hand, or c) purchase a home. We have also shown that new regulations for renting second-hand allow renters to set their own rent levels. These levels are far above the user costs of housing (costs for maintaining an owned home). This seems to have significantly impacted the aggregate demand for ownership of housing, and has thus contributed to the vast price growth rate in Stockholm during the last few years.

8.2 The Market for Supply of New Housing

The market for supply of new housing adheres to the construction of new housing. As we will see in this section, there may be several implications and regulations that hinder the construction of new housing.

It is difficult to determine how to analyze the supply of new housing since housing differs in sizes and costs of construction. Nonetheless, we look at the number of newly constructed housing units, which includes both houses and apartments.



Graph 22. Newly constructed housing units (completed) and population growth

Source: Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014b, p. 5.

Graph 22 shows the number of newly completed housing units and Stockholm's population growth. The orange line represents the need of 0.6 housing units needed per person (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014-1). Unfortunately there is no data available beyond 2012.

As we see, the historical building rates in Stockholm amounted to between 7,500 and 10,000 housing units per year before the Swedish crisis in early 1990s when the construction rates suddenly fell dramatically. The yearly new construction in Stockholm was on average around 5,000 housing units

from 1994 to 2005. Not until 2006 were the construction rates back to similar levels as prior to the crisis in the 90s, with the highest construction rates in 2008. Between 2009 and 2012 the housing units constructed in Stockholm averaged around 7500 per year. The rate of construction has however increased quite significantly since 2012, and in 2015 20,000 were expected to be built in Stockholm County. Despite this, there is still estimated to be a shortage in the years to come (Samuelsson, 2015, Apr. 14).

Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014b) estimated that in 2012 Stockholm had a housing shortage of around 122,000 housing units. It was suggested that the yearly construction rates in Stockholm need to amount to around 24,000 housing units per year due to the estimated population growth of around 40,000 persons per year, based on the assumption that 0.6 housing units is needed per person. Furthermore, Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014b) indicated that around 400,000 housing units need to be built in the county of Stockholm before the year 2030, in order to balance out the increasing need for housing and previously historically low building rates. As of 2015, the National Board of Housing (2015a) argues that the construction rates in Stockholm need to amount to around 18,700 housing units per year with a total of 261,600 housing units before year 2025.

The figures between Stockholm's Chamber of Commerce and The Swedish National board of Housing differ slightly in their estimations of the housing need in Stockholm due to estimations of population growth. However, having all these figures (even though estimations of population growth are indeed estimations), it is easy to determine that the housing market in Stockholm is characterized by a substantial housing shortage. At the same time, The National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2015a) suggests that the current need of new construction in the whole of Sweden amounts to 426,000 housing units before year 2020, in order to meet the population growth and to make up for previous low building rates. The National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2015a) hence estimate that around 71,000 housing units need to be constructed in Sweden each year before year 2020. In comparison to Sweden, we see that the housing shortage is particularly large in Stockholm and that a large amount of housing units need to be built in order to meet the demand. As we have reviewed, one may expect that the supply of new housing would have increased due to the rising sales prices of the built housing that the builders then can enjoy. However, there are factors that have hindered the supply to take off.

8.2.1 The Construction Industry and it's Building Capacity

As a result of the current housing shortage and the large amount of housing units needed, the construction industry in Sweden, and in particular Stockholm, need increasing building rates. Even though there is a historically large need for new housing in Stockholm, the capacity of the construction industry remains limited. One reason may be limitations of the building capacity in Stockholm. Jonas Hammarlund (Secretary in the state investigation "Better competition for increased housing building") says in an article published by *Dagens Nyheter*: "It is difficult to see that the Swedish companies have the capacity to build much more. They find it difficult to get skilled people…" (Spängs & Lucas, 2015, Jan. 7). In the same article, Mattias Lundgren, CEO of NCC Living, says the following when asked about the capacity of the construction industry: "In any case we are starting to reach the limit for what the industry is capable of. There is already an existing pool of competent personnel and it does not double because we are to build twice as many dwellings" (Spängs & Lucas, 2015, Jan. 7).

Hence, it seems that the construction industry is close to its capacity and may find it difficult to build in accordance with the increasing housing demand. Since the construction rates of new housing have been low despite increasing demand for housing and increasing housing prices over the years, it may not only be limited capacity within the construction industry that limit the housing supply.

8.2.2 The Regulatory Environment for Housing Construction

According to Malpezzi & Wachter (2002), the supply conditions of housing can also be limited by the regulatory environment. In 2010, the County Administrative Board in Stockholm conducted a report on the structural problems that the housing market in Stockholm faces in relation to new constructions (County Administrative Board, 2010). The report finds that new housing projects often are delayed or hindered in certain ways. Building permissions are needed in order to build housing in Sweden and these are commonly appealed. According to the report are appeals against projected housing the factor that most commonly contributes to delays in new constructions. According to the report, close to all projected new constructions of housing are appealed in the city of Stockholm and around half are appealed in suburbs. Reasons behind the appeals are often related to worry that the new construction will have a negative effect on the value of the appellees' own housing (County Administrative Board, market) and the suburb of the appellees' own housing (County Administrative Board, and the appealed in the city of Stockholm and around half are appealed in suburbs. Reasons behind the appeals are often related to worry that the new construction will have a negative effect on the value of the appellees' own housing (County Administrative Board, Parket and Parke

2010). Due to the appeals, the process from planning until the construction initiation commonly takes around three years, given that the construction starts. There have been examples of the planning process taking eight years until the initiation (County Administrative Board, 2010). The consequences of systematic appeals are lengthening and uncertain planning processes for the developer, which result in higher costs for the projected construction. Furthermore, the planned construction will not be built in the projected time, which contributes to lower and sluggish supply of new housing units. Moreover, the longer planning processes result in lower competition, as fewer developers are willing to take on construction projects (County Administrative Board, 2010). Historically have around 20% of all the projected housing constructions in Stockholm been abolished (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014b).

As we see, the process of obtaining building permission in Stockholm is complex and lengthening, which hinders new housing constructions and thereby limit new supply. On a positive note, it seems that the government has realized that the stringent rules hamper the rate of new construction. There are now discussions to make the regulatory environment for housing construction less cumbersome in order to increase the rate of new construction (Government Offices of Sweden, 2016) The suggestions include efforts to reduce the time required from initial planning phase to a completed build, and to increase the building capacity.

8.2.3 Production Costs

Another reason as to why new production has not been able to meet aggregate demand is the costs that are incurred during production of a new building - high production costs, relative to what a finished build can be sold for, may imply that it is not profitable to build. Production costs in Sweden are among the highest in Europe, and in Stockholm they are the highest in Sweden (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015a). Production costs can be separated into two categories: construction costs and developer costs (Bergendal, Löfmark, & Lind, 2015). Construction costs are the necessary costs that are required to construct the actual building. These costs consist primarily of transaction costs, materials and labor. Developer costs include interests, municipal fees and the purchase of land. Notice that land is not included as a part of construction costs. This is because the land is already owned by somebody. So if it were up to the owner whether to build or not to build,

they only take the costs of actually constructing the building into account (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). It is therefore up to the owner of the land to decide whether they want to keep the land as it is, or build. As such, the cost of land is handled as a separate cost from construction costs.

Production costs do not say much without taking the expected market value of which a finished housing unit is able to sell for. The relationship of production costs versus market value of a sale is what determines whether it is affordable to build or not. We will not thoroughly be analyzing productions costs in relation to market value of selling a completed unit, to determine whether a build is profitable or not. This is because we lack data for production costs relative to market value of sold housing units. Instead, we will look at a report conducted by the National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2015b) which uses Tobin's Q to measures the relationship between construction costs and market value. Tobin's Q is measured by taking the market values of a completed build (the price at which the housing unit is sold on the market), divided by the construction costs (which in this case is the cost to build). A Tobin's Q value of above 1 implies that it is profitable to build. When taking profit into account, developers are looking for values above approximately 1.2 (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). When measuring Tobin's Q, it makes use of *construction costs* and not production costs. In other words, the developer costs are not included, where the most essential of these costs is land. Thus the values are slightly skewed and will portray a higher profitability since the cost of land is not taken into consideration.

The municipality of Stockholm is the major owner of land in Stockholm, owning up to 70% of the land (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). If the municipality does *not* build housing themselves, they can sell the land to external developers. The prices that the land will be sold for must be sold at market prices according to law. This is to eliminate the risk of selling land too cheaply, and thereby giving the buyer an advantage, as their production costs will be lower than what is set by the market, which ultimately distorts competition between different actors (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). The prices of land are therefore fair, and the price that buyers are willing to pay for land will be determined by the budgets that are devised to maximize profit. Buyers estimate the price at which they will be able to sell the finished housing unit, subtracted

by the costs to build. The result (after taking profit into consideration) is the price that they are willing to bid for the land.

It is not much more expensive per square meter to build a building higher. A one-to-two floor building would cost much more per square meter than three floors or more. The marginal cost for adding floors is therefore decreasing. Land in the inner regions of Stockholm is more expensive than the outer regions. Even so, the expensive land prices are usually compensated by building higher and tighter, so the expected value (that developers will be able to sell finished units for) outweigh the additional costs of production (including land). This can be clarified by comparing Tobin's Q of inner versus out regions. In 2009, the Tobin's Q value for apartments in the most central area of Stockholm was at a maximum of 2.90. In 2014, the maximum value was 3.68 (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). These values show an increasing trend and are far above 1; and even when taking land costs into consideration, it is still very profitable to build in central Stockholm. Although construction costs have increased consistently the past decades, housing prices have increased at a faster rate which contributes to an increasing Tobin's Q. As such, there is a very high demand for land in the inner regions, and this demand has increased in parallel to the increasing housing prices. So, it is not the actual costs of construction that drives housing prices upwards (especially so in the inner regions of Stockholm), but rather the very limited supply of land in combination with high demand for housing (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b).

After the financial crisis in 2008, Tobin's Q was relatively low in the outer regions in Stockholm (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). Only building in the inner regions was profitable at this time. Given that a construction takes several years to build, this may be a reason to why there is so little new supply of housing units in the current market. However, the Tobin's Q value has increased significantly for the outer regions during recent years (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). Given that the values have increased in the outer regions, one could expect that construction will pick up in these regions, boosting new supply. Unfortunately, this does not seem be the case. One reason for this may be that the construction industry is not saturated; they simply do not have the resources to build enough to cover demand. Furthermore, although profitability of building new housing units in the outer regions has increased, land is scarce. In essence, where demand for new construction is the largest (where profits can be attained), very little

land (or no land) is available, making construction impossible. At the same time, where land *is* available, construction is much less profitable, where projects may struggle to break-even (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). In fact, Tobin's Q has increased during recent years because the construction costs have increased at a slower rate than the housing prices. According to National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2015b) have the costs for land increased at a *faster* rate than the housing prices. The purchase of land is nowadays the single largest cost for developers (Stockholm Chamber of Commerce, 2014b). This may be an explanation why there has been so little production in Stockholm despite increasing values of Tobin's Q.

Even if land is available for construction, this does not immediately imply that housing units will be built. Owners of the land may instead choose to wait to build or sell the land in hopes for a more profitable scenario in the future (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). For instance, if housing prices are expected to increase, or construction costs are expected to decrease, it will be more profitable to build in the future. So even if the present value of Tobin's Q is above 1, making it profitable to build now, they may expect an even higher value in the future. By choosing *not* to build will keep supply low, which further contributes to increasing housing prices in the future. Given that housing prices are still increasing at such a rapid pace, landowners are incentivized to wait with housing production. Furthermore, the currently low interest rate, in combination with insufficient building capacity in the construction industry, further incentivizes the choice of postponing a build (National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2015b). This may be a contributing factor as to why land is scarce (or unavailable) even in the outer regions where construction would be profitable at the present.

In essence, where land is scarce, it is profitable to build, and where land is available, it is difficult to break even. So despite the fact that construction costs have increased in a slower rate than the housing prices, thus making construction more profitable, development of new units is not able to meet demand due to the scarcity of land.

8.3 The Supply within Stockholm's Existing Housing Stock

We will now be reviewing the supply of the existing housing stock in Stockholm.



Graph 23. Housing units for sale

Source: Hemnet; and own calculations

Graph 23 shows the trend of the number of housing units out for sale (the existing housing stock) for both houses and apartments in Stockholm, between years 2008-2016. The data is a 6 month moving average on weekly data. Data is unavailable before 2008.

As we can see in the graph, the number of housing units for sale has decreased significantly in the recent years. Interestingly, the number of units for sale increased quite significantly during mid-2011 to early 2012. This was during a time when expectations in Stockholm were low (See graph 9 in Section: 5.2), mortgage rates had a period where they were increasing (See graph 11, Section 5.3) and housing prices were decreasing (See graph 1 in Section: 3). Since early 2011, the number of units for sale have decreased consistently. In the meantime, expectations on future housing prices have increasing. There seems to be an undeniable correlation between the number of housing units for sale on the market, and

the movement of expectations, mortgage rates, and housing prices. This is precisely the behavior one could expect. The increase of housing units for sale in mid-2011 to early 2012 is a result of homeowners believing that housing prices will go down, and costs for servicing a home was becoming more expensive. They were therefore willing to sell in order to avoid losses on future capital gains.

The low supply in Stockholm has frequently been debated with the concern that the housing market is characterized by low mobility and that the lower mobility leads to lower supply within the existing housing stock (see for instance Liljeberg & Eliasson, 2014, Feb. 20; and "Svensk bostadsmarknad", 2015, May. 26). "Low mobility" in this section may be thought of as a low ability or willingness to move from the current home in favor for another home. A "low mobility" hence contributes to lower supply of the existing housing stock. For instance, Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2011) analyzed the mobility of the housing market in Stockholm in 2011, and found that around 50,000 housing units are considered too large by those that live in them. A low mobility hence implies that fewer people are willing to change housing despite changing housing needs. There are reasonably different reasons behind the low mobility in Stockholm and we intend to cover some aspects.

In 2011, Englund (2011) describes the process of selling and buying housing in Sweden as a puzzle. It is reasonably more so in the current housing market in Stockholm due to the rapid sales processes. Real estate agents, and the nationwide housing ad website *Hemnet.se*, report that around 25% of the housing units in Stockholm were sold before the public viewing in year 2014 (Billner & Rolander, 2015, Feb. 23). Consequently, homeowners in Stockholm that previously wanted to change housing face a different housing market where the housing for sales commonly are sold only within days and sometimes the same day as published. Therefore, housing buyers have to act fast. Since homeowners commonly need to sell the current housing before they can purchase another, the current market lowers the ability to plan a move in advance. Households that previously could go to different viewings now have to act immediately in order to have a chance on the housing for sale (Billner & Rolander, 2015, Feb. 23). On one hand, the current market may allow people to sell their housing in Stockholm rapidly which then can allow them to observe housing coming out for sale. On the other hand, selling the current housing first may not come without concern as the seller does not know what

kind of housing that will be available and affordable within the time frame (the time from the sale until they have to move out of the sold housing).

Competing for housing also requires that one is willing and able to join the bidding wars that are common. While it is increasingly difficult to change housing in the market for owned housing in Stockholm, it is at the same time a waiting time of above 10 years in order to obtain a first-hand rental contract, which restricts the possibility of renting instead of owning. As previously mentioned, some people may prefer to rent out in second-hand instead of selling, as they are able to charge market rents, which may contribute to lower supply of owned housing than otherwise. Moreover, it is expensive to change housing in Sweden due to different transaction costs in terms of the capital gain tax that has increased further in recent years, and real estate agent fees.

The ability to postpone capital gain taxes became more restricted in 2008, and it is now considered to be more favorable to pay the capital gain taxes immediately (Crofts, 2014, Apr. 7) (Review Section: 5.1.5). As housing prices have increased considerably, and the sellers are left with less money for a new housing purchase if they sell (due to capital gains tax and agent fees), the propensity to move has likely decreased. The capital gain tax may become particularly large for those that bought housing before the significant price development or converted their rental apartment to a tenant-owned apartment at a price far below the market price at that time.

What furthermore seems to impact the mobility within the existing housing stock in Stockholm is that the user cost for staying in an owned housing has been substantially low over the years due to a combination of user cost factors. For instance, the maximum tax cap has decreased the yearly taxation for homeowners in Stockholm particularly, the mortgage rate is historically low, 30% of the interest payments are still tax deductible, longer amortization periods that lower the monthly payments are common, and the ability to extract equity on the perceived housing value has increased with the housing price development. As a consequence, it may thus not be possible to lower the housing costs to such a degree that incentivizes a change in housing. Hence, people may not need to adjust their housing costs by changing down the ladder as their circumstances change.

The already low supply may generate even lower supply within the existing housing stock, as it in practice is relatively difficult to change housing. Furthermore, in September 2015, the supply of

housing units for sale was at record-low levels (Lucas, 2015, 02 Sep.). It is however difficult to analyze to what degree the historically low supply within the existing housing stock impacts the housing prices, but it is reasonable that the low supply raises the prices of the housing actually sold. According to a survey by "Mäklarinsikt 2016:1" (2016), real estate agents in Stockholm believe that the low supply of housing may be the factor that affects the housing prices most.

9. Summaries and Conclusions

In this section will briefly summarize the sections throughout the thesis (sections 3-8). Subsequent to this we will provide the basis for answering our two research questions by analyzing demand and supply factors (thereby explaining why the housing prices have developed to its current state), as well as discussing various future scenarios of changing fundamental factors. Finally we will discuss what the indicators of price-to-income and price-to-rent point towards – whether housing prices seem to be deviating from its fundamentals.

9.1 Summaries

9.1.1 The Price Development in Stockholm

Stockholm has witnessed tremendous growth in housing prices since the Swedish banking crisis ended in 1994. We provided a graph of the real price development of houses in Sweden and Stockholm since 1986. The graph illustrates a real price increase of houses in Stockholm of 330% and in Sweden of 200% since the mid-1990s. The house prices in Stockholm grew consistently until the global financial crisis in 2008, but recuperated shortly thereafter. Only in 2012 did Stockholm experience another small dip in prices before appreciating again. During the last 3 years, Stockholm has had an escalating growth rate. Although Agnello & Schuknecht (2009) argued that the price boom had ended in 2008, it turned out that the dip was only temporary. Instead, we argue that the boom has been continuous since 1994, which makes the housing boom in Sweden one of the longest booms of all time.

We also provided a graph for the growth in prices of apartments; unfortunately the data is only available since 2005. The graph shows that apartments in Stockholm have grown at a close to identical rate as for Sweden. When comparing to house prices, apartment prices have grown at an even quicker rate. Although apartment prices have had an identical growth rate in Sweden and Stockholm, one must realize that the prices in nominal amounts of apartments in Stockholm is substantially higher than for Sweden, so the growing prices affect the affordability in Stockholm to a larger extent. The same is true for house prices.

9.1.2 Housing Prices and Disposable Income

Englund (2011) provided a graph showing the relationship between real house prices and real disposable income per capita between years 1970-2010. During this period, real disposable income had increased at a faster rate than house prices. However, since 1995 the relationship has been reversed - housing prices have increased at a faster rate than disposable income.

We argued that using real disposable income per capita did not take the households size into account. Two households with similar disposable income, but different number of dwellers, will have differences of their affordability. Therefore, we introduced a measure called *equalized disposable income* that takes the households size into consideration. The equalized disposable income has on average always been higher in Stockholm than in Sweden since 1991 until today. House prices have, since 1991, increased at a faster rate than equalized disposable income. For Stockholm, house prices have increased 83% faster, and for Sweden house prices have increased 45.8% faster. It is apparent that the increase in housing prices in relation to income during the past 20 years has not been close to unity, which is a discrepancy to what literature on price-to-income would suggest.

9.1.3 Regulatory Environment Developments

Prior to 2008, a household had to pay a percentage of the assessed value of the home, and there was no maximum cap on the taxation. In 2008, there was a reformation of the tax and instead a municipal property fee was introduced. This fee has a maximum cap of 6,000 SEK for a house and 1,200 SEK for a tenant-owned apartment. We then showed the impact of this tax reformation by using an example for both houses and apartments. A house with a market value of 10 million SEK had a cost of taxation was 75,000 SEK per year (before 2008) and 6,000 SEK per year (after 2008). For an apartment with a market value of 2,723,000 SEK the cost of taxation was 8,169 SEK per year (before 2008), and 1,200 SEK per year (after 2008).

The examples show that the cost of yearly taxation was hugely reduced as a result of the tax reformation (especially so for houses as the new regulation benefited house owners to a larger degree). Owning a home had become much cheaper due to the tax reformation, which most likely increased the willingness to own a home (relative to renting). Homeowners could enjoy significant extra net cash savings each month due to the reduced taxation. Arguably, this has increased the

demand for owning a home significantly, and can be considered one of the main reasons as to why the housing market did not bust during the global financial crisis.

To compensate for the losses to the state as a result of lower taxes, the capital gains tax was simultaneously increased from 20% to 22%. It has been argued by several sources that the increase in taxation, in combination with transaction costs (real estate agent fees), has created a "lock-in" effect, i.e. homeowners become more reluctant to sell. This has restricted supply in the existing supply stock, and thus has allowed for increasing housing prices.

9.1.4 Expectations on Future Housing Prices

We provided a "housing price indicator" that measures the population's expectations on future housing prices. The indicator shows that expectations moves in accordance with housing prices. During times of booming prices, expectations are high, and during busts expectations are low. Unfortunately, the data for expectations is scarce, as we are only able to provide data for approximately 2 years in Stockholm. Still, the data shows that expectations in Stockholm have been consistently higher than in Sweden. Also, expectations have been hitting all-time highs during 2015.

The data does in no way determine whether the expectations are irrational (i.e. not based on fundamentals), but it does clearly demonstrate that expectations are extrapolative. On the other hand, there are some indications that expectations may be (too) high. According to Case & Shiller (2003), there is reason for concern when closing prices are higher than asking prices as this may cause "panic and prices become irrelevant". Data shows that closing prices are consistently higher than asking prices (from the random sample, the closing price is on average 15% higher than asking prices). Furthermore, high expectations (especially so during long periods of price appreciation) has led to vast amounts of speculation. Studies have shown that speculation can fuel a price boom, contributing to further deviations from underlying fundamentals. There are many sources that claim that there is vast speculation in Stockholm, and is a viable concern. For instance, many own double households (viewing a household purchase as a mere investment). One source claims that two thirds of newly constructed apartments are bought for speculation purposes, without the intention of moving in. Others purchase households under intention of renting out second-hand, at higher prices than their user costs. Arguably, it does seem that expectations in Stockholm may be irrationally high, which in

turn has allowed for housing prices to increase further as demand for housing has continued to increase.

9.1.5 Mortgage Rates

The nominal mortgage rates in Sweden have had a consistently declining trend since 1985 until today. The costs of financing a mortgage loan have therefore become cheaper over time, in nominal amounts. To reflect the real costs of mortgage rates, we adjusted the nominal mortgage rates by taking expected inflation and tax deductibility into account (real after-tax interest rate). There were reforms on tax deductibility in 1991, changing tax deductibility from 50% to 30%, which increased the real after-tax rate.

Prior to 1990, the real after-tax rate was negative (largely due to high inflation), but then soared during the Swedish banking crisis. The real after-tax rates have since then consistently declined, and are today once again negative, for the first time in 25 years. This implies that due to expected inflation, and tax deductibility, the costs of financing a mortgage loan has been declining consistently, and is today practically *free*. There seems to be undeniable evidence of the correlation between lower mortgage rates and higher housing prices. As mortgage rates are now at an all-time low, housing prices are at an all-time high.

We also reviewed the trend in maturities of mortgage loans. The variable rates (shorter maturities) have been consistently lower than fixed rates (longer maturities) for 20 years. Accordingly, mortgage borrowers have gone from choosing longer maturities to shorter maturities. In 1996, less than 10% of mortgage borrowers chose variables rates, whereas 20% chose fixed rates longer than 5 years. Today, 60% of all mortgage loans have variable rates, and for new mortgage loans, 76% are variable rates. Only a few percent choose fixed rates longer than 5 years. Choosing shorter maturities allows for mortgage borrowers to afford larger mortgages. On the other hand, mortgage borrowers also face higher risk, as they are more vulnerable to mortgage rate fluctuations. Therefore, a large number of homeowners with mortgage loans today may become distressed when mortgage rates increase.

9.1.6 A Simplified User Cost of Housing Model

Using three key components (taxes, mortgage rates, and expectations on future capital gains) we constructed a simplified user most model to illustrate the trend in user costs for a home owner. The 5 year fixed mortgage rates was used as a proxy for expected future mortgage rates, taxes were given a fixed unit of 0.75% of the market price, and expected future capital gains were estimated using the average growth rate of the house price index over the last three years. The graph shows that user costs have been negative since 1999, which is mostly attributed to high expectations. This essentially means that ownership of housing has been *free* and homeowners have even made profits due to capital gains increases for the past 16 years. Though we do not provide a unit measure for rents, we explain that the cost for renting is always positive. Therefore, the price-to-rent ratio indicates that it has been more favorable to own than to rent between years 1999-2016.

9.1.7 Credit Market Developments

The credit market in Sweden became deregulated in the mid-80s which led to intensified competition between banks and credit institutions, which in turn made credit more available for borrowers. In combination with amortization-free loans (which were introduced in the early 2000s), this has led to more mortgage lending. Chart 1 showed this explicitly, as mortgage debt in relation to GDP has increased greatly since year 2000.

Due to "unsound" lending practices (where mortgage borrowers in some instances borrowed the full amount of the market value of the home, i.e. 100% LTV), *Finansinspektionen* introduced a maximum LTV ratio of 85% in 2010. The effect did seem to slow down mortgage lending to a certain extent, however mortgage debt has continued to increase in relation to GDP. We argued that a reason for this may be that the 85% LTV ratio has only appeared as a general guideline for banks, and that homeowners have been able to refinance their mortgage debts by revaluating their homes at any given time. It has been said that Swedish households use their homes as a "cash machine" by taking on even more mortgage debt as their collateral value has increased in relation to increasing housing prices.

As there have been no amortization requirements on the bottom loans of mortgages, a phenomenon of an unsound amortization culture has become prevalent. A study that sampled mortgages from the eight largest mortgage providers in Sweden showed that those that amortize on their bottom loans in Sweden require an amortization time of more than 140 years. Arguably, the amortization-free loans have allowed for mortgage borrowers to take on great amounts of mortgage debt (especially so in Stockholm which has the highest mortgages in Sweden).

To curb this bad amortization culture, and to safeguard the Swedish economy being affected negatively by macroeconomic disturbances, *Finansinspektionen* issued a press release on 11th of March 2015 that introduced new amortization requirements for new mortgage loans, which was intended to be implemented 1st of August 2015. The implementation was postponed due to uncertainties about legal position, but will now be implemented 1st of June 2016. The new amortization requirements would require yearly amortizations down to 50% of the value of the loan, and only allow for revaluation once every 5 years. This would affect new mortgage borrowers greatly as their yearly cash flow would become significantly reduced. The consequence of the press release was that the already hot market became even hotter, as extreme bidding wars became ubiquitous in Stockholm before 1st of August 2015. This indicates that mortgage borrowers value amortization-free loans highly, and were willing to pay marked-up prices in purchasing the home before the requirements came into effect. Arguably, this may be one reason for the extreme housing price development during 2015.

We looked at household debt in relation to disposable income in Stockholm. The debt ratio has increased at an astounding rate since year 2000, and is today at an all-time high. The debt ratio for new mortgage loans in Sweden was in 2014 366%, and 482% in Stockholm. We showed that debt ratios of these magnitudes can potentially imply severe consequences in case of stressed mortgage rate scenarios. At a debt ratio of 482%, and mortgage rate at 8%, the interest ratio (ratio of disposable income used for mortgage payments) would be 26.7%. A debt ratio of 600%, which is not uncommon in Stockholm, would imply an interest ratio of 35%. Finally, we argued that even mortgage rates at a more normalized level (6%) could have significant effects on the Swedish economy as consumption would vastly reduce.

The intensified competition between banks and credit institutions, cheap financing due to low mortgage rates, and amortization-free loans, have all contributed to significant increase in mortgage borrowing and the fueling of housing prices. The high debt ratios that are prevalent today indicate that
the situation is precarious, as an increase in mortgage rates could have severe consequences for the Swedish economy.

9.1.8 Demographics

Stockholm has witnessed astonishing growth in population, especially so since 2009. Only \sim 5% of the growth can be attributed to urbanization, whereas \sim 46% was attributed to birth rates and \sim 43% was attributed to foreign immigration.

We provided a graph showing net population growth in comparison to newly constructed housing units. The trend clearly shows that population has outgrown new construction since 1990, and the gap has widened even further since 2010. Data shows that the increase in population has far outgrown the supply of newly constructed housing units. However, before we drew the conclusion that this would lead to increasing aggregate demand, we also looked at the age structure and financial affordability of the demographic. The majority of people moving to Stockholm were younger people between 20-29 years of age. According to Sørensen (2013) and Englund (2011), younger people tend to move from smaller to larger homes, whereas older people tend to move from larger homes to smaller homes. Therefore, a larger share of younger individuals relative to older people may raise the aggregate demand for housing for any given level of incomes, user costs and rents. On the other hand, Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014) claims that this age group is financially constrained since they have limited accumulated income from working experiences, and cannot afford the expensive prices in Stockholm. Sources claim that many individuals in their 20s choose to live at home due to the difficulties of purchasing a home. For foreign immigration, a large portion consists of foreign refugees. This is also a demographic that is assumed to be financially constrained.

We provided a prognosis of the future population growth in Stockholm, which portrayed a high case and low case scenario. Given the vast number of refugees that migrated into Sweden in late 2015, and that more refugees are expected to seek asylum in Sweden, the higher case scenario is likely to occur unless there is some change in foreign immigration policy. Still, it is unlikely that refugees will be able to impact aggregate demand in a significant way, given their financial constrain. Even though Stockholm has witnessed high population growth, it remains uncertain as to what degree they are able to affect aggregate demand in such an expensive housing market. We argue that it is probably to a lower extent than the "numbers" would suggest due to financial constrain. Nonetheless, it is impossible to ignore that such high population growth numbers has undoubtedly led to higher aggregate demand of housing, and probably will for some time to come.

9.1.9 The Supply Side of Housing

For the supply side of housing we reviewed the rental markets, market for new supply (construction), and the existing housing stock.

<u>The Rental Markets</u>

We reviewed the first-hand and second-hand rental market in Stockholm. The number of first-hand rental apartments has decreased substantially between 2000 and 2011, whilst people that want first-hand contracts are more than 500,000; which has resulted in estimated waiting times above 10 years for a first-hand rental contract in Stockholm. It is hence possible to see that the first-hand contract market for rental apartments in Stockholm is not a substitute for those in immediate need of housing. The long waiting time for first-hand contracts force people to either rent in the more expensive second-hand rental market or to buy housing in the open market. In the provided example, we compared the monthly costs of renting in the second-hand market versus the monthly costs of buying an apartment in order to lower its monthly costs instead of renting a similar apartment in the second-hand market. Buying may however not be an option for everyone since a housing purchase generally requires a down payment. Credit constrained households may therefore be forced to rent in the second-hand market.

Finnochiaro et al., (2011) argued that an undeveloped private market for second-hand rentals had limited speculation within the rental market. However, since the 1th of February 2013, the housing market in Stockholm has become more developed as people are allowed to rent out and charge market rents. This regulatory change may lower the incentives to sell the housing while it may increase the incentives to own apartments with the purpose of renting out. The more developed second-hand rental has led to more speculation within the housing market in Stockholm, as there are those who speculate with the purpose of renting out second-hand at marked up prices. Hence, the regulatory change and

the substantial increase in second-hand rents may thus contribute to larger demand for owned housing and decreased supply, which ultimately push up the housing prices of the sold housing units.

The Market for Supply of New Housing

The low rates of new construction have over a long time contributed to the current and significant housing shortage in Stockholm despite increased demand and rising housing prices. The construction rate has improved during the past 2-3 years, but is still not able to meet increasing aggregate demand. Therefore, there is still expected to be a housing shortage for several years to come.

There are various factors that have impacted the new housing supply negatively over the years and contributed to higher housing prices. The building capacity seems to be at its maximum capacity, and is therefore not able to meet the needs of increased aggregate demand. The regulatory environment related to housing construction in Stockholm has hindered and delayed constructions of new housing in various ways, while it simultaneously raises the costs of housing constructions. Furthermore, the little buildable land available for housing construction in Stockholm has made it difficult to build, and consequently raises the prices of buildable land, which makes completed housing constructions more expensive than otherwise. Also, we have shown by the use of Tobin's Q that where it is profitable to build, there is very little to no land available. Therefore, it is difficult for construction companies to find profitable opportunities. These complex, ineffective and expensive processes contribute to increasing housing prices. The housing shortage is furthermore expected to increase in the coming years in accordance with the substantial population growth. It hence seems to become a challenge for the regulators to unify the current regulations and processes with increased building rates. Additionally, due to the high rates of housing construction needed in Stockholm the coming years, combined with the substantial need for construction in other parts of Sweden, it poses a major challenge for the construction industry in Sweden and particularly in Stockholm that is already building close to its limits. On the other hand, the government has proposed suggestions that will loosen the cumbersome regulations, in order to increase building capacity and reduce the time for construction between planning and a completed build.

The Supply within Stockholm's Existing Housing Stock

The supply within the existing housing stock in Stockholm has decreased over the years. We showed that there seems to be an undeniable relationship between the number of housing units for sale on the market with expectations, mortgage rates, and the housing price development.

We have reviewed factors that may impact the propensity to change housing, and thereby explain the low mobility in Stockholm. These factors indicate that it currently may not be economically favorable to change housing by selling, which seem to affect the supply in the existing housing stock negatively. A contributing factor for the low supply of owned housing may be the ability to charge market rents on the housing in the second-hand market.

Hence, the current housing market with rapid sales times, in combination with low incentives to change housing, seem to lower the supply within the existing housing stock further. Moreover, the sales processes are usually conducted rapidly (sometimes within a few days), which may make it problematic to change housing and seem to lower the observable housing supply further. The low supply within the existing housing stock intensifies the bidding wars for the housing actually for sale and push up the prices.

9.2 Is the Market Overvalued and/or Sustainable in the Long Run?

Now, the two big questions remain: Is the housing market in Stockholm overvalued? Is the price development of the housing market sustainable in the long run? Some experts claim that the development has been a consequence of fundamental factors, and price is therefore "fair"; whereas others have been skeptical and have warned for a bubble burst (especially during recent years). So, naturally it is difficult to determine whether the market is overvalued (and thereby at the peak of a bubble), or if the price development trend is sustainable. This is partly because we cannot determine to what extent each factor affects the market. Also, to what degree does each factor affect each other? At what point do prices go from being "fair" to "overvalued?" These are difficult questions to address, and there may in fact be no correct answer. Nonetheless, below we provide a discussion of the fundamental factors that will be the basis for answering our two research questions.

9.2.1 Discussing the Fundamental Factors

Due to the tax reformation in 2008, the municipal property tax is today very low, and as we have seen this has had substantial effects on the extra cash homeowners have over after taxes. This has made home ownership more lucrative, as the monthly costs for home ownership have been significantly reduced. As these tax reformations were done in 2008, it seems to have had a substantial effect on mitigating the effects of the financial crisis (through increasing incentives for home ownership), thereby avoiding a housing bust. The tax is today so low, that in order to make the market *more* generous would be to abolish the tax entirely. But this would generate tax losses for the government. Furthermore, the capital gains tax increased from 20 to 22% in 2008, which arguably generated a "lock-in" effect, which has restricted supply in the existing housing stock. If the municipal property tax *were* to be abolished, the capital gains tax would have to increase further to compensate for tax losses. This is not something the government wants to do, as it would restrict mobility (and supply) even further. Reducing capital gains tax losses for the government. So the possible future scenario is to either keep the taxes at the current level, or increase municipal taxes. An increase in municipal taxes would make home ownership less favorable, and will reduce aggregate demand.

Expectations have been high, and during 2015 expectations have been at record-high levels. The long price appreciating trend seems to have generated solid expectations on further price increases, and a home purchase may therefore be considered a "safe" investment. Perceiving a home purchase as "safe" may be the cause for huge amounts of speculation in Stockholm (in many different forms). The vast amount of speculation is indeed concerning, and seems to have had a substantial effect on the increasing housing prices. For instance, as speculators enter the market, aggregate demand increases, and keeps the supply considerably low. Especially since speculators purchase with the intention of never moving in, only to reap benefits from expected capital gains or rent out second-hand. Furthermore, closing prices are also far above asking prices. Therefore there is also reason to believe, in accordance with Case & Shiller (2003), that potential buyers in Stockholm are in a state of panic where they feel that they need to enter the market before it is too late.

These are all indications that expectations may indeed be at an "irrational" level already. Recall that "irrational" expectations are considered a key component to the cause of a bubble (i.e. the market is overvalued), so these abovementioned factors alone may indicate that there is indeed a bubble. It is unlikely that expectations can increase to even higher levels in the future since housing prices have, during recent years, witnessed incredible growth rate. Such growth cannot last forever, and as soon as prices show indications of slowing down, so will expectations. A lowering of expectations leads to reduced aggregate demand which will slow down the market. In turn, speculators may perceive that the market is becoming more perilous and will extract from the market. Aggregate demand reduces further, and supply increases (as their investments will now be available for sale on the market). This may fuel price depreciation, exacerbating an eventual bust phase.

Mortgage rates are at an all-time low, and allows for mortgage borrowers to take larger mortgages as they are able to finance their mortgage for low costs. The costs for financing a mortgage loan has never been as low as it is today in nominal amounts. Looking at the real-after tax rate, the costs of financing a mortgage is today practically *free*. Low costs of financing allow mortgage borrowers to take high loans and still manage their monthly payments comfortably. Naturally, the consistently lowering of mortgage rates has caused a consistent increase (over time) in aggregate demand of the quality of housing (as people can afford more expensive homes) as well as the quantity (increasing number of potential home buyers). Due to these extremely low financing costs (today at its lowest point in 25 years), individuals have huge incentives for purchasing a home; especially if they are also able to expect additional capital gains on top. Therefore we argue that the decreasing trend in mortgage rates is one of the most essential factors that has allowed for housing prices to appreciate.

The nominal mortgage rates are today far below what is considered "normal". So, it is highly unlikely that rates can become even lower - the only way is to remain constant, or go up. As such, costs for financing a home has reached its lowest state (cannot become cheaper). Since many mortgage borrowers today choose variable rates, they are very sensitive to eventual mortgage rate increases. An increasing mortgage rate may affect variable mortgage borrowers heavily as their monthly payments increase. This will lead to decreasing aggregate demand for housing, as fewer people are able to finance the mortgage payments.

Availability of credit has been lax since 2000 due to deregulation (and thereby increasing competition between financial institutions). At the same time there have been no amortization requirements on bottom loans. This seems to be very lucrative for mortgage borrowers, as they do not seem to mind taking huge mortgages as long as they can finance their monthly payments. The willingness to take on huge mortgage loans is likely due to the high expectations on future prices - the large mortgage does not matter since they can revalue their mortgage at any time (when the value of the home has increased they can even acquire lower rates as the collateral has increased), and when they sell their home they will easily be able to pay off the loan and still reap a generous capital gain. When the 5 year limit on revaluing collateral will be implemented on 1st of June 2016 (i.e. cannot revalue more than once every 5 years), the costs of financing will become more expensive as homeowners have to pay their initial borrowing rate for at least 5 years, even if the collateral has increased in value. Also, when there were discussions of introducing amortization requirements, the market became extremely hot, which only proves that mortgage borrowers value the amortization-free options highly. The amortization requirements will come into effect by 1st of June 2016, and it remains to be seen what effects this will have on the housing market. It may alter the dynamics of the housing market entirely, as the remaining cash flow after mandatory payments becomes significantly reduced. Subsequently, affordability for the entire market becomes significantly reduced. This means that fewer potential home buyers can afford the high levels of mortgages that are today required for purchasing a home; and that already existing homeowners with large mortgage debts will have less money for other expenses. The effect is almost undoubtedly a dampening pressure on housing prices.

The LTV ratio is today at 85%, which limits the vulnerability of the collateral given a depreciation in prices. For first-time buyers, it may be difficult to cover the down payment of 15%, and especially so if prices continue to increase. Since the majority of people moving to Stockholm are below the age of 29, a large portion of these are likely to be first-time buyers. For those born and raised in Stockholm, many choose to live at home for a longer period as they cannot afford the down payment. We can see that the 85% LTV ratio is already becoming an issue (especially for first-time buyers) as they cannot cover the down-payment at today's prices.

Changing the LTV level may have consequences in both directions. An increase to higher levels (90-95%) would implicate banks too much, as banks would be taking on too high levels of risk if prices were to fall. Also, recall that one key component for the housing bubble in the U.S was high LTV levels of over 90%. If the LTV ratios were instead reduced, banks are more secure during depreciating prices. This would decrease the purchasing power of buyers (and especially first-time buyers) as the mandatory down payment becomes larger. Fewer people would be able to afford high mortgage debts, and thus there would be a decrease in aggregate demand for mortgages which would slow down the housing market, or even induce price depreciation. In either case, changing the LTV could implicate the dynamics of the housing market (either increase risk or reduce aggregate demand).

The high levels of household debt in Stockholm have made mortgage borrowers in Stockholm especially vulnerable to mortgage rate fluctuations. We have previously shown that at scenario of stressed mortgage rates (8%), with a debt ratio of 600% would lead to an interest ratio of 35%. That is, 35% of their disposable income would be attributed to paying the interest rate on mortgages. Also recall that during the Swedish banking crisis the interest ratios were approximately 10% and led to a drastic fall in consumption, thus exacerbating the recession in the economy. So even at normalized mortgage rates at around 4%, the interest ratio in Stockholm will be well above 10% (at the current debt ratio of 482%), which could in turn impact consumption negatively. So, even if all other factors were to remain the same, an increase in mortgage rates to "normal" levels can hugely impact the economy in a negative way. Add this to the new amortization requirement, and the consequences can be dire. Consequently, if homeowners begin to default on their payments, financial institutions will be making losses, and lending becomes more risky. This could then lead to a further increase in mortgage rates (as the risk for banks is higher) - a negative loop of increasing default payments and increasing mortgage rates is born. Demand for housing will plummet, as will housing prices.

The population growth in Stockholm has been vast, especially so since 2009 (and is now growing faster than it has for the past 50 years). This pace has naturally increased the aggregate demand for the number of housing units. Also, there are no signs of the growth slowing down in the future, especially so due to the large stream of foreign refugees. Arguably, population growth differs from the other factors in the sense that it cannot be affected by politics or other regulations; it simply follows its natural course. Keeping all other factors constant, the increase in population will lead to higher housing price as long as new construction has not able to follow the growth pace of the population. In this regard, one can claim that even if other factors change for the worse, people will still need a place

to live and will therefore be willing to pay high prices. However, we have previously discussed that a large portion of the population increase is under financial constrain. If housing prices continue to increase (or the costs of living increases, for instance by increasing mortgage rates), there will come a point where people can no longer afford to live in Stockholm. The growth in population might at this point decrease, as they choose to move elsewhere to more affordable locations. This would reduce the aggregate demand for housing units.

The supply in Stockholm has been low for several reasons. The first-hand rental market is poor, as many rental apartments have transformed into tenant-owned apartments. Getting a first-hand rental contract is today close to impossible. As such, it can barely be considered as a substitute to home ownership. One must therefore rent in the second-hand market, where rents are marked up highly. The high rents indicate that the supply of second-hand rentals are also limited in relation to population demand, and because rents are so high, people have become more willing to purchase than to rent. At the same time, allowing owners to set second-hand rents freely has undoubtedly increased the amount of speculation in Stockholm, and has thereby generated additional risk. It is difficult to introduce any regulations in the second-hand market in the future (where rents are at market prices due to equilibrium of demand and supply) that would increase the supply of second-hand rentals. Setting a maximum cap which is lower than the current rental rates (back to the previous regulations) would make second-hand renting less profitable for owners which would generate less supply. Therefore, the second-hand market is best left alone.

The market for new construction also seems to be poorly developed, as the rate of new construction has been very low and thereby provided a shortage of new supply despite increased demand and appreciating housing prices. This can partially be attributed to a stringent regulatory environment for new construction, which makes the construction of new housing cumbersome through delays and hindering, and at the same time has raised developer costs. Furthermore, land is scarce in Stockholm, and the profitability (Tobin's Q) in the regions where land is available is not sufficiently high (as land prices have increased tremendously) in order to take on construction projects. However, the government has realized the immense problem of the shortage of supply and is discussing potential reforms in regulations that would increase the rate of construction. It is likely that new regulations will occur in the future, as a continuing of little new supply can inflate housing prices to dangerously high levels. Given the scenario that new construction does get a boost, we can expect the housing market to slow down as it reduces the gap between demand and supply. We do realize that this is perhaps one of the most essential factors that need to change in order for there to be a change in the housing price dynamics. If construction does not increase considerably, the housing prices may continue to increase for a long time.

Finally, we looked at the supply of the existing stock. As we have discussed previously, when prices are expected to increase, homeowners are more reluctant to sell which keeps the supply in the existing stock low. The mobility within the market became more restricted as the capital gains tax increased in 2008 which generated a "lock-in" effect. Due to low mobility it is estimated that many live in households that are bigger than needed. If mobility can improve in the future, perhaps households can become better "saturated". It is, however, difficult to make any suggestions that would improve mobility as current homeowners would require substantial incentives to sell their current home for another, which is more suitable to their size and financial situation.

Combining all of these factors, it is not surprising that the housing market has appreciated to alarmingly high prices due to the extreme conditions. Property taxes have been reduced to insignificant amounts, expectations of future housing prices are at an all-time high, mortgage rate (and real-after tax rate) is at an all-time low, credit regulations are lax and have led to huge mortgage debts (which in turn has generated great risk for homeowners due to high debt ratios), and the population growth has consistently outpaced supply of housing (as construction rates have been historically low due to cumbersome regulations). Therefore, we conclude that the fundamental factors *cannot* become more generous than they are today, which would allow for even higher prices. Nonetheless, population growth is a factor that is consistently increasing and will always have an increasing effect on aggregate demand. But as we have shown, the construction of housing units is very likely to increase in the near future which will likely dampen the effect of increasing aggregate demand.

9.2.2 Indicative Measures of Housing Prices

We have presented two measures in the thesis that indicate whether prices are fairly priced or overvalued. These are price-to-income and price-to-rent.

Looking at price-to-income (Section 4), it is still difficult to determine whether housing prices are "correctly priced" or "too high", even though the housing prices have increased at a remarkable speed in comparison to disposable income, especially so since 1995. To answer this question with certainty, we would need a benchmark in time where we *know* that the housing prices were "correct", given that all fundamental factors that affect the housing prices were correct and accounted for. If we make the bold assumption that housing prices were "correct" in 1991 (beginning of the index), then the price-toincome ratio would clearly suggest that housing prices are now overpriced. However, let us instead assume that housing prices were in 1991 undervalued. Perhaps the housing prices have only been catching up to the correct price? Therefore, such a benchmark does not exist - when, if at all, can housing prices (and all their underlying fundamental factors) be considered correct? And if housing prices are overvalued, then by how much? Nonetheless, the data shown clearly indicates that affordability per household has declined in comparison to the housing prices over the last 20 years. Naturally, such a trend cannot continue forever, as there will reach a point where individuals no longer can afford housing. Given this measure alone however, it does seem likely that at some point during the past 20 years housing prices have exceeded a "correct price", and are therefore priced too high (overvalued). Moreover, previous literature suggests that if housing prices have increased at a faster rate than household income, housing prices must eventually stagnate or fall.

The price-to-rent measure (Section 5.4) provides an indication as to whether it is more favorable to own than to rent. In equilibrium, the cost of ownership should be similar to the costs of renting. We have seen that due to high expectations on capital gains, the cost of ownership (user cost of housing) has been far below than the costs of renting. To an extent, this indicates that housing is too highly valued. On the other hand, we also know that the rental market in Stockholm is not a perfect substitute for owning a home. The first-hand contracts (with low costs to rent) are close to unattainable, so one needs to rent in the second-hand market. In this market, owners are allowed to rent at any given level, so they mark up prices heavily, widening the gap between costs of ownership and rent. This has increased incentives to own a home which has likely contributed to the market values of housing to deviate from its fundamental values.

10. Conclusion

It is actually not surprising that the prices have developed into the current housing market situation of Stockholm as it is today. A long period of declining mortgage rates, high expectations on future housing prices (and speculation), tax changes making ownership of housing cheaper, more availability of credit from financial institutions for financing a home (with no amortization requirements on the bottom loan), and a vast yearly growth rate in population. These factors all point towards one thing - an increase in the aggregate demand for ownership of housing. At the same time there has been an increase in capital gains tax ("lock-in" effect), a poor functioning rental market, little construction of new housing (due to cumbersome regulations and low profitability), speculation that has restricted supply of new housing, and restricted supply of the existing housing stock due to low mobility. These factors have held supply very low. For a long time has supply not been able to meet the increase in aggregate demand, which has naturally allowed for the market to boom in the way it has.

Our first research question is to answer if the market in Stockholm is overvalued. There are several indications that this may be so. Firstly, and perhaps most importantly, is that we believe expectations on capital gains in Stockholm to be irrational. This is largely based on the seemingly huge amount of speculation in Stockholm and that there seems to be hubris for buying. Also, taking on huge mortgage debts has not been considered an issue as long as homeowners are able to finance their monthly payments (which is easily done through generous financing costs, and no amortization requirements), since they expect to make a capital gain when selling in the future. Mortgage borrowers have been moving toward shorter maturities (variable rates) which have allowed them to take even larger mortgages, since they may assume that prices will continue to increase and mortgages rates will continue to remain low. This allows for further inflation of housing prices. Finally, we looked at both price-to-income and price-to-rent. Both of these measures indicate that housing prices are overvalued to a certain extent.

The answer to our first research question is: The housing market in Stockholm is *most likely* overvalued.

The second research question is to answer if the price development of the housing market is sustainable in the long run. As we have discussed above, the fundamental factors have all moved in a direction which has allowed for prices to appreciate naturally. We argue that the factors are today so extreme (and generous) that the market *cannot* become more ideal in allowing for such a booming nature (that allows for huge demand and very low supply). Future changes in fundamental factors and regulation implementations will most likely only have the effect of decreasing aggregate demand, as well as increasing supply. However, we do realize that the supply issue is crucial; if the supply issue is not handled, housing prices may continue to increase as demand through population growth will consistently outweigh new supply. Nonetheless, we believe that the price development is reaching its peak, as demand and supply factors are likely to change in a way that dampens the pressure on the housing market. The question of whether the prices will flatten out or begin to drop remains to be seen. Although, even if prices only were to flatten out, user cost of housing will substantially increase as buyers can no longer expect to reap any capital gains. Perhaps then it will become more profitable to rent than to own. This could, in turn, decrease aggregate demand for ownership and thus housing prices will begin to fall. Furthermore, according to previous studies made on international markets, a boom phase is *always* followed by a bust; and the longer the boom, the harder the bust. It seems unavoidable that at some point in the (near) future housing prices in Stockholm will begin to depreciate.

The answer to our second research question is: The price development of the housing market in Stockholm *is not* sustainable in the long run.

On a final note, the depreciation in housing prices during the global financial crisis seems to have been mitigated through regulations, where property taxes were reduced along with a reduction in interest and mortgage rates. But what happens the next time the market will be showing signs of a recession? Mortgage rates cannot be decreased further to increase incentives for ownership of a home, unless financial institutions are willing to take on all risk, with no risk premium, i.e. zero mortgage rates. The government cannot decrease taxes further, which mitigated the downfall during the financial crisis. They cannot make loans more lucrative (except through reintroducing amortizationfree loans). So, what can be done? Things will only be able to take its natural course, where politicians and banks will have little power to handle the consequences of a recession.

References

Articles:

Abraham, J. M., & Hendershott, P. M. (1996). Bubbles in Metropolitan Housing Markets. *Journal of Housing Research*, 7(2), p. 191-207

Adelino, M., Schoar, A., & Severino, F. (2012). Credit Supply and House Prices: Evidence from Mortgage Market Segmentation. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working paper 17832.

Agnello, L., & Schuknecht, L. (2009). Booms and Busts in Housing Markets – Determinants and Implications. *European Central Bank*, Working Paper Series. No 1071 / July 2009.

Alessi, L., & Detken, C. (2009). Real Time Early Warning Indicators for Costly Asset Price Boom/Bust Cycles: A Role for Global Liquidity. *European Central Bank*, Working Paper No. 1039

Aregger, N., Brown, M., & Rossi, E. (2013). Transaction Taxes, Capital Gains Taxes and House Prices. *Swiss National Bank*, Working Papers 2013-2

Assenmacher-Wesche, K., & Gerlach, S. (2009). Financial Structure and the Impact of Monetary Policy on Property Prices. *Swiss National Bank*, Working Paper Series

Bordo, M., & Jeanne, O. (2002). Boom – Busts in Asset Prices, Economic Instability, and Monetary Policy. *National Bureau of Economic Research*. Working paper 8966.

Borio, C., Kennedy, N., & Prowse, S. (1994). Exploring Aggregate Asset Price Fluctuations Across Countries. *BIS Economic Papers*, No. 40.

Borio, C., & Lowe, P. (2002). Asset Prices, Financial and Monetary Stability: Exploring the Nexus. *BIS*, Working Paper No. 114.

Borio, C., & Zhu H. (2008). Capital Regulation, Risk-Taking and Monetary Policy: A Missing Link in the Transmission Mechanism? *BIS*, Working Paper No. 268

Browne, F., Conefrey, T., & Kennedy, G. (2013). Understanding Irish House Price Movements – A User Cost of Capital Approach. *Central Bank of Ireland*, Research Technical Paper

Burnside, C., Eichenbaum, M., & Rebelo, S. (2011). Understanding Booms and Busts in Housing Markets. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working Paper No. 16734.

Calza, A., Monacelli, T., & Stracca, L. (2009). Housing Finance and Monetary Policy. *European Central Bank*, Working Paper Series 1069. July

Capozza, D. R., Hendershott, P. H., Mack, C., & Mayer, C. J. (2002). Determinants of Real House Price Dynamics. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working Paper 9262

Case, K. E. (1986). The Market for Single Family Homes in Boston. *New England Economic Review*, May/June.

Case, K. E., & Shiller, R. J. (1988). The Behavior of Home Buyers in Booms and Postboom Markets, *New England Economic Review*, p. 29-46.

Case, K. E., & Shiller, R. J. (2003). Is There a Bubble in the Housing Market? *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 2:2003, p. 299-342

Case, K. E., Shiller, R. J., & Thompson, A. K. (2012). What Have They Been Thinking? Homebuyer Behavior in Hot and Cold Markets, *Brookings Paper on Economic Activity*, Fall 2012

Coleman, M., LaCour-Little, M., & Vandell, K. D. (2008). Subprime Lending and the Housing Bubble: Tail wags dog? *Journal of Housing Economics*, 17 (2008), p. 272-290.

Crowe, C., Dell'Ariccia, G., Igan, D., & Rabanal, P. (2011). How to Deal With Real Estate Booms: Lessons From Country Experiences. *International Monetary Fund*, Working Paper 11/91. April.

Englund, P. (1986). Transaction Costs, Capital Gains Taxes and Housing Demand. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 20, p. 274-290.

Englund, P., & Ioannides, Y. M. (1997). House Price Dynamics: An International Empirical Perspective. *Journal of Housing Economics*, 6, p. 119-136.

Englund, P. (2015). The Swedish 1990s Banking Crisis – A Revisit in the Light of Recent Experience. *To be presented at the Riksbank Macroprudential Conference, Stockholm 23-24 June, 2015.*

Ermisch, J. (1999). Prices, Parents, and Young People's Household Formation. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 45(1), p. 47-71.

Frisell, L., & Yazdi, M. (2010). The Price Development in the Swedish Housing Market - a Fundamental Analysis. *Sveriges Riksbank Economic Review*, 2010:3.

Fuest, C., Huber, B., & Nielsen, S. B. (2004). Capital Gains Taxation and House Price Fluctuations. *Department of Economics, Copenhagen Business School*, Working Paper 16-2004.

Gallin, J. (2003). The Long-Run Relation Between House Prices and Income: Evidence from Local Housing Markets. *Washington DC: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System Finance and Economics*, Discussion Paper Series, No. 2003-17

Geanakoplos, J. (2010). Solving the Present Crisis and Managing the Leverage Cycle. *Federal Reserve Bank of New York, Economic Policy Review,* 16 (1)

Gerdesmeier, D., Reimers, H. E., & Roffia, B. (2009). Asset Price Misalignments and the Role of Money and Credit. *European Central Bank*, Working Paper Series No. 1068.

Gervais, M., & Pandey, M. (2008). Who Cares About Mortgage Interest Deductibility? *Canadian Public Policy*, 34, p. 1-24.

Glaeser, E. L., Gyrouko, J., & Saks, R. E. (2005). Why Have Housing Prices Gone Up? *American Economic Review*, 2, p. 329-333.

Glaeser, E., Gottlieb, J. & Gyourko, J. (2010). Did Credit Market Policies Cause the Housing Bubble? *Rappaport Institute | Taubman Center,* Policy Brief, May.

Girouard, N., Kennedy, M., van den Noord, P., & André, C. (2006). Recent House Price Developments: The Role of Fundamentals. *Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development*, Working paper No. 475. (2006)3.

Goodhart, C., & Hofmann, B. (2008). Housing Prices, Money, Credit and the Macro Economy. *European Central Bank*, Working Paper Series No 888/April 2008.

Gyourko, J., & Sinai, T. (2004). The (Un)Changing Geographic Distribution of Housing Tax Benefits, 1980-2000. *Tax Policy and the Economy 18*, p. 165-208.

Gyourko, J., Mayer, C., & Sinai, T. (2006). Superstar Cities. *Cambridge MA: National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working Paper No. 12355

Haurin, D., Hendershott, P., & Kim, D. (1993). The Impact of Real Rents and Wages on Household Formation. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 75(2), p. 284-293.

Hendershott, P., & Slemrod, J. (1983). Taxes and the User Cost of Capital for Owner-Occupied Housing. *AREUEA Journal*, 10 (4), p. 375-393.

Himmelberg, C., Mayer, C., & Sinai, T. (2005). Assessing High House Prices: Bubbles, Fundamentals and Misperceptions. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 19(4), p. 67-92.

Holt, J. (2009). A Summary of the Primary Causes of the Housing Bubble and the Resulting Credit Crisis: a Non-Technical Paper. *The Journal of Business Inquiry*, 8(1) p. 120-129.

Hume, M., & Sentence, A. (2009). The Global Credit Boom: Challenges for Macroeconomics and Policy. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 28(8), p. 1426-1461

Høj, J. (2011). Improving the Flexibility of the Dutch Housing Market to Enhance Labour Mobility. *OECD Economics Department Working Papers*, No. 833

Justiniano, A., Primiceri, G. E., & Tambalotti, A. (2015). Credit Supply and the Housing Boom. *Federal Reserve Bank of New York*. Staff Report No. 709.

Kasparova, D., & White, M. (2001). The Responsiveness of House prices to Macroeconomic Forces: a Cross-Country Comparison. *European Journal of Housing Policy*, 1(3), p. 385-416.

Kennedy, N., & Andersen, P. (1994). Housing Saving and the Real House Prices: An International Prospective. *BIS*, Working Paper, n. 20, January.

Kiyotaki, N., & Moore, J. (1997). Credit Cycles. *Journal of Political Economy*, 105(2), p. 211-248. April.

Kuttner, K. N. (2012). Low Interest Rates and Housing Bubbles: Still No Smoking Gun. *Economics Department, Williams College*

Lustig, H., & Van Nieuwerburgh, S. (2004). Housing Collateral, Consumption Insurance and Risk Premia: An Emperical Perspective. *Journal of Finance*, 60(3), p. 1167-1221.

Malpezzi, S., & Wachter, S. M. (2002). The Role of Speculation in Real Estate Cycles. *Zell/Lurie Real Estate Center*, Working Paper 401.

Malpezzi, S. (1999a). Housing Prices, Externalities, and Regulation in U.S. Metropolitan Areas. *Journal of Housing Research*, 7(2), p. 209–241.

Malpezzi, S. (1999b). A Simple Error Correction Model of House Prices. *Journal of Housing Economics*, 8(1), p. 27-62.

Malpezzi, S., & Maclennan, D. (2001). The Long-Run Price Elasticity of Supply of New Residential Construction in the United States and the United Kingdom. *Journal of Housing Economics*, 10 (3), p. 278–306.

Mayer, C., & Somerville, T. (2000). Land Use Regulation and New Construction. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, Elsevier, Vol. 30(6), p. 639-662.

McCarty, J., & Peach, R. W. (2004). Are Home Prices the Next "Bubble"? *Economic Policy Review*, 10 (3), p. 1-17

Meen, G. (2002). The Time-Series Behavior of House Prices: A Transatlantic Divide? *Journal of Housing Economics*, 11, p. 1-23.

Mian, A., & Sufi, A. (2009). The Consequences of Mortgage Credit Expansion: Evidence from the U.S. Mortgage Default Crisis. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 124, p. 1449-1496.

Muellbauer, J. (2012). When is a Housing Market Overheated Enough to Threaten Stability? *University of Oxford, Department of Economics*, Discussion Paper Series, Number 623.

Paciorek, A. D. (2013). Supply Constraints and Housing Market Dynamics. *Journal of Urban Economics*, Vol. 77, Issue C, p. 11-26.

Pavlov, A., & Wachter, S. M. (2006). The Inevitability of Market-Wide Underpricing of Mortgage Default Risk. *Real Estate Economics*, 34(4), p. 479-496.

Pavlov, A., & Wachter, S. M. (2011). Subprime Lending and Real Estate Prices. *Real Estate Economics*, 39 (1): p. 1-17

Petursdottir, A. (2015). Credit Conditions and House Prices* University of New South Wales, Draft 12 May.

Proterba, J. M. (1984). Tax subsidies to Owner-Occupied Housing: An asset Market Approach. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 99, p. 729-752

Proterba, J. M. (1991). House Price Dynamics: The Role of Tax Policy and Demography. *Brookings Paper on Economic Activity*, 2:1991, p. 143-203

Quigley, J, (2003). Comments on the paper "Is there a bubble in the Housing Market?" *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 2003:2, p. 354-359.

Sá, F., Towbin, P., & Wieladek, T. (2011). Low Interest Rates and Housing Booms: The Role of Capital Inflows, Monetary Policy and Financial Innovation. *Bank of England*, Working Paper No. 411.

Shiller, R. J. (2008). Historic Turning Points in Real Estate. Eastern Economic Journal, 34, p. 1-13

Smith, M. W. & Smith, G. (2006). Bubble, Bubble, Where's the Housing Bubble? *Brookings Panel of Economic Activity*, March 2006.

Stenkula, M. (2014). Taxation of Real Estate in Sweden 1862-2013. *Research Institute of Industrial Economics*, IFN Working Paper No. 1018.

Stiglitz, J. E. (1990). Symposium on Bubbles. The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 4(2), p. 13-18.

Svensson, L. E.O (2013). The Effect on Housing Prices of Changes in Mortgage Rates and Taxes. *The Institute for Financial Research*. Working paper.

Taylor, J. (2009). Getting Off Track: How Government Actions and Interventions Caused, Prolonged, and Worsened the Financial Crisis. *Stanford, CA: Hoover Institution Press*

Tsatsaronis, K. & Zhu, H. (2004). What Drives Housing Price Dynamics: Cross-Country Evidence. *BIS Quarterly review*, March 2004, p. 65-78.

van den Noord, P. (2005). Tax Incentives and Housing Price Volatility in the Euro Area: theory and evidence. *Économie international, CEPII research center*, 101: p. 29-45

Reports:

Bank for International Settlements (2001). 71st Annual Report. Retrieved from: http://www.bis.org/publ/arpdf/ar2001e.htm

Bergendahl, P. A., Löfmark, M. H., Lind, H. (2015). *Bostadsmarknaden och den ekonomiska utvecklingen*. Statens Offentliga Utredningar

County Administrative Board (2010) Varför dröjer det? Faktorer som hindrar och försenar nyproduktionen av bostäder i Stockholms län. Länsstyrelsen i Stockholms Län, 2010:13.

Englund, P. (2011). The Riksbank's Inquiry Into the Risks in the Swedish Housing Market – Swedish Housing Prices in an International Perspective. Sveriges Riksbank, p. 23-66

Fastighetsägarna (2006). *Missbruket av bytesrätten – en rapport om svarthandeln med hyreslägenheter i Stockholm*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.fastighetsagarna.se/aktuellt-och-opinion/rapporter/ovriga-rapporter/missbruket-av-bytesratten</u>

Fastighetsägarna (2013). *Uthyrning i andra hand – detta gäller mellan bostadsrättsägare och hyresgäst*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.fastighetsagarna.se/aktuellt-och-opinion/nyheter/nyheter-</u>2013/lagen-om-uthyrning-av-egen-agd-bostad-trader-nu-i-kraft

Finansinspektionen (2012). Den svenska bolånemarknaden 2012. Dnr 11-6461.

Finansinspektionen (2013). Den svenska bolånemarknaden 2013. Dnr 13-2825.

Finansinspektionen (2015). Den svenska bolånemarknaden 2015. Dnr 14-8731.

Finnochiaro, D., Nilsson, C., Nyberg, D., Soultanaeva, A. (2011). *Hushållens skuldsättning, bostadspriserna och makroekonomin: en genomgång av literaturen.* Sveriges Riksbank, 2011:1.

Government Offices of Sweden (1997/98:1). *1990-91 års skattereform – en värdering*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/093a2523a04c43ca83d6b2e21d9e5088/bilaga-6-1990-91-ars-skattereform---en-vardering</u>

Government Offices of Sweden (2016). *Nya reformer för fler bostäder*. Retrieved from: http://www.regeringen.se/debattartiklar/2016/01/nya-reformer-for-fler-bostader/

Hull, I. (2015). Amortization requirements and household indebtedness: An application to Swedish style mortgages. Sveriges Riksbank, Working paper Series No. 298.

International Monetary Fund (2014). Sweden. IMF Country Report No. 14/261

National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2010). *En bostadsbubbla kostar*. Statens Bostadskreditnämnd (BKN).

National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2015a). *Behov av bostadsbyggande. Teori och metod samt en analys av behovet av bostäder fram till 2025.* 2015:18. Mars.

National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2015b). *Markpriser, markbrist och byggande*. Marknadsrapport, mars 2015

Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2011). Sänkt reavinstskatt ökar rörligheten på Stockholms bostadsmarknad. Stockholms handelskammare 2011:3.

Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014a). *Stockholmsregionens utmaningar*. Stockholms handelskammare 2014:7.

Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (2014b). *122 000 Bostäder saknas i Stockholms Län*. Stockholms handelskammare analys 2014:1

Stockholms stad (2012). Statistik om Stockholm – Inkomster i Stockholm 2012. Stockholm, Sweden

Swedish Central Bank (1993). *The Riksbank's target for monetary policy*. Sveriges Riksbank, Press Release No. 5, 15 January 1993.

Swedish Central Bank (2011). *The Riksbank's inquiry into the risks in the Swedish housing market*. Sveriges Riksbank

Swedish Central Bank (2014). From A to Z: the Swedish mortgage market and its role in the financial system. Sveriges Riksbank Studies, April 2014

Swedish Central Bank (2015). Finansiell Stabilitet 2015:1. Sveriges Riksbank

Swedish Bankers' Association (2015). Bolånemarknaden i Sverige. Svenska Bankföreningen

Swedish Tax Agency. (2012). Taxes in Sweden 2012 – An English Summary of Tax Statistical Yearbook of Sweden.

Sørensen, P. (2013). *The Swedish housing market: Trends and risks*. Swedish Fiscal Policy Council, 2013/5.

Winstrand, J & Ölster, D. (2014). *How indebted are Swedish households?* Sveriges Riksbank, Economic commentaries No, 1. 2014.

Internet sources with authors:

Berglund, T. (2010, March 29). Bostadsklipp får kritik. *Svenska Dagbladet*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.svd.se/borattsklipp-far-kritik</u>

Bezemer, D. (2013, June 26). Debt: The Good, the Bad, and The Ugly [Video]. *Institute for New Economic Thinking*. Retrieved from: <u>https://ineteconomics.org/ideas-papers/blog/dirk-bezemer-debt-the-good-the-bad-and-the-ugly</u>

Billner, A. & Rolander, N.(2015, February 23). Sweden's Manic Housing Market Gets Jolt From Rate Cut. *Bloomberg*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-02-23/sweden-s-manic-housing-market-gets-jolt-from-rate-cut</u>

Blom Westergren, E. (2014, October 14) Mäklararvode – så funkar det. *Byggahus*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.byggahus.se/ekonomi/maklararvode-sa-funkar</u> Bränström, S. L., & Hellekant, J. (2014, October 7) "Vi går tillbaka till gammal hederlig amorteringskultur". *Svenska Dagbladet*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.svd.se/vi-gar-tillbaka-till-gammal-hederlig-amorteringskultur</u>

Burgerfeldt, U. (2015, February 4) Fler köper lägenhet för uthyrning. *Sveriges Radio (SR)*. Retrieved from: <u>http://sverigesradio.se/sida/artikel.aspx?programid=103&artikel=6081638</u>

Chan, S. Z. (2014, June 21). Full interview transcript: Martin Andersson, head of Sweden's financial regulator. *The Telegraph*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/bank-of-england/10917415/Full-interview-transcript-Martin-Andersson-head-of-Swedens-financial-regulator.html</u>

Crofts, M. (2014, April 7). Bättre välja lån än uppskov på bostaden. *Din Ekonomi*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.dn.se/ekonomi/din-ekonomi/battre-valja-lan-an-uppskov-pa-bostaden/</u>

Delling, H. (2013, October 2). Skenande andrahandshyror i innerstaden. *Svenska Dagbladet*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.svd.se/skenande-andrahandshyror-i-innerstaden</u>

Gustavsson, A. (2015, August 19). Stockholmarnas hyror ökar kraftigt. *Dagens Industri*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.dn.se/sthlm/stockholmarnas-hyror-har-okat-kraftigt/</u>

Jacobsson, E. (2015, July 10). Andrahandshyror ökar även i hyresrätt. *Hem Hyra*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.hemhyra.se/riks/andrahandshyror-okar-aven-i-hyresratt</u>

Leijonhufvud, J. (2014, February 21). Svart bomarknad omsätter miljarder. *Dagens Industri*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.di.se/artiklar/2014/2/20/svart-bomarknad-omsatter-</u> <u>miljarder/?forcomment=3888467</u> Liljeberg, D., & Eliasson, J. (2014, February 20). DN Debatt – "Rörlighet på bostadsmarknaden är det viktigaste". *Dagens Nyheter*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.dn.se/debatt/rorlighet-pa-bostadsmarknaden-ar-det-viktigaste/</u>

Lucas, D. (2015, September 2).Rekordlågt utbud pressar upp bostadspriserna. *Dagens Nyheter*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.dn.se/ekonomi/rekordlagt-utbud-pressar-upp-bostadspriserna/</u>

Samuelsson, K. (2015, April 14). Bostadbyggandet ökar rejält i Stockholm. *Hem Hyra*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.hemhyra.se/stockholm/bostadsbyggandet-okar-rejalt-i-stockholm</u>

Shiller, R. J. (n.d.). Definition of Irrational Exuberance. Retrieved from: http://irrationalexuberance.com/definition.htm.

Spängs, T., & Lucas, D. (2015, January 7). Hinder för utländska bolag hämmar byggandet. *Dagens Nyheter (DN)*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.dn.se/ekonomi/hinder-for-utlandska-bolag-hammar-byggandet/</u>

Spängs, T., & Lucas, D. (2015, October 14) Spekulation i bostäder driver upp priserna på farlig nivå. *Dagens Nyheter (DN)*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.dn.se/ekonomi/spekulation-i-bostader-driver-upp-priserna-pa-farlig-niva/</u>

Wallèn, L. (2014, February 12). Uppskjuten kaptialvinstskatt på bostadsförsälning – en olönsam affär? *PwC*. Retrieved from:

http://www.pwc.se/sv/skatteradgivning/uppskjuten-kapitalvinstskatt-pa-bostadsforsaljning-enolonsam-affar.html

Wilderäng, L. (2015, May 23) Uppgifter från JM: Två tredjedelar av alla nya lägenheter köps på spekulation. [Blog post]. Retrieved from: <u>http://cornucopia.cornubot.se/2015/05/uppgifter-fran-jm-tva-tredjedelar-av.html</u>

Internet sources without authors:

Aktuell Statistik (n.d.). *Migrationsverket*. Retrieved from: http://www.migrationsverket.se/Om-Migrationsverket/Statistik/Aktuell-statistik.html

Amortization requirement for new mortgages (2015, March 11). *Finansinspektionen*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.fi.se/Folder-EN/Startpage/Press/Press-releases/Listan/Amortisation-requirement-for-new-mortgages/</u>

Amortization requirement for new mortgages (2016, April 20). *Finansinspektionen*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.fi.se/Folder-EN/Startpage/Press/Press-releases/Listan/Amortisation-requirement-for-new-mortgages1/</u>

Enlighet krävs i värsta flyktingkrisen (2015, August 24). *Svenska Dagbladet*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.svd.se/enighet-kravs-i-varsta-flyktingkrisen</u>

Floor to ceiling (2010, October 21). *The Economist*. Retrieved from: http://www.economist.com/node/17311841

Flyktingströmmen ökar bostadsbristen (2015, October 22). *Sveriges Television (SVT)*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.svt.se/nyheter/inrikes/flyktingstrommen-okar-bostadsbristen</u>

Fortsatt prisrally på bostadsrätter (2015, October 27). *Mitt i*. Retrieved from: <u>http://mitti.se/fortsatt-prisrally-pa-bostadsratter/?tag=nacka</u>

Hur lång tid tar det att få en bostad genom oss? (n.d.), *Bostadsförmedlingen*. Retrieved from: <u>https://bostad.stockholm.se/statistik/hur-lang-tid-tar-det/</u> Kommentar till Mäklarstatistik: Amorteringskrav bidrar till kraftigt stigande priser (2015, April 16). *Fastighetsbyrån*. Retrieved from:

http://www.mynewsdesk.com/se/fastighetsbyran/pressreleases/kommentar-till-maeklarstatistikamorteringskrav-bidrar-till-kraftigt-stigande-priser-1143757

Mäklarinsikt 2016:1 - Stockholms Län (2016) *Mäklarsamfundet*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.maklarsamfundet.se/sites/default/files/Analyser_rapporter/Maklarinsikt/2016_1/Lan_2016</u> _<u>1/lansrapport_stockholm.pdf</u>

Ombildning.nu (n.d.). Jurideko Fastighetspartner. Retrieved from: http://ombildning.nu/

Riksbanken varnar för bostadsbubbla [Video] (2014, September 23). *Svenska Dagbladet*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.svd.se/riksbanken-varnar-for-bostadsbubbla</u>

Robert Shiller Warns Sweden's Home Prices Are Too High in A Sidewalk Chalk Drawing. (2013, December 9) *Business Insider*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.businessinsider.com/robert-shiller-on-swedish-home-prices-2013-12?IR=T</u>

Stockholms husägare – skuldsättning på 600 procent (2012, November 14). *Affärsvärlden*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.affarsvarlden.se/hem/article3582632.ece</u>

"Svensk bostadsmarknad kännetecknas av låg rörlighet" (2015, May 26). *Byggnyheter*. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.byggnyheter.se/2015/05/svensk-bostadsmarknad-k-nnetecknas-av-l-g-r-rlighet</u>

Tenant-Owned Apartments in Sweden (n.d.). *JM*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.jm.se/en/residential/facts-about-tenant-owned-apartments-in-sweden-/</u>

Data sources:

Ekonomifakta – House price index. Retrieved 19 December 2015 from: <u>http://www.ekonomifakta.se/Fakta/Ekonomi/Hushallens-</u> <u>ekonomi/Bostadspriser/?graph=/16121/1,2,3/all/</u>

Hemnet – Housing units for sale in Stockholm. Retrieved 19 April 2015 from: <u>http://www.hemnet.se/tjanster/statistik</u>

Mynewsdesk – Housing price indicator. Retrieved 9 April 2016 from: http://www.mynewsdesk.com/se/demoskop-ab/search?utf8=%E2%9C%93&query=boprisindikator

Statistics Sweden – Equalized disposable income. Retrieved 9 January 2016 from: <u>http://www.scb.se/sv_/Hitta-statistik/Statistik-efter-amne/Hushallens-ekonomi/Inkomster-och-</u> inkomstfordelning/Hushallens-ekonomi-HEK/7289/7296/Disponibel-inkomst-19912011/308954/

Statistics Sweden – Market value for apartments. Retrieved 15 December 2015 from: <u>http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/START_BO_BO0501_BO0501C/FastprisBRF</u> RegionAr/?rxid=6ef89832-4217-482a-b3e1-e038da478eec

Statistics Sweden – Population growth. Retrieved 29 September 2015 from: <u>http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/START_BE_BE0101_BE0101A/BefolkningN</u> <u>y/?rxid=2b4efeab-55d9-4bc0-b3a5-879305f60542</u>

Swedbank – Historical nominal mortgage rates. Retrieved 22 October 2015 from: http://hypotek.swedbank.se/rantor/historiska-rantor/index.htm

Valueguard – Price index for apartments. Retrieved 20 December 2015 from: http://www.valueguard.se/sverigebr *Worldwide Inflation Data* – Monthly inflation in Sweden. Retrieved 20 December 2015 from: <u>http://www.inflation.eu/inflation-rates/sweden/historic-inflation/cpi-inflation-sweden.aspx</u>

Appendix 1

Equalized disposable income:

Consumption unit weights are according to the following scale:

- Single adult: 1.0
- Couple living together: 1.51
- An additional adult: 1.60
- First child 0-19 years old: 0.52
- Second and additional children 0-19 years old: 0.42

Appendix 2

For calculating the yearly payments for Apartment 1, we proceed as follows:

Down payment with Blanco: 15%*3,050,000= 457,500 SEK

Yearly interest payments for Blanco-loan at 3% = 457,500*0.03 = 13,725 SEK

Mortgage loan = 3,050,000 - 457,500 = 2,592,500 SEK

Yearly interest payments for mortgage loan = 2,592,500*0.02= 51,850

Yearly property tax = 1,200 SEK

The monthly fees 12*910 = 10,920 SEK per year.

30% of the interest payments are tax deductible: 51,850+13,725=65,575*(1-0.3)=45,903 in yearly interest payments after tax deduction.

Total payments per year in the current example are the yearly interest payments after interest tax deduction and the yearly fees.

Yearly cost of buying is 1,200 + 10,920 + 45,903 = 56,823SEK

With the yearly cost of 58,023, the monthly cost becomes 58,023/12 = 4,835 SEK. In this example, the cost of renting in second hand for 11,000 SEK per month is more than double the monthly costs compared to buying the apartment, given the assumptions.